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Memorandum: 
 To: Finance & Administration Committee  
 From: Robert Miller, Comptroller 
 Re: Auditing Services RFP  
 Date: December 29, 2022 

 
The County has received two proposals to the Auditing Services RFP it sent out back in October 
2022.  We received proposals from Baker Tilly and Sikich (incumbent).  The Finance Team will be 
looking forward to working with the selected firm in preparation of our annual audit.  Both firms are 
highly qualified, well respected in the industry, and both have experience in providing auditing 
services for county governments in Illinois. 
 
The cost proposals received from the two firms are as follows: 
 

Audit Firm  2022   2023   2024   2025   2026 
Baker Tilly  $137,500 144,390 151,630 159,220 167,180 
Sikich   $98,250 103,165 108,325 113,740 119,420 

 
Per the Audit Selection and Rotation Policy (Resolution R2021-53) that was approved by the County 
Board in August 2021, the current auditing firm would be considered provided that there would be a 
rotation of engagement personnel.  Sikich’s proposal does meet our policy as their proposal does 
include a rotation of an entirely new engagement team.  
 

http://www.dekalbcounty.org/


 1 

 
 

November 28, 2022 

DeKalb County, Illinois 

Proposal for auditing services 
 
prepared by: 
 
Baker Tilly US, LLP 
1301 West 22nd St, Suite 400 
Oak Brook, IL 60523-3389 
T: +1 (630) 990 3131 
michael.malatt@bakertilly.com 
bakertilly.com 

 

 



 
 

 

 
 

Letter of transmittal 
November 28, 2022 
 
 
 
Mr. Robert Miller, Comptroller  
DeKalb County Legislative Building 
Finance Department, Suite 210 
200 North Main Street 
Sycamore, IL 60178 
E-Mail: rmiller@dekalbcounty.org 
 
 
Dear Robert: 
 
Baker Tilly US, LLP (Baker Tilly) is pleased to submit this proposal to provide professional audit services 
for DeKalb County, IL (the County). With extensive experience with Illinois counties, Baker Tilly will be 
diligent in meeting and exceeding your expectations. 
 
Based on what we have learned from you in your Request for Proposal (RFP) process, we are confident 
we are the right fit to serve you with forward-thinking audit services so you can keep your focus where it 
belongs: providing critical services to your community.  
 
Benefits of working with Baker Tilly include: 
 

The right firm 
DeKalb County will benefit 

from our best-of-both-
worlds solution that pairs 

the technical 
qualifications, technology 

tools and expansive 
resources of the largest 
firms with the responsive 

service, personalized 
attention and proactive 

communication of  
smaller firms. 

The right 
experience 

We are structured around 
industry-specialized 

practice groups, allowing 
us to provide focused 

training and continuing 
education to our team. Our 

understanding of your 
industry, paired with 
targeted experience 
serving public sector 

clients, will help you thrive 
now and as you evolve. 

The right team 
Your handpicked team  
of Value Architects™ 
includes technical and 

industry-specialized team 
members who understand 

your requirements, 
challenges and 

opportunities. You will 
receive a tailored 

approach designed to 
meet your needs and 

exceed your expectations. 

The right value 
We provide  

high-quality service for  
a fair and reasonable fee. 

Our significant level of 
partner and manager 

involvement translates into 
a responsive, efficient 
engagement and the 
ability to deliver value 
throughout the year. 

Baker Tilly US, LLP 
1301 W 22nd St, Suite 400 
Oak Brook, IL 60523-3389 
T: +1 (630) 990 3131 
F: +1 (630) 990 0039 
bakertilly.com 
 



 
 

 

 
 
 
As your Value Architects™, we are determined to support you in achieving your objectives. Thank you for 
the opportunity to serve you. Our team is excited to earn your trust. As always, we look forward to 
discussing your questions and feedback. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

  
 
Michael Malatt, CPA, Partner 
Baker Tilly US, LLP 
+1 630.645.6226 | michael.malatt@bakertilly.com  
 
  



Signature and Authority Affidavit Form 

PROPOSING COMPANY NAME:    

FEIN (Federal Employer ID Number) OR Social Security # (if Sole Proprietorship) 

Address
County 
Number of years in 
Business 

State Zip + 4 

Name the person to contact for questions concerning this proposal. 
Name 
Phone (    ) 
Fax (    ) 

Title   
Toll Free Phone   (    ) 
Email Address 

In signing this proposal, we also certify that we have not, either directly or indirectly, entered into any 
agreement or participated in any collusion or otherwise taken any action in restraint of free competition; that 
no attempt has been made to induce any other person or firm to submit or not to submit a proposal; that this 
proposal has been independently arrived at without collusion with any other proposer, competitor or potential 
competitor; that this proposal has not been knowingly disclosed prior to the opening to any other proposer or 
competitor; that the above statement is accurate under penalty of perjury. 

The undersigned, having familiarized themselves with the conditions affecting the cost of the work, having read 
completely the requirements, hereby proposes to perform everything required and to provide and furnish labor, 
materials, equipment, tools and all other services and supplies necessary to produce in a complete and 
workmanlike manner all of the materials or products described in the project relating to this proposal. 

I further certify that I have carefully examined the proposal documents and all terms herein, and site where 
the work is to be done and have no agreements to prevent the completion of said work. 

Signature Title 

Name (type or print) Date 

Baker Tilly US, LLP

Michael Malatt

39-0859910

1301 West 22nd Street, Suite 400
DuPage County, Oak Brook IL 60523-3389

90

Partner
630.645.6226

michael.malatt@bakertilly.com

Michael Malatt

630.990.0039
800.362.7301

Partner

11.28.2022



 
 

 

 
County of Dekalb, IL RFP Q&A 
Acknowledgement of receipt 
 
Baker Tilly acknowledges receiving and reviewing the County of DeKalb, IL addenda document entitled 
RFP – Audit Services: Question Responses.  The document is included on the following pages. 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________________________________ 
 
Michael Malatt, CPA, Partner 
Baker Tilly US, LLP 
  
 
  



RFP – Audit Services: Question Responses 
 

Q. Auditing standards require the auditors to gain an understanding of the entity's internal controls 
in order to assess the operating effectiveness and efficiency of the controls over significant 
process cycles.  Does the County have documentation of its processes and controls over 
significant process cycles such as payroll, cash disbursements, property tax cycle, nursing home, 
etc.? 

 
A. Yes 

Q.  Approximately how many and what types of journal entries (adjusting journal entries and 
passed entries) were proposed by the auditors in the prior year? Were these entries typical? If 
not, are they anticipated to recur in FY22? 

A.  For FY2021, there were a total of 7 journal entries (5 adjusting journal entries and 2 passed 
entries) proposed by the auditors.  Two of the journal entries are for custodial fund activity for 
the fiscal year.  The custodial funds are currently not on the County financial accounting system, 
so these are expected to be recurring entries for FY2022.  With an upcoming change to BS&A 
financial accounting system, the County expects to incorporate the custodial funds in the new 
software.  Two other adjusting entries were to record long‐term debt activity.  These are typical 
and more than likely will recur for FY2022.  The County expects to prepare the long‐term debt 
entries going forward after that.  The other entries are not typical and the County does not 
anticipate them to recur in FY2022. 

Q.  Does the County have any large bond issuances planned for FY22 or anticipate any in the next 
several years? 

A.  No 

Q.  Does the County intend to prepare the ACFR and other financial statements or will it be 
expected that the auditors prepare the reports? 

A.  The County expects the auditing firm to prepare the ACFR and other financial statements. 

Q.  Does the County typically provide the auditors with the statistical information that is not derived 
from the other sections of the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report?  What other 
components, if any, of the ACFR are prepared by the County? 

A.  The County will prepare the statistical section of the ACFR, outside of the tables that are derived 
from other sections of the ACFR.  The County will also prepare the Letter of Transmittal and 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). 

Q.  How long has the prior auditor usually spent at the County for the various stages of fieldwork? 
How many people are typically on‐site during these periods?  Is the County amenable to a 
hybrid approach to fieldwork with a mix of on‐site and remote work? 

A.  The County usually schedules a week for the preliminary fieldwork and two weeks for final 
fieldwork.  There is usually a mixture of 1‐3 people on‐site during fieldwork.  The County is 



willing to work with a mixture of on‐site and remote work as long as doing so does not delay the 
timing of the final audit reports. 

Q.  What has been the typical timing for the County’s audits (interim fieldwork, final fieldwork, draft 
due dates, final issuance)? Is it anticipated that the County will expect a similar timeline for the 
2022 audit? 

A.  The County’s audit has typically been scheduled for mid‐January to final reports by the end of 
May.  For 2022, the County would still like to try and stay on track with final reports completed 
by the end of May 2023. 

Q.  Were any additional services provided during the FY21 audit requiring a change order?  If so, has 
the underlying issue been addressed?   

A.  No additional services requiring a change order were provided for FY2021. 

Q.  If not precluded by a rotation policy, is it anticipated that your former auditor will be proposing 
again? 

A.  The current policy allows for a change in partners, so it is possible that our current auditing firm 
will submit a proposal. 

Q.  How much was paid to the prior auditors for the 2021 audit? Do these fees include additional 
non‐audit services? If so, what services did the prior auditor provide and do you expect the need 
for similar services going forward? 

A.  The County, Forest Preserve District, Public Building Commission, and E‐911 Board paid a total of 
$106,375.00 for audit services related to the FY2021 audit.  All audit services expected by the 
County begin on page 4 of the RFP under 2.0 – Scope of Services. 

Q.  Are there any major activities or changes to your operations or organization makeup since the 
date of your last ACFR that could have an impact on our audit? Is there anything that the County 
wants to change in its financial statements?   

A.  The County is in the process of selling the Nursing Home to a private firm.  The hope was that 
this would be finalized by year‐end, but it more than likely will run into next year.  No changes 
are expected at this time on the County’s financial statements. 

Q.  Has the County typically had all requested items ready for the auditors when they first arrive for 
final fieldwork?  If not, what areas are more difficult for the County to prepare?  

A.  The County typically has all requested items ready for final fieldwork.  In times when that has 
not been the case, the areas that have extended past the first day of final fieldwork would 
typically be capital assets, long‐term debt, grants, and nursing home reconciliation. 

Q.  Are the operations of the Public Building Commission, Forest Preserve District, and E‐911 Board 
administered in a centralized fashion by the County? Or are they decentralized and operated 
independent of other County operations? 



A.  The operations of the Public Building Commission and Forest Preserve District are administered 
centrally and part of the County’s financial accounting system.  The E‐911 Board is not currently 
on the County’s financial accounting system and is being handled by the Treasurer’s Office.  

Q.  Do the Public Building Commission, Forest Preserve District, and E‐911 Board maintain separate 
financial account systems or are they incorporated into the County’s centralized financial 
accounting system? 

A.  The Public Building Commission and Forest Preserve District are part of the County’s financial 
accounting system.  The E‐911 Board maintains their own financial system. 

Q.  Are the County’s custodial funds recorded in the County’s financial accounting system or are 
they maintained “off book” from the system? If the latter, does the County have a process in 
place to obtain fund activity and balances from the various decentralized County 
offices/departments? 

A.  Currently, the County’s custodial funds are not maintained on the County’s financial accounting 
system.  The County plans on transitioning them onto the County’s financial accounting system 
during the implementation of a new ERP system late in FY2023.  The auditors have worked 
directly with the various departments in charge of those custodial funds to obtain fund activity. 

Q.  Does the County anticipate any significant changes in the level and types of federal funding to 
be received in FY22 and in future years (excluding the impact of spending of ARPA funds)? 

A.  Federal funding for the County should remain fairly consistent in FY2022 and future years, with 
the reduction of any federal funding that would have been received by the Nursing Home, due 
to its sale. 

Q.  What systems does the Circuit Clerk use for case management and financial accounting? 

A.  The County Circuit Clerk uses Jano Technologies for their case management and QuickBooks for 
their financial accounting.  Their department is also incorporated into the County’s financial 
accounting system. 

Q.  Has the County evaluated the impact of GASB 87 on the County, including taking an inventory of 
existing leases and the financial impact? Does the County have a feel as to the level of assistance 
expected from the auditors with implementation? 

A.  The County has reached out to all departments to put together a listing of existing leases.  The 
County expectation of the audit firm would be to help guide and prepare the entries for the first 
year, with the County then incorporating that process into its annual audit preparation duties. 

Q.   Has the County considered any potential impacts of the implementation of GASB 91 for conduit 
debt on the County’s financial statements? 

A.  No 

Q.  Who has the County hired to prepare the OPEB actuary reports? 

A.  The County currently uses Lauterbach & Amen to prepare the OPEB reports. 



Q.  What, if any, have been the County’s biggest pain points in preparing for the annual audit? Are 
there any additional services the County will expect the auditors to perform to support the 
County in preparing for the audit? 

A.  Currently, several processes are manual and labor‐intensive.  There should be no additional 
services expected by the auditors. 

Q.  Is there anything you wished you received (tangible or intangible) through the audit process that 
you are not getting right now? 

A.  No 

Q.  Should we be privileged to be awarded the audit, we would like the opportunity to discuss some 
of the terms and conditions included within the RFP.  How would you like us to handle any 
exceptions or proposed changes to the terms in our proposal? 

A.   Please note any proposed modifications from the original proposal under a separate heading.   

Q.  Why is the County requesting proposals this year? 

A.  The County Board passed Resolution R2021‐53 on August 18, 2021, which implemented an audit 
rotation policy. 

Q.  Is your current provider submitting a proposal? 

A.  The current policy allows for a change in partners, so it is possible that our current auditing firm 
will submit a proposal. 

Q.  Are there any service issues with the current provider? 

A.  No 

Q.  How many journal entries were there in 2021 as a result of the audit?  Can you please provide a 
copy? 

A.  For FY2021, there were a total of 7 journal entries (5 adjusting journal entries and 2 passed 
entries) proposed by the auditors.  A copy of those has been attached to the end of these 
question responses. 

Q   Were there any management comments in 2021?  If so, can you please provide a copy of the 
letter? 

A.  Yes.  A copy of the FY2021 Management Letter can be accessed via the County website: 
https://dekalbcounty.org/departments/finance‐office/audit‐acfr/  

Q.  What were the prior year fees? 

A.  The County, Forest Preserve District, Public Building Commission, and E‐911 Board paid a total of 
$106,375.00 for audit services related to the FY2021 audit.   

Q.  Were there any additional billings by the predecessor audit firm for services beyond the scope 
of the audit? 



A.  Yes.  We requested auditing services from our audit firm for a required grant audit of our 
transportation grant program, including 5311 grant, DOAP grant, and 5311 CARES grant for State 
Fiscal Year‐Ending June 30, 2021. 

Q.  What is the typical prelim and fieldwork duration?  How many auditors are normally in the field? 

A.  The County usually schedules a week for the preliminary fieldwork and two weeks for final 
fieldwork.  There is usually a mixture of 1‐3 people on‐site during fieldwork.   

Q.  Has the audit been conducted remotely, or on site?  What is the County’s preference? 

A.  The audit has typically been conducted on‐site.  The County is willing to work with a mixture of 
on‐site and remote work as long as doing so does not delay the timing of the final audit reports.  

Q.  Will the County provide the auditor with read only remote access to the financial system? 

A.  The County will not provide the auditor with remote access to its current financial system.  It is 
the intent of the County, that with the implementation of the BS&A financial system in late 2023 
(early 2024), that read‐only remote access will be provide to the auditors. 

Q.  What role does the auditor play in the preparation of the various audit reports? 

A.  The audit firm is the lead role in the preparation of all audit reports, including all final reports.  

Q.  Do the current external auditors utilize any subcontractors as part of the audit process? 

A.  The County is not aware of any utilization of external auditors as subcontractors in the audit 
process. 

Q.  When will the final adjusted trial balances be provided to the auditor for testing each year? 

A.  Our previous audit schedules have had the County upload the final adjusted trial balances to the 
audit firm’s web portal approximately the end of the third week in March. 

Q.  What type of assistance does the County need from the auditors with writing the financial 
statements? 

A.  The County expects the auditing firm to prepare the ACFR and other financial statements. The 
County will prepare the statistical section of the ACFR, outside of the tables that are derived 
from other sections of the ACFR.  The County will also prepare the Letter of Transmittal and 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). 

Q.  What assistance does the County expect will be needed from the auditors for implementation of 
new GASB standards? 

A.  Please refer to page 6 of the RFP under 2.6 – Other Services Item #8, “The Auditor will be 
required to inform and assist the County in implementing future accounting pronouncements 
issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board that might impact the County. Such 
assistance shall be included as part of the proposed fee for that year.” 

Q.  Where does the County stand with implementation of GASB 87, Leases? 



A.  The County has reached out to all departments to put together a listing of existing leases.  The 
County expectation of the audit firm would be to help guide and prepare the entries for the first 
year, with the County then incorporating that process into its annual audit preparation duties. 

Q.  Are all programs – i.e. payroll processing, fixed asset management programs, etc. – integrated 
with the general ledger? 

A.  Accounts payable are entered into an MS Access database by the individual departments and 
reviewed/uploaded into the County financial accounting system.  Payroll is processed by a 
mixture of hand‐keyed timesheets into the financial accounting system by finance staff and time 
entered by departments into a timekeeping system and uploaded into the financial accounting 
system for review and processing.  Fixed asset management is entered into the financial 
accounting system by finance staff.  All asset transactions are entered into the accounting 
system via journal entry.  Cash receipts is not currently integrated with the financial accounting 
system.  The Treasurer’s Office enters receipts into a separate system and finance staff enters 
those receipts on a daily basis into the financial accounting system and reconciles to the 
Treasurer’s Office.  The lack of integration is one of the reasons the County issued an RFP for a 
new ERP system.  The expectation of the new BS&A system implementation is that all 
department employees will have access to the financial accounting system and that all program 
modules will be integrated to reduce duplicate entry and processing errors. 

Q.  Does the County maintain documentation of its processes and controls over significant 
transaction cycles such as payroll, cash disbursements, billings, etc.? 

A.  Yes 

Q.  How does the County track capital assets? 

A.  A review of the monthly claims list is done by finance staff to identify potential capital assets.  A 
review of ordinances and resolutions is also done by finance staff throughout the year.  Any 
assets identified as capital assets are entered into the financial accounting system. 

Q.  Are there any new bond issues in FY 2022? 

A.  No 

Q.  What third party service providers does the County use (insurance claims, etc.)? 

A.  The County is a member of the Intergovernmental Personnel Benefit Cooperative for its health 
insurance benefits.  The County is self‐insured for worker’s compensation and liability claims; 
however, the County does use IPMG as their TPA for worker’s compensation claims.  The County 
does have property insurance on all county‐owned property through Erie Insurance.  The County 
also has catastrophic coverage on all of its Highway Department vehicles through Erie Insurance 
as well. 

Q.  Does the County prepare all work papers related to the audit? 

A.  The County does prepare many workpapers related to the audit. 

Q.  What financial software is utilized by the County? 



A.  The County is currently using Central Square FinancePLUS as its financial accounting system.  
The County also issued an RFP in February of 2022 for a new ERP system and BS&A was 
selected.  Implementation is tentative for late 2023 to early 2024. 

Q.  How centralized is the financial reporting system?  Do each of the departments use the same 
system? 

A.  The County’s current financial accounting system is mostly accessible to only the finance 
department staff as we have a license limitation. 

Q.  When does the County provide the auditors with a complete SEFA? 

A.  The County provides a draft SEFA to the auditors during fieldwork.  The auditors review and 
audit the SEFA for completeness before filing it with the Federal Audit Clearinghouse. 

Q.  Are there any significant funding changes anticipated in 2022? 

A.  Federal funding for the County should remain fairly consistent in FY2022 and future years, with 
the reduction of any federal funding that would have been received by the Nursing Home, due 
to its sale. 

Q.  Have there been any monitoring reports received from oversight agencies? 

A.  No 
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Baker Tilly is responsive, interactive and produces the results they 
say they will. We are very pleased with the services they provide 
and consider Baker Tilly a leader among accounting and advisory 
firms. 
 

Controller 

“ 
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1.0 Executive summary  

What makes Baker Tilly different from other firms? Our solution truly begins 
by listening to what the County needs. 

Understanding your needs to help achieve your objectives and 
mission 
Our proposal meets your RFP requirements. It describes our unique value proposition for how we provide 
value while meeting your key objectives. The following table details how we plan to address your needs in 
a valuable way. 
 

WHAT WE 
UNDERSTAND 
THE COUNTY 

NEEDS 

 
HOW BAKER TILLY WILL MEET YOUR NEEDS  

A depth of 
resources to meet 
your evolving 
needs 

• Ability to offer a bench strength of 6,500+ professionals, including 550 
partners, as the 10th largest accounting firm in the United States 

• Full suite of value-added consulting, accounting, tax and assurance 
solutions to meet your needs 

• Added value with the “best of both worlds;” we provide a smaller firm focus 
supported by large firm resources 

A firm with 
relevant public 
sector industry 
experience 

• Specialized knowledge and direct experience gained from serving 4,100 
public sector including six other counties in Illinois 

• Support from 515 team members who are deeply entrenched in the public 
sector industry and receive focused training and continuing education 

• In-depth understanding of the unique nature of your organization and your 
most pressing challenges 

• As a new provider, the ability to provide a fresh perspective to the County 
A responsive, 
collaborative 
engagement team 
dedicated to your 
industry 

• A consistent team of local government auditors who have developed a 
significant understanding of the County’s operations  

• Thoughtful, strategic guidance from your audit team and the deep 
resources within Baker Tilly on a variety of matters, including federal 
funding guidance, tax compliance, agreed upon procedures and other 
consulting services 

• Engagement team members who are leaders in industry associations and 
authors of thought leadership 

• Commitment to year-round accessibility and communication 
Value for fees paid • Competitive fee arrangement: we do not bill for every question, comment or 

concern 
• Significant partner and manager involvement in delivering timely, 

responsive service 
• Year-round training, education and insight at no additional cost 
• A streamlined approach that pairs technical expertise with innovative 

technology to add efficiencies 
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1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

We work closely with you, have candid conversations and implement valuable solutions together to build 
trust. As a sign of our commitment to building a successful relationship, we will provide: 
  

  
Proactive, responsive 

communication 
We will co-develop a 

communication protocol to be 
responsive and accessible 

to the County. We do not bill for 
routine phone calls, and we 
welcome discussions year-

round. 

  
Waived transition fees 

The County will experience an 
efficient transition process 

requiring only a modest amount 
of time from your internal team. 

We will waive all fees 
associated with the transition 

process. 

  
Complimentary consultations 

You will receive meaningful 
insights and solutions from our 
industry experience and service 

expertise. Your engagement 
team will introduce the 

County to other firmwide 
specialists for complimentary 
consultations as your goals 

change. 
  

Client-training webinars 
Our firm is an accredited 

professional training 
organization under National 

Association of State Boards of 
Accountancy requirements. Our 
webinars qualify for continuing 
professional education (CPE) 
credit and are free to clients. 

  
Industry insight  

and thought leadership 
The County will receive tools, 

templates and resources free of 
charge throughout the year to 
help you stay one step ahead 

of [industry] trends and 
regulatory changes. 

  
Forward-thinking  
service solutions 

The County will receive 
customized ideas from our 

Value Architects™ to assist you 
with identifying and seizing new 

opportunities. 

INFUSING VALUE IN OUR RELATIONSHIP 
Helping the County achieve your mission is our top priority. We will provide meaningful ways to support your success 

throughout our relationship.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
McHenry County has worked with Baker Tilly for several years, and every year has brought 
new challenges for the County, including transitioning from one financial system to a new 
one, changes in external audit areas of responsibility (from the Internal Audit to 
Administration or Finance departments) and changes to finance department personnel. 
Throughout these transitions, Baker Tilly's team, from partner to fieldwork staff, has been 
fundamental for the County to continue to issue award-winning ACFRs, PAFRs and other 
compliance reports. Baker Tilly's public sector specialists have gone above and beyond to 
assist the County in addressing these challenges without hesitation and, more importantly, 
without additional billing or citing contractual language as to their scope of work. I highly 
recommend them as local government Value ArchitectsTM that leverage technology to 
accomplish the work on time and within budget. 
 

Kevin Bueso, Chief Financial Officer | McHenry County, Illinois 

“
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2.0 Scope of services  

Our relationship-driven approach is powered by technology and led by 
partners and managers who deliver a cost-effective, quality engagement 
for the County. We will deliver audit solutions that address the public 
sector industry’s underlying complexities and your unique opportunities. 

Audit scope and purpose 
You have requested audit proposals for fiscal year ending December 31, 2022, and the four subsequent 
years. The scope of our audit includes a financial audit of the basic financial statements, a compliance 
audit of the County’s federal awards, a report on supplementary information as it relates to the Illinois 
Grant Accountability and Transparency Act Consolidated Year-end Financial Report, compilation of the 
Illinois Comptroller’s annual financial report, and separate reports for the Dekalb Public Building 
Commission, DeKalb Forest Preserve District, E-911 Board, and Clerk of Circuit Court. Our audit will 
meet or exceed all performance specifications listed in the RFP. 
 
Our audit will be made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) as promulgated 
by the AICPA; the AICPA audit guide, Audits of State and Local Governmental Units; Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the U.S. GAO; and OMB Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). 
 
The primary purpose of the audit is to express an opinion on the financial statements of the entities 
subject to the audit. Such an audit is subject to the inherent risk that errors or irregularities may not be 
detected. If conditions are discovered that lead to the belief that material errors, defalcations or other 
irregularities may exist, or if any other circumstances require extended services, Baker Tilly will promptly 
advise an appropriate management level. 
 
Reporting 
The following reports will be prepared and presented after the audit: 
 
a. Independent Auditor’s Report on the fair presentation of the financial statements in conformity with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America performed in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and Government Auditing 
Standards. We will express an opinion that the combining and individual fund financial statements 
and schedules included in the County’s ACFR are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to 
the basic financial statements taken as a whole. If we discover conditions in the course of the 
examination that will cause it to express some other type of opinion, we will immediately notify the 
Comptroller, of the type of opinion that Baker Tilly believes will be necessary and the reason 
therefore. We will issue a separate opinion and report for the DeKalb Public Building Commission, the 
DeKalb Forest Preserve District, and the E911 Board. 
 

b. Required Communications of Internal Control Related Matters, based on the audit of the financial 
statements performed in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and Government Auditing Standards.  
 

c. All reports as required under Uniform Guidance (Single Audit Act), formerly OMB Circular A‐133,. The 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and related auditor’s report, as well as the reports on 
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2.0 SCOPE OF SERVICES 

internal controls and compliance are not to be included in the ACFR but are to be issued separately.  
 

d. All Clerk of the Circuit Court reports as required by 705 ILCS 105/27.8, including an audit of the 
Financial Statements of the Clerk of the Circuit Court performed in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America and Government Auditing Standards.  
 

e. Independent Auditor’s Report on Supplementary Information as it relates to the Illinois Grant 
Accountability and Transparency Act (GATA) – Calendar Year-End Financial Report.  

 
Control deficiencies 
In the required reports on internal control, we will communicate any control deficiencies found during the 
audit, per the following categories: 
 
• A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 

employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and 
correct misstatements on a timely basis. 

• A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance 

• A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of defects, in internal control. There is a 
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be 
prevented, detected, and corrected on a timely basis. 
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3.0 Company background  

Growth through industry specialization is at the heart of Baker Tilly. We 
pair public sector-aligned professionals with powerful technology and 
service expertise to understand the County’s strategies, anticipate your 
needs and adapt our solutions to overcome challenges. 

Offering our resources: Baker Tilly at a glance 
We dedicate ourselves to delivering efficiency, quality, creativity, innovation and forward-thinking 
solutions. We are passionate about enhancing and protecting our clients' value, which is a collective effort 
by everyone across our firm. The County will receive an exceptional experience for your management 
team, governance team, internal process owners and — ultimately — those you serve. Below are some 
key facts about our firm. 
  

 
COMPREHENSIVE EXPERIENCE TO SERVE YOU 

The County will receive support and guidance from a respected firm that continues to grow — as evidenced by  
INSIDE Public Accounting naming Baker Tilly as the 10th largest accounting firm in the United States on their 2022 

IPA Top 100 list. 
 
Celebrating more than 90 years serving our valued clients 
As a future-looking firm, we celebrate more than 90 years in the marketplace by 
honoring our roots and continuing to shape our future. We embrace the fact that 
business can’t stand still — and we won’t stand still. As we help our clients identify 
new needs and opportunities, we innovate and change to work better.  
  
Our roots took hold in 1931 in Waterloo, Wisconsin, where we began as a public accounting firm 
specializing in canning factory audits. Since that time, we have grown with more than 40 different 
business combinations, each with its own rich history, expanding our presence coast to coast and globally 
and expanding our scope across industries, services and areas of expertise. One thing has not changed 
over time: our shared passion for enhancing and protecting our clients’ value. 
  
As we reimagine our lasting impact, we remain grounded in our timeless core values. Through dedication, 
creativity and adaptability, Baker Tilly will become more connected to our clients, our people, our 
communities and our profession. 
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3.0 COMPANY BACKGROUND 

Public sector specialization 
Baker Tilly has served local governments 
since our establishment more than 90 
years ago.  
 
Unlike many of our contemporaries, Baker 
Tilly is organized by industry, not service line. 
What does this mean for the County? It 
means you will be served by team members 
that know the operations of the County. We 
carefully select engagement teams to blend 
our government-focused professionals with 
experienced specialists in known activities of 
the County. The County will be working with 
knowledgeable professionals who understand 
the County and the unique challenges facing 
local governments in Illinois. We will continue 
to provide innovative solutions to help you 
address opportunities and challenges encountered by the County.  
 
From the start, Baker Tilly has understood that our business demands absolute integrity, a belief in the 
value of trusted relationships and a willingness to collaborate with – not dictate to – every client. We will 
deepen and enhance our relationship with the County as, together, we work to help you realize your 
financial vision.  
 
We are one of the few CPA firms with a state and local government group dedicated entirely to 
serving governmental organizations. 
 
State and local government is a complex, unique environment shaped by fiscal, regulatory and 
operational considerations not found in other industries. Recognizing this complexity, and eager to serve 
as a true valued advisor to the public sector, Baker Tilly formalized its dedicated public sector 
specialization more than 50 years ago.  
 
Nationwide, our state and local government practice serves more than 4,100 state and local government 
entities, including municipalities, counties, public utilities, transit and school districts. Baker Tilly has 
worked with nearly 200 Illinois government clients in the past 12 months. 
  
  

COMMITMENT TO THE PUBLIC SECTOR 
Baker Tilly has been in business for more than 90 years and 

public sector entities were some of our first clients. 
COMMITMENT TO THE PUBLIC SECTOR 

Baker Tilly has been in business for more than 90 years and 
public sector entities were some of our first clients. 
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3.0 COMPANY BACKGROUND 

 
The County benefits from our specially organized group of staff and partners in several specific ways: 

• Specialized training and continuing education: The County is assured of an engagement team with 
the necessary knowledge and skills. 

• Dedication to your industry: Your public sector professionals live and breathe government, working 
exclusively in this industry year-round. This translates into insights only experience can bring and 
service from a team that understands the best ways to communicate and collaborate with public 
sector entities. 

• Industry involvement: Members of our public sector practice group are leaders in key industry 
organizations, including American Institute of Certified Public Accountant (AICPA) and the 
Governmental Audit Quality Center (GAQC). Because of our work with these groups, we know 
dynamic, consequential trends in state and local government — and are equipped with leading 
practices to help the County best respond to them. 

• Knowledge shared with the County: At Baker Tilly, serving governments goes beyond services – 
we also supply our state and local government clients with crucial thought leadership in the form of 
webinars, workshops, articles and our regular newsletter, CommuniTIES Connection. 

• Year-round consultation: Throughout our relationship, we will be available for routine calls or 
technical questions, connecting you with recommendations and ideas to address the inevitable 
operational issues that arise. Plus, we can alert you to new opportunities for us to collaborate and 
create value for the County. 

 
More than 515 Baker Tilly professionals — including nearly 40 partners — focus directly on serving 
governments, providing hundreds of thousands of client service hours annually to this industry. Your team 
is ready to help you find solutions to the obstacles that stand between you and your goals. 
 
Single audit experience 
Since the passage of the Single Audit Act of 1984, Baker Tilly 
has recognized the importance of  becoming specialists in this 
highly complex area. Our firm currently performs more than 500 
single audits each year, ranking Baker Tilly in the top three 
nationally based on the number of audits conducted by CPA 
firms. 
 
To stay on top of the changing requirements, our firm serves on 
various AICPA committees studying financial and single audit 
issues. We have been selected as speakers for nationally 
sponsored training courses, and we actively participate in 
industry events. 
 
Our depth of experience with single audits places us in a unique position to perform the single audits for 
the County. 
 
Our firm is also asked to review and comment on various single audit documents created by the AICPA 
and OMB prior to their issuance. Below is a list of documents where we have provided contributions: 
 

DOCUMENT YEARS ORGANIZATIONS 

AICPA Audit Guide — GAS and Single Audits 2005-2016 AICPA 

Single audit leadership 
Baker Tilly conducts more 
than 500 single audits each 
year, ranking us in the top 
three, nationally, based on 
number of audits conducted 
by CPA firms.  
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DOCUMENT YEARS ORGANIZATIONS 

AICPA Audit Risk Alert — GAS and Single Audits 2006-2015 AICPA 

OMB Compliance Supplement 2008-2022 OMB 

 
AICPA study on single audit quality 
The AICPA performed a study on single audit quality. The study showed three factors that directly 
correlate to the quality of the audit engagements: 
 
• Size of the firm’s single audit practice 

• Baker Tilly has approximately 400 professionals performing single audits. 
• Membership in the Government Audit Quality Center (GAQC) 

• Since the Center’s inception, Baker Tilly has been a member and has served multiple terms on 
the Executive Committee of the GAQC. 

• Qualifications of the engagement team 
• Michael Malatt, partner-in-charge on your engagement team, leads more than 16 single audit 

engagements annually, including county single audits. 
 
Through the volume of single audits we conduct annually, Baker Tilly auditors have experience auditing 
numerous federal programs. The following is a tailored sampling of programs Baker Tilly has experience 
auditing: 
 
• Community Development Block Grants/Entitlement Grants 
• Coronavirus Relief Fund 
• Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 
• Emergency Rental Assistance Program 
• Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity for Infectious Diseases 
• Health Center Program Cluster 
• Home Investment Partnership Program 
• Highway Planning and Construction 
• Immunization Cooperative Agreements 
• Provider Relief Fund 
• Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services 
• WIC Program 
• Workforce Investment Act – Adult, Youth Activities, and Dislocated Worker Programs 
 
Industry involvement fosters knowledge we share with you 
To help you respond to and prepare for change, we are actively involved in local and national 
associations, keeping us on the leading edge of what is happening in our industry. Our memberships in 
the following organizations and our involvement as authors, speakers, trainers, and promoters of 
governmental accounting and auditing help us actively assist you with implementing new regulations or 
adopting new standards. Because of this active involvement, we can provide the County with timely and 
relevant industry information. It also allows us to be a sound resource to the County as complex or routine 
accounting and auditing issues arise. 
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• American Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants 
• American Public Power Association 
• American Water Works Association 
• American Women’s Society of Certified Public 

Accountants 
• Association of Certified Fraud Examiners 
• Association of Government Accountants 
• Center for Research in Regulated Industries 
• Edison Electric Institute 
• Government Finance Officers Association 
• Illinois Municipal Treasurers Association 
• Illinois Association of Municipal Management 

Assistants 

• Illinois Association of School Business 
Officials 

• Illinois CPA Society 
• Illinois Government Finance Officers 

Association 
• Information Systems Audit and Control 

Association (ISACA)Institute of Internal 
Auditors 

• International City/County Management 
Association 

• International Public Management Association 
for HR 

• National Association of Municipal Advisors 
• National Association of Professional Women 
 

 
Baker Tilly does not just belong to these organizations. We are active members who serve on committees 
and support the organizations with our time and funds. For example: 
 
• Baker Tilly professional practice partner for the public sector, Jodi Dobson, was appointed last year to 

the AICPA’s State and Local Government Expert Panel 
• Partner Jason Coyle is chair of the ICPAS Governmental Executive Committee. He is also a member 

of the IGFOA Technical Accounting Review Committee.  
• Baker Tilly Partner Michael Malatt is on the IGFOA Professional Education Committee. 
 
We are often called upon by different local government associations to analyze proposed changes and to 
provide recommendations to improve these proposals and/or to identify elements within the proposed 
changes that impact our clients and their operations. In recent years, Baker Tilly has conducted training 
or developed educational programs on GASB pronouncements, budgeting, taxation, local income taxes 
(LIT) and other legislative impacts as well as various other topics where significant changes have 
occurred. 
 
Involvement in AICPA committees and initiatives important to governments 
Baker Tilly professionals are among the most influential in the accounting and advisory industry, with 
Baker Tilly thought leaders directly involved with issues shaping our industry. 
 
To help you respond to and prepare for change, Baker Tilly professionals are actively involved in various 
AICPA committees and initiatives. This involvement keeps us on the leading edge of what is happening in 
our industry. The following are a few of AICPA boards and committees we are involved in that are 
relevant to the County. 
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Initiative Purpose Membership Dates 

Governmental Audit 
Quality Center 
(GAQC) 

Promotes the importance of quality 
governmental audits, serves as a 
resource to member firms, provides 
members with online tools for sharing 
ideas and recognizes CPA firms that 
demonstrate a commitment to 
governmental audit quality 

Baker Tilly US, 
LLP 

Since its 
inception 

Governmental Audit 
Quality Center 
(GAQC) Executive 
Committee 

Governs the GAQC, develops the 
policies of the GAQC and oversees 
GAQC activities; also meets twice 
annually in conjunction with the Single 
Audit Roundtable (SART), which 
includes federal inspectors general, 
federal agencies and CPA firms 

Heather Acker, 
Partner  

2012-2015 

Technical Issues 
Committee (TIC) 

Volunteers on a committee of CPA 
practitioners who represents the views 
of local firms and small-to-medium-
size governments in the standards 
setting process 

Vicki Hellenbrand, 
Partner, GASB 
TIC member; 
Dave Johnson, 
Partner, FASB TIC 
member 

2013-2019 

State and Local 
Government Expert 
Panel 

Serves the needs of AICPA members 
regarding financial and business 
reporting and audit and attest matters; 
protects the public interest by bringing 
together knowledgeable parties in the 
state and local government industry to 
deliberate and come to agreement on 
key state and local government issues 

Jodi Dobson, 
Partner, 2021 – 
Present 
Heather Acker, 
Partner, 2009 ‒
2012 and chair 
2015 ‒ 2020; 
Carla Gogin, 2012 
‒ 2015; Don Rahn, 
retired Baker Tilly 
partner,  
2004 ‒ 2008 

2021 – 
Present 
 
2012 ‒ 2020 
 
2004 - 2008 

Auditing Standards 
Board (ASB) 

AICPA’s senior committee for 
auditing, attestation and quality control 
applicable to the performance and 
issuance of audit and attestation 
reports for nonissuers 

Jere Shawver, 
Partner 
Kim Tredinnick, 
Partner 

2015-2019 
 
2010-2013 
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Initiative Purpose Membership Dates 

Peer Review 
Oversight Reviewer 
— Single Audits 

Monitors the quality of peer reviews 
performed on OMB single audits 

Heather Acker, 
Partner  

2014-present 

Peer Review Board Promulgates the peer review 
standards and oversees the 
administration of the peer review 
program 

Jeff Gendreau, 
Partner 

2017-present 

National Peer Review 
Committee (NPRC) 

Administering entity for all firms that 
are required to be registered and 
inspected by the PCAOB or for firms 
that perform work under PCAOB 
standards 

Jeff Gendreau, 
Partner 

2011-2019 
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4.0 Audit proposal  
1. General requirements 

The purpose of the audit proposal is to demonstrate the qualifications, competence, and capacity of the proposers 
seeking to undertake an independent audit of the County in conformity with the requirements of this RFP. As 
such, the substance of proposals will carry more weight than their form or manner of presentation. The audit 
proposal should demonstrate the qualifications of the proposer and the particular staff to be assigned to this 
engagement. It should also specify an audit approach that will meet the RFP’s requirements.  
 
The audit proposal should address all the points outlined in the RFP. The proposal should be prepared simply and 
economically providing a straightforward and concise description of the proposer’s capabilities to satisfy the 
requirements of the request for proposal. 

Baker Tilly has reviewed the County’s proposal requirements and affirms that this response contains all of 
the required forms, answers all of the questions posed and meets the County’s requirements. 
 
 
2. Independence  

The Proposer should provide an affirmative statement that it meets the independence requirements of 
Government Auditing Standards, published by the U.S. General Accounting Office. The Proposer also should 
provide an affirmative statement that it is independent of the blended component unit, the DeKalb County Public 
Building Commission, the DeKalb County Forest Preserve District, a discretely presented component unit, and the 
E911 Board as defined by those same standards. 
 
The Proposer should also list the Proposer’s professional relationships involving DeKalb County or any of its 
component units for the past ten years. 

Ensuring independence 
Baker Tilly and our partners and staff are independent with respect to the blended component unit, the 
DeKalb County Public Building Commission, the DeKalb County Forest Preserve District, a discretely 
presented component unit, and the E911 Board as defined by those same standards as defined by 
generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) and the Government Auditing Standards set forth by the 
U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO). We will maintain an independent attitude and appearance 
through the full term of the engagement. 
 
Formal independence guidelines are contained in our Employee Handbook based on rules and 
regulations established by the Comptroller General of the United States and the AICPA. 
  
We have no knowledge of any business, investment or family relationships with the County, its agencies, 
officials, department heads or other employees and personnel of our firm that would impair our 
independence. 
 
Prior engagements with the County 
Baker Tilly affirms that there have been no professional relationships involving DeKalb County or any of 
its component units for the past ten years. 
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3. Audit overview  
The proposal should state the location of the office from which the work on this engagement is to be performed 
and the number and nature of the professional staff to be employed in this engagement on either a full‐time or 
part‐time basis.  

Pairing local services with national resources  
Your engagement team is based out of our Oak Brook, Illinois office, located 
at 1301 West 22nd St. Suite 400, Oak Brook, IL 60523-3389. 
 
Below are some key facts about our practice in Illinois: 
 
• Headquartered in Chicago  
• More than 300 professionals in Illinois 
• More than 420 professionals dedicated to the public sector industry 
• Dedicated state and local government industry practice 
• Experience serving more than 175 state and local clients throughout Illinois 
• Regular recipient of Best Place to Work awards 
  
Below we detail the number of professional staff that will be assigned to the County’s audit. We do not 
intend to use any part-time staff. 
 

NUMBER OF STAFF IN THE OAK BROOK, ILLINOIS OFFICE 
Staff level Number of staff 

Partner/director 2 
Senior manager 2 
Manager 1 
Senior 3 
Staff 3 
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4. Partner, supervisory, and staff qualifications and experience  
The Proposer should identify the principal staff, including engagement partners, managers, other supervisors and 
specialists, who would be assigned to the engagement and indicate whether each such person is 
registered/licensed to practice as a certified public accountant as well as the proposer is registered/licensed to 
practice in Illinois. The Proposer also should provide information on the government auditing experience of each 
person, including information on relevant continuing professional education for the past three years and 
membership in professional organizations relevant to the performance of this audit.  

The County will work with a consistent team of Value Architects™ who understand 
your organization and can add value from day one. The combination of your 
engagement team’s public sector experience and service knowledge translates into 
tangible results for the County. 

Aligning key engagement team members with your goals 
Your handpicked team of professionals offers a collaborative focus supported by the breadth and depth of 
our firm’s national resources. We believe in strong personal relationships, and this means a personal 
interest in the County from some of our most experienced team members. Engagement team members 
are introduced below, and complete resumes, including CPE and professional memberships, are 
available in the Appendix. 
 
Baker Tilly is licensed to practice public accounting in various states across the U.S., including in Illinois. 
All key CPAs assigned to the County’s engagement are licensed to practice public accounting. 

INTENTIONALLY SELECTED ENGAGEMENT TEAM FOR DEKALB COUNTY 

 Mike Malatt, CPA - Partner 

Role: Engagement Partner Similar audit clients 

Mike will serve as the partner-in-charge for 
DeKalb County. He will oversee the entire 
engagement process to ensure that every step 
and project is well planned and implemented, 
and the final deliverables are technically 
accurate and contain meaningful insights and 
recommendations. He will ensure the client 
service plan – through which we develop 
expectations and a timeline with you and 
execute the services as agreed upon – meets 
and exceeds your needs. 

• Kane County, IL 
• DuPage County, IL 
• Lake County Forest 

Preserves, IL 
• Cook County Forest 

Preserves, IL 

 

Jason Coyle, CPA - Partner  

Role: Engagement quality reviewer Similar audit clients 

Jason, who leads the firm’s local government 
audit group in Illinois, will help ensure that 
quality, integrity, and satisfaction are maintained 
at all times during the engagement. 

• Lake County, IL 
• Kane County, IL 
• DuPage County, IL 
• Lake County Forest 

Preserves, IL 
• Forest Preserve District of 

Cook County, IL 
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INTENTIONALLY SELECTED ENGAGEMENT TEAM FOR DEKALB COUNTY 

 

Anna M. Wiszowaty, CPA, MSA – Senior Manager 

Role: Senior Audit manager Similar audit clients 
Anna will manage and coordinate the audit 
services for the County and be responsible for 
project management and communication to 
ensure a seamless, collaborative process. She 
will also gain an in-depth understanding of the 
County’s operations and accounting processes 
to effectively guide the County through 
complex/unusual transactions or answer day-to-
day questions.  
 
Anna specializes in providing audit services for 
counties, municipalities and other governmental 
entities. 

• DuPage County, IL 
• Will County, IL 

 

Taryn Gille – Manager 

Role: Audit manager Similar audit clients 
Working in concert with the Senior Audit 
Manager, Taryn will oversee planning, fieldwork 
and reporting. 
 
Taryn specializes in providing audit services for 
counties, municipalities and other governmental 
entities. 

• DuPage County, IL 
• Marathon County, WI 
• City of Bloomington, IL 

 

Justin Hoagland, CPA – Senior Manager 

Role: Circuit Clerk audit manager Similar audit clients 

Justin will oversee all aspects of the Circuit 
Clerk audit. He will also oversee planning, 
fieldwork and reporting for the Circuit Clerk.  

• Lake Co. Circuit Clerk, IL 
• McHenry County, IL 
• Walworth County, WI 
• Waukesha County, WI 

THE COUNTY WILL RECEIVE TANGIBLE RESULTS WITH BAKER TILLY 
All engagement team members are committed to the County’s success. Their industry experience and service 

expertise translates into tangible results for the County. 
 

 
Please reference Appendix A – Resumes for staff summaries and experience. 
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Cultivating an engaging culture to offer a consistent team 
You can expect to see the same engagement team members every year 
and avoid the time and cost commitments of onboarding a new team. We 
view our commitment to staff continuity as the cornerstone of building a 
lasting relationship with the County. 
  
Exceptional professionals thrive at Baker Tilly because we cultivate an 
engaging culture through diversity and inclusion, work-life balance, 
continuous learning opportunities, career advancement and employee 
recognition. As a result, we had our lowest firm turnover in a decade 
during fiscal year 2021. We invite you to click on the video to the right 
to learn more about Baker Tilly’s unique culture. 
 

 
  CULTIVATING AN ENGAGING CULTURE 

Our commitment to attracting and retaining a top-quality workforce benefits the County through engaged team 
members and staff continuity. 

 

https://bt.hubs.vidyard.com/watch/9zWkvHwMVFYmi4aerTYxF1
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Offering a consistent team for the County 
We guarantee the same team members will serve the County throughout the engagement (subject to 
team members being promoted or leaving our firm). In some instances, they may alternate roles; 
however, all team members will have a strong knowledge of your operations. 
 
5. Similar engagements with other government agencies  

For the Proposer’s office that will be assigned responsibility for this engagement, list the most significant 
engagements performed in the last five years that are similar to the engagement described in this RFP. Also, 
indicate those that achieved the GFOA certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting award 
while you were engaged as their auditors. Include the name of the organization, the primary contact information at 
the organization, scope of work, the periods covered, and the number of hours spent completing the engagement.  

We are always happy to provide references because it is important 
for you to talk with the organizations we serve. Our similar client base 
equals experience-derived insights for the County. 

Demonstrating successful relationships with similar clients 
We encourage you to connect with the clients below to learn more about the value of their relationship 
with Baker Tilly. Each client will offer a different perspective as you consider your own needs. 
 

McHenry County, Illinois (GFOA COA winner) 
Name Kevin Bueso Title  Chief Financial Officer 
Phone +1 (815) 334 4206 Email kabueso@mchenrycountyil.gov  
Date 2004 to present Hours 750 
Scope of work Financial and single audits for the County as well as the County Circuit Clerk 

Kane County, Illinois (GFOA COA winner) 
Name Joseph Onzick Title Executive Finance Director 
Phone +1 (630) 208 5113 Email onzickjoseph@co.kane.il.us 
Date 2014 to present Hours 800 
Scope of work Financial and single audits for the County as well as the County Circuit Clerk 

DuPage County, Illinois (GFOA COA winner) 
Name Jeff Martynowicz Title Chief Financial Officer 
Phone +1 (630) 407 6100 Email jeffrey.martynowicz@dupageco.org  
Date 2010 to present Hours 3,000 
Scope of work Financial and single audits for the County as well as Public Works, County Circuit 

Clerk, and Health Department 
Winnebago County, Illinois (GFOA COA winner) 

Name  David Rickert Title Chief Financial Officer 
Phone +1 (815) 319 4238 Email dickert@wincoil.us  
Date  2017 to present Hours 1,200 
Scope of work Financial and single audits for the County as well as the County Circuit Clerk and 

Forest Preserve 

PROVIDING VALUABLE PERSPECTIVES FROM CURRENT CLIENTS 
At Baker Tilly, relationships matter. Our Value Architects™ have a record of successfully enhancing and protecting 

similar clients’ value — resulting in experience-based insights for the County. 
 

mailto:kabueso@mchenrycountyil.gov
mailto:onzickjoseph@co.kane.il.us
mailto:jeffrey.martynowicz@dupageco.org
mailto:dickert@wincoil.us
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Similar engagements with county governments 
Baker Tilly currently serves over 30 counties in the Midwest, including most of the collar counties in 
Illinois. These counties are comparable in size and complexity to DeKalb County. Our experience allows 
us to share relevant information, best practices and ideas and help our clients with their individual needs. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WE LEVERAGE OUR EXPERTISE TO BETTER SERVE DEKALB COUNTY 
Sharing best practices and lessons learned from our significant county client roster in Illinois and across the Midwest. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Racine 
Rock  
Sauk 
Shawano 
Trempealeau 
Walworth 
Washington 
Waukesha 
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Sauk 
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Washington 
Waukesha 
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Waukesha 

Racine 
Rock 
Sauk 
Shawano 
Trempealeau 
Walworth 
Washington 
Waukesha 

Illinois county clients  
DuPage 
Kane  
Lake  
McHenry  
Will 
Winnebago 
* McLean 
* Peoria 
* Champaign  
* changed audit firms due to firm rotation reqs. 
 
 
 

Minnesota county clients  
Stevens 
Le Sueur  
Olmsted 
Renville  
Waseca 
Steele  

Iowa county clients  
Scott 

Wisconsin county clients  
Bayfield 
Calumet 
Dane 
Dodge 
Green 
La Crosse 
Lafayette 
Marathon 
Milwaukee 
Price 

Pennsylvania county clients 
Centre 
Columbia 
Delaware 
Lackawanna 
Lycoming 
McKean 
Tioga 
Union 

Baker Tilly has been […] instrumental in working with the County on American Rescue Plan funding 
planning, budgeting, reporting and compliance, including calculating revenue loss and providing ongoing 
and proactive guidance. We regularly learn from Baker Tilly’s shared experiences helping similarly sized 
governments implement organizational policy and other best practices. 
 

Kristi Palmer, Finance Director | Marathon County, Wisconsin 

“
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Other Illinois governmental clients 
In addition to the Illinois counties we audit, below is a sampling of our state and local government 
clients from Illinois. We are glad to provide contact information for any client on request. 
 

ILLINOIS GOVERNMENT CLIENTS 
City clients 
Bloomington 
Blue Island 
Chicago 
Countryside 
Galesburg 
Highland Park 
Lake Forest 
Moline 
 
Library clients 
Bedford Park 
Highland Park 
Hodgkins 
McCook 
 
Utility clients 
DuPage County Water and Sewerage System 
Fox River Water Reclamation District 
Glenbard Wastewater Authority 
Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of 
Greater Chicago 
Illinois Municipal Electric Agency 
Thorn Creek Basin Sanitary District 
 
School districts 
Baker Tilly audits more than 50 Illinois public 
schools, including Chicago Public Schools. 

Village clients 
Broadview 
Chicago Ridge 
Deerfield 
Glenview 
Hodgkins 
Lake Zurich 
Lemont 
Lincolnshire 
Lisle 
Maywood 
McCook 
Northfield 
Oak Lawn 
Roselle 
Sauk Village 
Schaumburg 
 
Other entities 
Chicago Teachers’ Pension Fund 
Cook County Deferred Compensation Plan 
Firefighters Pension Investment Fund 
Greater Peoria Mass Transit District 
Hodgkins Park District 
Illinois Police Officers’ Pension Investment Fund 
Joliet Junior College 
Pace Suburban Bus Service 
Park Employees’ Benefit & Annuity Fund of Chicago 
Regional Transportation Authority 
Rockford Mass Transit District 
Springfield Mass Transit District 
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Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) Certificate of Achievement (COA) for 
Excellence in financial reporting 
The following government clients received the GFOA Certificate of Achievement during the years that 
Baker Tilly conducted their audit. This list is a testament to the quality of the financial audits performed by 
our firm. 

GFOA COA recipients 

Counties Cities Villages Other entities 

Dane, WI Beloit, WI Ashwaubenon, 
WI Brazos River Authority (TX) 

Delaware, PA Bloomington, IL Bayside, WI Brownsville Public Utilities Board (TX) 

DuPage, IL Brookfield, WI Deerfield, IL Chicago Public Schools 

La Crosse, WI Fitchburg, WI Franklin, WI Forest Preserve District of Cook 
County (IL) 

Kane, IL Countryside, IL Germantown, WI Ferguson Township (PA) 

Lycoming, PA Franklin, WI Glenview, IL Grand Rapids Public Utilities 
Commission (MN) 

Marathon, WI Galesburg, IL Grafton, WI Greater Rockford Airport Authority (IL) 

McHenry, IL Green Bay, WI Lake Zurich, IL Guadalupe Blanco River Authority (TX) 

Milwaukee, WI Highland Park, IL Lemont, IL Joliet Junior College (IL) 

Olmsted, MN Janesville, WI Lincolnshire, IL Lake County Forest Preserves (IL) 

Racine, WI Lake Forest, IL Lisle, IL Metropolitan Water Reclamation 
District (IL) 

Sauk, WI Madison, WI Northfield, IL Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewage 
District (WI) 

Scott, IA Mequon, WI Oak Lawn, IL Milwaukee Public Schools (WI) 

Walworth, WI Middleton, WI Roselle, IL New Braunfels Utilities (TX) 

Washington, WI Moline, IL Schaumburg, IL North Shore Fire Department (WI) 

Waukesha, WI Neenah, WI  Oak Creek Water & Sewer Utilities (WI) 

Will, IL Oconomowoc, WI  Pace Suburban Bus Service (IL) 
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GFOA COA recipients 

Counties Cities Villages Other entities 

Winnebago, IL Rosemount, MN  Park Employees’ Benefit and Annuity 
Fund of Chicago (IL) 

 Sun Prairie, WI  Rockford Public Schools (IL) 

 West Bend, WI  San Antonio River Authority (TX) 

   San Antonio Water System (TX) 

   St. Paul Public Housing Agency (MN) 

   Thom Creek Basin Sanitary District (IL) 

   VIA Metropolitan Transit (TX) 

   VIA Metropolitan Transit Retirement 
Plan (TX) 

   Waukesha County Technical College 
(WI) 

  
Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) Certificate of Achievement (COA) 
program reviewers 
You require a firm whose clients excel in receiving the Certificate of Achievement from the GFOA. Baker 
Tilly is that firm. We continue to be heavily involved with the GFOA award for excellence in financial 
reporting by volunteering staff time to serve as report reviewers for the GFOA. We will be responsible for 
the final technical review of your ACFR. 
 
Below is a list of current Baker Tilly GFOA report reviewers, including members of your engagement 
team:  
 

Baker Tilly GFOA reviewers 

Amanda Blomberg, Director Sheanne Hediger, Senior manager 

Sommer Cannon, Director Steve Henke, Senior manager 

John Compton, Jr., Partner Joseph Lightcap, Director 

Jason Coyle, Partner Michael Malatt, Partner 

Jodi Dobson, Partner Amanda Mboga, Senior manager 
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Baker Tilly GFOA reviewers 

Ryan Engelstad, Partner John Rader, Director 

Paul Frantz, Partner Kim Shult, Partner 

Nick Goeman, Senior manager Wendi Unger, Partner 

 
Implementing new Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) standards 
We routinely assist our government clients with implementing new accounting standards. To keep our 
clients up to date on the latest government accounting issues, Baker Tilly provides leadership to industry 
organizations through our involvement as authors, speakers, trainers and promoters of government 
accounting and auditing advancement. 
 
We continuously monitor GASB pronouncements — both issued and proposed — to evaluate how they 
will impact our clients. The impacts will be discussed with the County through various phases of the audit 
(planning, fieldwork, audit completion). 
 
For each new GASB standard, we provide tools and templates that help our clients with implementation; 
many of these tools and templates are available at bakertilly.com. 
 
We are prepared to assist the County with new GASB standards, as applicable. Examples include: 
 
• GASB Statement No. 87, Leases 
• GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements 
• GASB Statement No. 98, The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
• GASB Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022 
• GASB Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections—an amendment of GASB 

Statement No. 62 
• GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences 
 
In addition to these recently issued GASB Statements, other GASB standards and exposure drafts 
outstanding are expected to significantly impact current reporting practices. Baker Tilly follows these 
closely and often prepares comment letters to GASB on behalf of the profession to raise items of potential 
concern before the standards are finalized. 
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6. Specific audit approach  
The proposal should set forth a work plan, including an explanation of the audit methodology to be followed, in 
order to complete the services required. In developing the work plan, the context should be specific to the 
County’s needs as described in this RFP.  
 
Proposers will be required to provide the following information on their audit approach: 
Proposed segmentation of the engagement.  
Level of staff and number of hours to be assigned to each proposed segment of the engagement.  
Sample sizes and the extent to which statistical sampling is to be used in the engagement.  
Extent of use of specialized audit software in the engagement.  
Type and extent of analytical procedures to be used in the engagement.  
Approach to be taken to gain and document an understanding of DeKalb County’s internal control structure.  
Approach to be taken in drawing audit samples for purposes of tests of compliance.  

 
Audit plan methodology 
We use integrity, objectivity, competence and due care to provide high-quality audit, accounting and 
advisory services to our clients. 

Our objectives: 

• Provide exceptional client service from a consistent team of individuals on a year-to-year basis 
• Construct audit programs to streamline year-end procedures and improve the value 
• Issue audited financial statements within a time frame that meets or exceeds management’s 

expectations 
• Utilize Baker Tilly resources to present a meaningful management letter 
• Inform you of current and anticipated changes in professional standards that could affect you 
• Provide services on a timely and cost-effective basis 
 
Our procedures will include testing documentary evidence supporting the transactions recorded in the 
accounts and direct confirmations as deemed necessary. We will request written representations from 
your legal counsel as part of the engagement. At the conclusion of our audit, we will request certain 
written representations from management about the financial statements and related matters. 
 
When we perform an audit, we develop a thorough understanding of your activities, operating systems, 
personnel and special needs, using this information to plan a complete but efficient audit. Areas that 
require more attention are identified, and unnecessary or redundant procedures are eliminated. 
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Using our proven methodology 
You can expect to receive a quality financial audit without unnecessary procedures or work papers. 
Before completing internal planning, we will discuss our approach with you and modify our plans as 
appropriate. 

EMPLOYING AN EFFICIENT AUDIT APPROACH TO MEET THE COUNTY NEEDS 
Baker Tilly’s audit methodology is organized in five steps to ensure an efficient, collaborative process that aligns with 

the County requirements and adds value beyond the audit. 
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Approach to the audit 
Our audits are divided into four main phases: planning, interim audit work, year-end audit work and 
reporting. A description of each of the areas follows. 
 

DELIVERING THE AUDIT IN A FOUR-PHASED APPROACH 
Our experienced audit team will keep in close contact with the County throughout the year as we move through 

carefully planned phases of the audit cycle to ensure all critical risk areas are addressed. 
 
 
Should there be any technical issues during the audit, we rely on our client-facing practitioners “in the 
field” to deliver appropriate and timely resolution. We do not farm out these issues to a national 
clearinghouse as it can lead to delays in issuing final reports. 
 
At the conclusion of the audit, we will communicate recommendations for improvement based on industry 
best practices. We will also provide assistance with GASB standards implementation and other 
accounting questions throughout the year. Routine phone calls and questions are included in our audit 
services. We encourage you to call us with questions when they come up. 
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Segmentation of the engagement 
We have a proven audit approach that is tailored to the County and includes 10 work segments of the 
audit. Those segments, along with the anticipated audit procedures for each segment, have been taken 
one step further and customized for the County and are discussed below. 
 
1. Engagement planning and administration 
• Prepare client information forms, obtain signed engagement letters and complete company 

independence procedures 
• Review previous audit reports and internal control reports 
• Prepare memorandum regarding overall County operations for permanent file records 
• Complete staffing and scheduling summary 
• Hold planning conference with engagement partner and in-charge auditors 
• Hold planning and progress conferences with the County as needed 
• Obtain all documents and information required for permanent file 
• Read minutes of the County Board meetings 
• Perform various testing of compliance with laws and regulations 
• Develop and approve audit programs 
• Accumulate points to be included in management letter and draft letter 
• Review working papers for completeness 
• Undergo partner-level working paper reviews 
• Hold exit conference with key County personnel 
• Make presentation to the Finance Committee and/or the County Board 
 
2. Risk assessment and internal controls 
• Perform entity-wide risk assessment procedures 
• Conduct fraud interviews 
• Determine major transaction cycles 
• Perform evaluations of internal controls over major transaction cycles 
• Complete information technology risk assessment 
• Test internal controls as applicable 
• Determine reliance on internal controls and resulting substantive audit procedures 
 
3. Cash and investments 
• Review ledger account entries and compare cash account balances 
• Confirm year-end cash and investment balances with depositories 
• Obtain bank reconciliations and substantiate reconciling items 
• Substantiate cash cut-offs and interbank transfers 
• Test investment transactions and interest earned 
• Test market values of applicable investments 
• Audit financial statement disclosures 
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4. Revenue 
• Compare revenues to prior-year actual, current budget, or other expectations 
• Analyze accounts with significant variations 
• Confirm or otherwise validate accounts receivable and taxes receivable 
• Confirm and reconcile state aids 
• Reconcile other revenues to claims and invoices filed 
• Perform a search for unrecorded receivables 
• Review functional classifications of revenues for government-wide  

financial statements 
• Test capital contributions 
• Analyze allowances for uncollectibles 
 
5. Expenditures 
• Compare expenditures to prior years, budgeted amounts or other expectations 
• Analyze accounts with significant variations 
• Review accounts payable listings, determine proper cut-offs and test for  

unrecorded liabilities 
• Validate prepaid items 
• Verify vested compensated absence liabilities 
• Test insurance-related accruals or IBNRs 
• Determine the appropriateness of other liability accounts, including accrued payrolls and related 

withholdings, retainages, and other liabilities 
• Test pension information and disclosures 
• Test other post-employment liabilities 
 
6. Property 
• Obtain capitalization policy for capital assets and infrastructure 
• Obtain summary schedules of capital assets and infrastructure, including additions, retirements, and 

accumulated depreciation 
• Test capital assets and infrastructure additions, deletions, and depreciation/amortization calculations 
 
7. Inventories 
• Observe physical inventories, if material 
• Test pricing, quantities and extensions of final inventories 
 
8. Financing/equity 
• Verify bond and note balances owed 
• Obtain information on new issues, if any 
• Trace transactions to the general ledger 
• Re-compute interest expense 
• Test capital leases and accumulate information for the related disclosures 
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Determine the nature and appropriateness of net position and fund balance categories9. Financial 
reporting 
• Ascertain that all items of audit significance contained in the minutes have been considered and 

cross-referenced to the work papers 
• Obtain a working trial balance 
• Propose adjusting entries and obtain adjusted trial balance 
• Draft the annual comprehensive financial report and other deliverables 
• Perform subsequent events review to the date of completion of fieldwork 
• Obtain management and attorney representation letters 
• Finalize required reports 
 
10. Single audit 
• Obtain a schedule of federal awards and review for accuracy and completeness 
• Obtain a summary schedule of prior audit findings 
• Determine major federal grant programs 
• Review compliance requirements for major federal grants 
• Test the County’s internal control over compliance requirements that could have a direct and material 

effect on major programs 
• Test compliance with laws and regulations governing the County’s major federal grants 
• Draft required single audit reports 
• Draft schedule of findings and questioned costs 
• Obtain responses to findings and the corrective action plan from the County, if needed 
• Assist the County with completion and submission of the Data Collection Form after the County’s 

review 
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BREAKDOWN OF HOURS BY PHASE AND STAFF LEVEL 

Proposed Segment * Partner 
Senior Mgr / 

Manager Senior 
Staff &  
Admin Totals 

Planning & 
administration           24           24           28           24         100 

Risk assessment and 
internal controls           12            18           32           32           94 

Cash and investments             8            15           24           32           79 

Revenues           10            20           54           54         138 

Expenditures           10            20           54           54         138 

Capital assets             6            12           24           26           68 

Financing/equity             6            10           20           24           60 

Financial reporting           12            24           28           24           88 

Single audit           10            16           50           50          126 

Total hours           98          159         314         320          891 

* Hours are inclusive of time required to complete the Circuit Clerk, Forest Preserve, E-911 Board, and 
Public Building Commission audits. 
 
Sample sizes and statistical sampling 
We plan to use audit sampling throughout phases of our audit because we believe this allows us to 
perform an audit that is more cost beneficial to our clients. We have identified the following audit sampling 
tests that may be used on the County’s audit. They include: 
 
• Substantive tests of details of balance sheet accounts 
• Tests of controls 
• Tests of compliance with laws and regulations 

 
After reviewing and evaluating the County’s internal controls, we will decide the internal control 
procedures we intend to test. We will set the expected error rate, audit risk, and tolerable error rate 
parameters to determine the sample size we will generate. We may perform these procedures in the 
following areas: 
 
• Cash receipts 
• Cash disbursements 
• Payroll 
• Journal entries 
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We also plan to use audit sampling to perform substantive tests of certain balance sheet accounts, 
including accounts receivable and recorded vouchers payable. Our firm has customized statistical 
sampling tools that are in full compliance with all professional standards. 
 
Use of specialized audit software 
Our approach to computer auditing encompasses two distinct activities: the systematic review and 
computer-assisted audit procedures. 
 
The first activity represents the basis for our evaluation of internal controls in a computer environment. 
Our understanding of your EDP organization and system can assist management in evaluating the 
effectiveness and efficiency of program operations. Our approach to computer auditing enables our 
auditors to identify information regarding the strengths and weaknesses of the various systems, which will 
be used to design our audit program. 
 
Audit work activities associated with the systematic review include: 
 

 
The second activity included in our computer audit approach permits us to use the information gathered 
during the system review to enhance our audit procedures. 
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Embedding innovation to add efficiencies and insight for the County 
 
A key factor in your success is an ability to quickly adapt to new innovations and adjust to changing 
regulatory environments. Our firm’s investment in technology is an investment in helping you do both. 
 

TECHNOLOGIES IMPROVE THE COUNTY’S EXPERIENCE 
The County, not Baker Tilly, is the true beneficiary of our technology investments. These technologies increase the 

value we deliver to you as our client because they improve the way we work. 
 
Powering the County’s engagement with technology tools 
The County will receive a range of technology tools, as detailed below, that will infuse efficiencies and 
value into the engagement. 
 
  Benefits to the County 

Assurance The County will receive an exceptional work product with industry-specialized 
templates and content. 

Research The County can expect us to stay up to date on relevant accounting 
pronouncements — and how we can apply them for your organization. 

Secure 
collaboration 

The County can expect secure and seamless collaboration, visual presentations 
and remote check-ins. 

YOUR ORGANIZATION WILL EXPERIENCE EFFICIENCIES AND IMPROVED PROCESSES. 
The County will benefit from your technology innovations 

 
Analytical procedures 
Analytical procedures may range from simple comparisons to complex models involving many 
relationships and elements of data. Generally accepted auditing standards require analytical procedures 
in all audits of financial statements. 
 
Our analytical procedures are performed at three points during the audit process — during planning as a 
tool to assess risk, during fieldwork as a substantive test of account balances and transactions, and 
during the final review of the financial statements to evaluate overall financial presentation and disclosure. 
 
They are performed during our planning to help us determine where we might need to focus additional 
attention.  
 
Analytical procedures are performed as a substantive test using the County’s trial balance and budget 
report before audit entries. In-charge auditors review the current-year information and compare it to prior-
year actual amounts, the current budget and other expected results. Variances to our expectations — 
figures that exceed a predetermined threshold level, both from a percentage and dollar amount 
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perspective — are highlighted for further investigation. This investigation includes reviewing detailed 
transactions, vouching a sample of transactions, discussions with management and validation 
techniques. Explanations of variances are documented in our file. The results are used to determine the 
extent of any additional audit testing.  
 
The final analytical review takes place after all audit entries are posted during the preparation of the 
financial statements. Variances in financial statement line items are analyzed to evaluate the consistency 
of financial statement presentation and disclosures. 
 
Understanding the County’s internal control structure 
Our audit process stresses the importance of evaluating internal controls, especially under the risk 
assessment standards. We perform a thorough evaluation of your internal controls’ effectiveness to 
perform risk assessments and design a risk-based audit program. 
 
During preliminary work, we will build and, in subsequent years, update our understanding of your internal 
controls and evaluate and test internal controls over the significant accounting and reporting systems of 
the County. These evaluations will enable us to determine how much reliance we can place upon the 
systems for audit purposes and the amount of systems testing and account verification work required. 
 
In addition, all significant suggestions, questions or other comments resulting from these evaluations will 
be discussed with appropriate personnel. 
 
After we have evaluated the internal controls, we will test the flow of data through the systems to 
determine: 
 
• Whether the data actually follows the prescribed procedures and controls within the system 
• The degree of clerical accuracy achieved in recording and summarizing the data 
 
Compliance testing approach 
Since the County is required to have a single audit, the audit scope regarding compliance with laws and 
regulations is substantially broader than a standard audit conducted according to GAAS. We have 
developed our own approach to satisfying the single audit and GAAS requirements. 
 
Uniform Guidance requires we test for compliance with laws and regulations that could have a material 
effect on the allowability of program expenditures. Therefore, we will test financial transactions as well as 
specific program requirements. 
 
After determining which federal programs are major, we will develop the approach to test a specific 
program. We know certain programs incur administrative costs, consisting primarily of salaries, wages, 
and fringe benefits. We will randomly select a representative sample of payroll costs to test for these 
programs. Our sample will be derived from the personnel assigned to that particular program. 
 
Other programs, however, do not have substantial personnel costs. Those programs involve purchasing 
goods or services from outside sources, including vendors and not-for-profit agencies. Our approach to 
these types of programs would be to select a representative sample of charges to that program from the 
County’s transaction history reports. 
 
For programs that involve both significant personnel costs and costs from outside sources, our approach 
would combine the procedures identified above. 
 
Because we also are testing for compliance with administrative laws and regulations. We will be testing 
representative samples from each major program. Most of our testing will involve the eligibility of persons 
assisted by that program. We will select case files to review from the County’s records of clients served 
during the period. 
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OMB’s Compliance Supplement identifies 12 significant areas that may apply to each federal award 
subject to the 6-requirement mandate. We have developed our own work programs tailored for the 
County. 

Audit conducted according to GAAS requirements 
Our dedicated team is immersed in the industry, with substantial knowledge of various laws and 
regulations dealing with government accounting, budgeting, financing and reporting. We developed our 
own audit work program with this knowledge, which we will use in the audit. The work program covers 
such areas as: 
 
• Authorization of depositories and types of allowable investments 
• Arbitrage compliance and rebate requirements 
• Budgeting procedures and reporting requirements 
• Restrictions on expenditures and matching requirements 
• Taxing and debt limits 
 
In addition, we will obtain information from the management of the County on other significant laws and 
regulations that could materially affect the basic financial statements in the event of noncompliance. 

Audit conducted according to single audit requirements and GAO standards 
These standards require we perform additional tests to provide reasonable assurance that federal and 
state award programs comply with laws and regulations governing those programs. We will test all major 
federal programs and non-major program transactions selected for other audit purposes. 
 
We will use the following documents for guidance in determining the laws and regulations applicable to 
the County’s federal award programs: 
 
• The Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 
• GAO Government Auditing Standards 
• OMB Compliance Supplement 
• Uniform Guidance for Federal Awards 
• Code of Federal Regulations 
• Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance 
 
As a practical matter, most of the significant laws and regulations that affect the County’s single audit 
programs can be found in OMB’s Compliance Supplement. 
 
For any major federal program not listed in the Compliance Supplement, we will determine the significant 
compliance requirements by reading the applicable statutes grant agreements and policy manuals. We 
also will contact federal and state agencies for technical assistance if deemed necessary. 
 
Approach to be taken in drawing audit samples for purposes of tests of compliance 
Our testing of compliance and internal control over compliance will follow the requirements of the AICPA 
sampling guidance. Each major program tested during the single audit will have samples pulled for each 
applicable compliance requirement. The sample sizes will depend on the number of transactions in the 
population. 
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Sample sizes and statistical sampling 
Baker Tilly uses audit sampling throughout phases of our audit because we believe this allows us to 
perform an audit that is more cost beneficial to our clients. We have identified the following audit sampling 
tests that may be used on the County’s audit. They include: 
 
• Substantive tests of details of balance sheet accounts 
• Tests of controls 
• Tests of compliance with laws and regulations 
 
After we have reviewed and evaluated the County’s internal controls, we will make decisions on the 
internal control procedures we intend to test. We will set parameters regarding the expected error rate, 
audit risk, and tolerable error rate in order to determine the sample size we will generate. We may 
perform these procedures in the following areas: 
 
• Cash receipts 
• Cash disbursements 
• Payroll 
• Journal entries 
 
We also plan to use audit sampling to perform substantive tests of certain balance sheet accounts, 
including accounts receivable and recorded accounts payable. Our firm has customized statistical 
sampling tools that are in full compliance with all professional standards. 
 
We expect to use the following sample ranges; however, these may increase or decrease based on the 
results of our understanding of the County’s internal controls: 
 

Tests of controls Sample ranges 

Cash disbursements/expenditures 20–80 documents 

Payroll 20–80 documents 
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7. Identification of anticipated potential audit problems  
The proposal should identify and describe any potential audit problems, the Proposer’s approach to resolving 
these problems, and any special assistance that will be requested of the County.  

Resolving audit issues quickly and efficiently 
Our firm emphasizes immediate and efficient issue resolution in every audit. The County’s management 
will be kept up to date on the status of any open items throughout the engagement, and based on your 
preference, we will schedule recurring meetings to share our progress and any concerns related to audit 
execution, reporting or deadlines. You will be notified of all issues during fieldwork, and we will resolve all 
major issues prior to leaving your work site. Our team members commit to meeting with The County and 
discussing deficiencies at least four weeks before the final audit report’s release. 
  
We do not anticipate any potential audit problems. However, should there be any issues, the approach 
we generally take is highlighted below. 

 
BAKER TILLY'S STREAMLINED, EFFICIENT APPROACH FOR RESOLVING AUDIT ISSUES 

The County will have direct access to our engagement team leaders to quickly resolve issues in your audit. 
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8. License to practice in Illinois  
An affirmative statement should be included that the Proposer and all assigned key professional staff are properly 
licensed to practice in Illinois. The statement should also include the length of time the Proposer has been in 
business in the State of Illinois.  

Baker Tilly US, LLP affirms that we are authorized and licensed to transact business in the state of 
Illinois.  Baker Tilly has been in business since 1930.   
 
Baker Tilly affirms that all assigned staff are properly licensed to practice in the state of Illinois. 
 
9. Report format  

The proposal should include several sample pages of financial statements and footnotes from a firm‐prepared 
ACFR for another governmental client, so that the County can review the general format and design. An entire 
ACFR is not necessary. 

The pages contained in Appendix B represent sample sections from the 2021 Kane County, IL ACFR and 
the 2021 DuPage County, IL ACFR, both prepared by Baker Tilly.   
 
Complete ACFRs for Kane County, IL and DuPage County, IL are available for review on the following 
sites: 
 
Kane County, IL 2021 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
 
DuPage County Annual Audited Financial Statements (ACFR) 
 
 
 

https://www.countyofkane.org/Documents/Finance%20Department/Annual%20Comprehensive%20Financial%20Reports/FY21%20Annual%20Comprehensive%20Financial%20Report.pdf
https://www.dupagecounty.gov/Finance/Docs/2021/CAFR/66674/
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5.0 Cost proposal  
The cost proposal should contain all pricing information relative to performing the audit engagement as described 
in this request for proposal on a not-to-exceed basis for fiscal year ending December 31, 2022, along with an 
option for renewal for years 2023 through 2026 (Exhibit 1). The total all‐inclusive not to exceed maximum price 
proposal is to include all direct and indirect costs, including all out‐of‐pocket expenses. The cost of general 
inquires throughout the year are also to be included. The proposed hourly billing rates shall include all expenses. 
The County shall not separately reimburse for any travel, per diem, meals, photocopying, phone bills or any other 
incidental expenses of the audit.  
 
Adjustment in the contract price may be negotiated between the Auditor and the County if the cost or the time 
required to perform the audit is significantly increased pursuant to a change in scope requested by the County or 
required by State and/or Federal laws or policies 

Value means more than simply checking boxes and meeting your 
requirements. Value means services that lead to meaningful insights and 
that give the County and your stakeholders peace of mind. 

Delivering a professional fee estimate for the County 
We are excited about the opportunity to continue to work with the County and have prepared the below 
fee estimate to meet the County’s needs and objectives. Our fees allow for thorough and insightful advice 
from experienced professionals without unnecessary add-on charges. 
 
Building a long-term relationship with the County 
As a sign of our commitment to building a lasting relationship, the County will not be billed for first-year 
start-up costs or transition time. We will invest approximately 150 hours (approximately $37,300) in the 
start-up transition phase of the engagement.   
 
Avoiding surprises and a nickel-and-dime billing approach 
Routine phone calls, emails and quick consultations are included in the County’s fee estimate. We do not 
believe in billing for every question, comment or concern, and we encourage you to discuss any unusual 
transactions with us to gain efficiencies for year-end. 
  
If a substantial issue arises that surpasses the resolution available from a brief consultation via routine 
phone calls, your engagement team members will work with you to determine what assistance is required 
and arrange an appropriate fee at that time. We will always tell you if the assistance you need is out of 
scope, and we never perform additional work without approval. 
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Detailing our assumptions 
Our estimate is based on the below assumptions. Should any of these change during the engagement, 
we will contact the County immediately and prepare a change order detailing the new requirements and 
corresponding budget impact. We will not perform additional work without the County’s approval. 
  
The engagement assumptions include: 
• Adequate support, preparedness and cooperation from the County’s management 
• Organized books and records 
• Fees based on current assurance standards 
• No major scope of organizational changes 
 
Supporting you with our value-for-fees approach 
We will provide the highest quality service for a fair and reasonable fee. Below is an overview of our 
value-for-fees approach and how it benefits you.  
 

 
COMMITMENT TO VALUE FOR FEES 

The County can expect exceptional service paired with a fair, competitive fee arrangement that allows us to deliver 
continuous value throughout our relationship. 
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Please review the price proposal forms on the following pages. 
 
Important note regarding the ACFR fees: 
For the implementation of most GASB pronouncements, cost is included within the not-to-exceed fee 
amount. For GASB 87, Leases, since the scope of additional procedures and assistance required to be 
completed is highly variable based on the nature and volume of the County's lease operations, we are 
unable to provide an accurate fee for this additional work. However, once the scope of leases work is 
identified, we will provide a not-to-exceed cost for the expanded scope of work. 
 
Important note regarding the Single Audit Report fees: 
Fee quoted assumes testing of two major federal programs. 
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6.0 FISCAL YEAR 2022 IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

6.0 Fiscal year 2022 implementation plan 
Please provide an overview of your implementation methodology and timeline, including possible transitional 
start-up audit work, preliminary fieldwork, audit fieldwork, draft reports, final audit reports, and board presentation. 
The County would like present the final ACFR, Board Communication, etc. to the County Board in June on 2022, 
if at all possible. 

The County will receive value and a fresh perspective from day one. Our 
smooth transition will strengthen the foundation of a long-term relationship 
built upon trust and communication. 

 
Moving forward with next steps 
If our proposal aligns with your expectations and you select Baker Tilly as the County’s provider, here is 
what you can expect next: 
  
1. Provide the County with an engagement letter 

2. Co-develop a transition timeline to onboard the County as our client 

3. Schedule a kickoff call to introduce your Value Architects™ 

4. Create a customized client service plan based on your needs and begin the engagement 

SMOOTH, BENEFICIAL TRANSITION PROCESS 
We have experience transitioning similar companies, meaning we can drive an effective and efficient onboarding 

process. 
 
We are excited about the opportunity to serve you. Should the County need additional information for the 
decision-making process, we would be happy to schedule a time to discuss your questions or feedback 
and how our qualifications position us to best meet your needs. 
 
Welcoming DeKalb County as our client 
Our team is confident we can drive an effective engagement and deliver value to the County from day 
one. As we collaborate with you for the first time, our fresh perspective can help identify relevant 
opportunities to improve operational efficiencies and provide insights to benefit your business. 
  
Leading a smooth transition 
We have experience transitioning similar clients — meaning we can deliver an efficient process that 
requires only a modest amount of time from your management team. You will not need to spend time 
explaining your business to us because your Value Architects™ are knowledgeable about the 
circumstances that impact public sector operations. 
 
Below is an overview of our customized process to successfully welcome the County as an audit client. 
We will co-develop an agreed-upon timeline at a pace that fits your needs and provide a secure location 
where the County can easily upload all data requested in our prepared-by-client list. 
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SUPPORTING A SMOOTH AND EFFICIENT TRANSITION PROCESS 
The County’s transition is the chance to build the foundation of our strong relationship and take an innovative approach 

to your work — incorporating what is currently working while making changes to areas that can be improved. 

  

Sign  
engagement letter 
• Prepare, provide 

and sign 
engagement letters 

Meet  
the team 

• Site visit (in person 
or remote) to plan 
the engagement 
and introduce team 
members 

• Finalize service 
approach and 
mutual timeline 

• Co-develop client 
service plan 

Provide  
transition 
checklist 

• Discuss and 
finalize transition 
checklist 

• DeKalb County 
determines which 
documents to 
provide and which 
documents are 
provided by the 
predecessor firm 

Complete  
transition 
activities 

• Review 
predecessor 
working papers 

• Document 
transition 
procedures as 
required by 
American Institute 
of Certified Public 
Accountant 
(AICPA) standards 

• Perform initial risk 
assessment 

1. 2. 3. 4. 
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Co-developing a timeline to meet the County’s deadlines 
Your time is valuable, and one significant way we will add value to the County is by delivering our 
services on time or ahead of schedule. 
  
Below is an overview of our customized approach to successfully provide audit services. While the 
timeline below is based on information provided in the RFP, we will collaborate with the key County 
personnel to co-develop an agreed-upon service timeline that meets your needs and timing 
requirements.  
  

  2022 2023 

ACTIVITY Dec Jan   Feb Mar   Apr May Jun   Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Kickoff, develop 
relationship 
expectations and 
planning 

                          

Transition procedures                           

Interim fieldwork                           

Year-end fieldwork                           

Audit conclusion 
(reporting and 
discussing audit 
results) 

                          

Feedback and idea 
sharing                           

Project management  
and communication                           

COMMITMENT TO SUCCESSFULLY DELIVER SERVICES TO MEET THE COUNTY’S REQUIREMENTS 
The County’s time is valuable. We will co-develop a timeline to provide the County services on time or ahead of schedule 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
. 
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Exceptions 
Please note any proposed modifications from the original proposal under a separate heading.   

Per RFP Section 4.17, we hereby take exception to the provisions detailed in the attached exceptions 
table. If selected, we will require the ability to propose additional terms and negotiate mutually acceptable 
revisions to these sections prior to executing a final contract. 
 
Exceptions to County of DeKalb, IL RFP 
 

Page 
No. 

Section/ 
Paragraph 

No. 
Proposed Revision 

5 2.4 

We propose to revise this section as follows: 
 
All working papers and reports must be retained, at the Outside Auditor’s 
expense, for a minimum of five years, unless the firm is notified in writing by 
the County of the need to extend the retention period. The Auditor will be 
required to make working papers available, upon request, to the County. 
 
In addition, the firm shall respond to the reasonable inquiries of successor 
auditors and allow successor auditors to review working papers relating to 
matters of continuing accounting significance. 
 

18 Q, Para. 1 

We propose to revise this section as follows: 
 
The Proposer shall procure and maintain for the duration of the Contract 
insurance against claims for injuries, persons, or damage to property which 
may arise from or in conjunction with the performance of work hereunder by 
the Proposer, his agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors. 
DeKalb County is to be listed as an additional insured on all policies, except 
for Professional Liability and Worker Compensation policies. Each insurance 
policy required shall have the County expressly endorsed onto the policy as a 
Cancellation Notice Recipient. Should any of the policies be cancelled before 
the expiration date thereof, notice will be delivered in accordance with the 
policy provisions. Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a Best’s rating of 
no less than A-, VII and licensed to do business in the State of Illinois. 
 

18 Q, Para. 7 (1) 

We propose to revise this section as follows: 
 
Commercial General Liability with coverage written on an “occurrence” basis 
and with limits no less than: 
a) General Aggregate: $2,000,000 
b) Bodily Injury & Property Damage: $2,000,000 per occurrence combined 
single limit 
c) Other Coverage’s: $2,000,000 or as otherwise approved or required by 
owner 
Coverages shall include: 
- Premises Operations 
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Page 
No. 

Section/ 
Paragraph 

No. 
Proposed Revision 

- Products/Completed Operations (to be maintained for five years following 
Final Payment) 
- Independent Contractors 
- Personal Injury (with Employment Exclusion deleted) 
- Broad Form Property Damage Endorsement 
- Blanket Contractual Liability 
- Bodily injury and property damage 
- “X”, “C”, and “U” exclusions shall be deleted. 
- Blasting exclusions shall be deleted if Work involves blasting. 
- ISO Additional Insured Endorsement CG2010 shall be provided. 

19 Q, Para. 7(3) 

We propose to revise this section as follows: 
 
Business Auto Liability with a combined single limit of liability for bodily injury 
and property damage of not less than $2,000,000 for vehicles owned, non-
owned, or rented. All employees must be included as insureds. ISO Business 
Auto Liability coverage form CA0001, Symbol 01 “Any Auto” shall be provided 
or equivalent. 
 

19 Q, Para. 7(4) 

We propose to delete this section entirely as it is not applicable to the 
services Proposer will be providing.  
 
Builders Risk Insurance. This insurance shall be written in completed value 
form, shall protect Contractor, Owner, and Engineer against “all risks” of direct 
physical loss to buildings, structures, equipment, and materials to be used in 
providing, performing, and completing the Work, including without limitation 
fire, extended coverage, vandalism and malicious mischief, sprinkler, leakage, 
flood, hydrostatic pressure, earth movement and collapse, and shall be 
designed for the circumstances that may affect the Work. 
 
This insurance shall be written with limits not less than the insurable value of 
the Work at completion. The insurable value shall include the aggregate value 
of all Owner-furnished equipment and materials to be constructed or installed 
by Contractor. 
 
This insurance shall include coverage while equipment or materials are in 
warehouses or storage areas, during installation, during testing, and after the 
Work is completed, but prior to Final Payment. This insurance shall include 
coverage while Owner is occupying or using all or any part of the Work prior to 
Final Payment without the need for the insurance company’s consent. 
 

19 Q, Para.7(5) 

We propose to delete this section entirely as it is not applicable to the 
services Proposer will be providing.  
 
Owner’s and Contractor’s Protective Liability Insurance. (Only on projects with 
exposure of $50,000.00 and up) Contractor, at its sole cost and expense, shall 
purchase this insurance in the names of Owner and Engineer for the period 
between the Commencement Date and Final Payment, with a combined single 
limit of liability for bodily injury and property damage of $5,000,000. 
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Page 
No. 

Section/ 
Paragraph 

No. 
Proposed Revision 

The named insureds for this insurance shall be the DeKalb County. DeKalb 
County, its officials, agents, employees, and volunteers are to be covered as 
additional insureds as respects: liability arising out of the Contractors works, 
including activities performed by or on behalf of the Contractor: products and 
completed operations of the contractor: premises owned, leased, or used by 
the Contractor: or automobiles owned, leased, hired, or borrowed by the 
contractor. The coverage shall contain no special limitations on the scope of 
protection afforded the County of DeKalb, its officials, agents, employees, and 
volunteers. The coverage afforded the Named OCP Insureds by this insurance 
shall be primary insurance for the Named OCP Insureds. If the Named OCP 
Insureds have other insurance which is applicable to the loss, such other 
insurance shall be on an excess or contingent basis. The amount of the 
insurance company’s liability under this policy of insurance shall not be 
reduced by the existence of such other insurance. This policy of insurance 
shall be specifically endorsed to provide such primary coverage for Owner and 
Engineer. 
 

20 Q, Para. 7(6) 

We propose to delete subsection c and d. 
  
Professional Liability Insurance. 
a) Limits not less than $1,000,000 each claim with respect to negligent acts, 
errors and omissions in connection with professional services to be provided 
under the contract, with a deductible not-to-exceed $50,000 without prior 
approval. 
b) If the policy is written on a claims-made form, the retroactive date must be 
equal to or preceding the effective date of the contract. In the event the policy 
is cancelled, non-renewed or switched to an occurrence form, the Contractor 
shall be required to purchase supplemental extending reporting period 
coverage for a period of not less than three (3) years. 
c) Provide a certified copy of actual policy for review. 
d) Required coverage (architect, engineer, surveyor, consultant): Professional 
liability insurance that provides indemnification and defense for injury or 
damage arising out of acts, errors, or omissions in providing the following 
professional services, but not limited to the following: 
                     i) Preparing, approving or failure to prepare or approve maps,  
                        drawings, opinions, report, surveys, change orders, designs or   
                        specifications; 
                     ii) Providing direction, instruction, supervision, inspection,  
                         engineering services or failing to provide them, if that is the  
                         primary cause of injury or damage. 
 

20 Q, Para. 8 

We propose to revise this section as follows: 
 
Verification of Coverage: The Proposer shall furnish with the County 
certificates of insurance naming the County, its officials, agents, employees, 
and volunteers as additional insureds, with the exception of Professional 
Liability and Workers Compensation policies and with original endorsements 
affecting coverage required by this clause. Certificates and endorsements for 
each insurance policy shall be signed by a person authorized by that insured 
to buying coverage on its behalf. The additional insured endorsements will be 
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Page 
No. 

Section/ 
Paragraph 

No. 
Proposed Revision 

on Insurance Service Office (ISO) forms: CG 201 or CG 2026 or equivalent. 
The County reserves the right to request fully certified copies of insurance 
policies and endorsements. 

21 Q, Para. 11 

We propose to revise this section as follows: 
 
Indemnity Hold Harmless Provision: To the fullest extent permitted by law, the 
Proposer hereby agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the County, 
its officials, agents and employees (each a “Covered Person”) against all 
injuries, deaths, losses, damages, claims, patent claims, suits, liabilities, 
judgments (including deficiencies and interest), costs and expenses which 
may in any way accrue are brought by third parties against the County, its 
officials, agents and employees to the extent such third party claim is finally 
determined to be arising in whole or in part or in consequence of the out of the 
fraudulent behavior or willful misconduct in performance of this work by the 
Proposer, its employees or subcontractors, or which may in any way result 
therefore, except that arising out of the sole legal cause of the County, its 
officials, agents or employees, and pay for all charges of attorneys and all 
costs and other expenses arising therefore or incurred in connection therewith, 
and, if any judgment, including any deficiency and interest, shall be rendered 
against the County, its officials, agents or employees, any such action, the 
Proposer shall, at its own expense, satisfy and discharge same. This 
indemnity hold harmless provision shall be applicable to any action or claim 
under this paragraph, and it shall also include any action of law or equity 
brought by any party against the County under federal or state law in an effort 
to set aside the contract. 
 
The Proposer expressly understands and agrees that any performance bond 
or insurance policies required by this contract, or otherwise provided by the 
Proposer shall in no way limit the responsibility to indemnify, keep, and save 
harmless and defend the member, its officials, agents, and employees as 
herein provided. 
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in compliance with AICPA independence 
requirements, County hereby releases Proposer, its subsidiaries and their 
present or former partners, principals, employees, officers and agents from, 
and acknowledges that such parties shall not be required to indemnify County 
or any Covered Person against, any costs, fees, expenses, damages and 
liabilities (including attorneys’ fees and all defense costs) relating to or arising 
as a result of the acts or omissions of County or any Covered Person.  
Furthermore, because of the importance of the information that County 
provides to Proposer with respect to Proposer’s ability to perform the services, 
County hereby releases Proposer and its present and former partners, 
principals, agents and employees from any liability, damages, fees, expenses 
and costs, including attorney's fees, relating to the services that arise from or 
relate to any information, including representations by management, provided 
by County, its personnel or agents, that is not complete, accurate or current. 
 
The liability (including attorney’s fees and all other costs) of Proposer and its 
present or former partners, principals, agents or employees related to any 
claim for damages relating to the services performed under this Contract shall 
not exceed the fees paid to Proposer for the portion of the work to which the 
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No. 

Section/ 
Paragraph 

No. 
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claim relates, except to the extent finally determined to have resulted from the 
willful misconduct or fraudulent behavior of Proposer relating to such services. 
This limitation of liability is intended to apply to the full extent allowed by law, 
regardless of the grounds or nature of any claim asserted, including the 
negligence of either party. Additionally, in no event shall either party be liable 
for any lost profits, lost business opportunity, lost data, consequential, special, 
incidental, exemplary or punitive damages, delays, interruptions, or viruses 
arising out of or related to this Contract even if the other party has been 
advised of the possibility of such damages. 
 

21 Q, Para. 12 

We propose to delete this section entirely as it is not applicable to the 
services Proposer will be providing.  
 
Safety/Loss Prevention Program Requirements: Successful Proposer will 
provide written confirmation that a safety/loss prevention program was in place 
at least 90 days prior to submitting the proposal. 
Evidence of completed employee safety training can be provided. 
 

 
 
 
  



 
  
 
 

 50 

 
 
 
  

 
Appendix A: 
Resumes 



 
  
 
 

 51 

  

PARTNER 

Michael E. Malatt, CPA 
Michael Malatt, partner with Baker Tilly, has been in the accounting industry since 2007. 

 

  Michael is a partner in the public sector practice group, specializing in 
accounting and audit services for state and local governmental entities, 
including counties, municipalities and school districts. 
 

Specific experience  
• Partner-in-charge of financial and compliance related audit 

engagements for state and local governmental agencies, including 
single audits in accordance with OMB Uniform Guidance Guidelines 

• Reviews and provides guidance for Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report, which have been awarded Certificates of Excellence in 
Financial Reporting from the Government Finance Officers Association 
and Association of School Business Officials 

• Provides strategic planning and implementation services for 
government units implementing Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) pronouncements 

• Leads operations reviews designed to improve the efficiency and 
effectiveness of business and finance operations 

• Performs internal control reviews of municipalities and school districts, 
providing recommendations on policies and procedures to strengthen 
internal controls 

• Performs a wide array of agreed-upon procedures, examination, and 
other compliance engagements to meet statutory and contractual 
requirements for governmental entities, including Circuit Clerk 
Guidelines, elected official transitions, and other procedures required 
by counties 

• Provides Tax Increment Financing compliance audits 
• Presents annual audit and financial results to governing bodies 
• Licensed CPA in Illinois 
 

Industry involvement 
• American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
• Illinois Governmental Finance Officers Association – Professional 

Education Committee 
• Government Finance Officers Association – Special Review Committee 
• Illinois CPA Society 
• Recipient of 2009 Illinois CPA Society Excel Award 
• Regularly speaks at industry conferences 

Baker Tilly US, LLP 
1301 W 22nd St 
Suite 400 
Oak Brook, IL 60523 
United States 
 
T: +1 (630) 645 6226 
michael.malatt@bakertilly.com 
 
bakertilly.com 

  

Education 
Master of Science in accountancy 
Bachelor of Business 
Administration in accountancy 
University of Notre Dame  
(Notre Dame, Indiana) 
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PARTNER 

Michael E. Malatt, CPA 
Page 2 

Continuing professional education 
• Yellow Book Update Webinar 
• Compliance Can be Exhilarating 
• Illinois Public Sector Training 
• Assurance Service Line Monitoring Updates 
• Independence Common and Current Items 
• Ethics for CPAs 
• Compliance Supplement and Single Audit Update 
• County CFO Roundtable 
• Public Sector GASB Technical Update 
• Public Sector Industry Developments 
• Public Sector Global Focus Methodology Training 
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PARTNER 

Jason K. Coyle, CPA 
Jason Coyle, partner with Baker Tilly, has been in the accounting industry since 1997. 

 

  Jason is the team leader of the public sector practice group in Illinois. He 
specializes in providing financial and compliance audits, as well as 
accounting services. Jason has extensive experience with municipalities, 
counties, special districts and school districts. 
 

Specific experience 
• Partner-in-charge of financial and compliance related audit 

engagements for local governmental entities 
• Routinely assists local governments with the implementation of new 

accounting standards issued by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board 

• Reviews and provides guidance for Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Reports, which have been awarded a “Certificate of Achievement for 
Excellence” in Financial Reporting 

• Performs internal control reviews of municipalities and school districts, 
providing recommendations on policies and procedures to strengthen 
internal controls 

• Provides Tax Incremental Financing compliance audits 
• Partner-in-charge of single audits in accordance with OMB Uniform 

Guidance Guidelines 
• Presents annual audit and financial results to various client boards 
• Leads operations reviews designed to improve the efficiency and 

effectiveness of business and finance operations 
• Member of the Special Review Committee of the GFOA which reviews 

financial statements submitted to the Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report program 

• Licensed CPA in Illinois 
 

Industry involvement 
• American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
• Government Finance Officers Association – Special Review Executive 

Committee 
• Illinois Governmental Finance Officers Association – Technical 

Accounting Review Committee 
 

Baker Tilly US, LLP 
1301 W 22nd St 
Suite 400 
Oak Brook, IL 60523 
United States 
 
T: +1 (630) 645 6205 
jason.coyle@bakertilly.com 
 
bakertilly.com 

  

Education 
Bachelor of Science in 
accountancy 
University of Illinois  
(Urbana-Champaign) 
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PARTNER 

Jason K. Coyle, CPA 
Page 2 

Industry involvement, continued 
• Illinois CPA Society – Governmental Executive Committee, Chair 
• Illinois Association of School Business Officials 
• Speaks at industry conferences 

 
Relevant continuing education 
• Government Accounting and Auditing Updates  
• Baker Tilly Municipal Audit Training Sessions  
• Government Finance Officers Association sponsored seminars  
• Single Audit Training Sessions  
• Frequent Frauds Found in Governments 
• GFOA and Illinois GFOA conferences 
• “Independence: Historical Insights and Today’s Rules” (Becker Professional Education) 
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SENIOR MANAGER 

Anna M. Wiszowaty, CPA, MSA 
Anna Wiszowaty is a senior manager with Baker Tilly’s public sector practice group. 

 

  Anna joined the firm in 2005. She specializes in providing audit services for 
counties, school districts, municipalities and other governmental entities. 
 

Specific experience  
• Manages financial and compliance-related audit engagements for 

counties, municipalities and school districts 
• Supervises work performed by multiple associates during auditing 

engagements 
• Prepares Annual Comprehensive Financial Report, which have been 

awarded Certificates of Excellence in Financial Reporting from the 
Government Finance Officers Association and Association of School 
Business Officials 

• Manages single audits in accordance with OMB Uniform Guidance for 
counties, municipalities and school districts 

• Assists clients with various accounting issues 
 

Industry involvement 
• American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
• Illinois CPA Society 
• Illinois Association of School Business Officials 

 

Continuing professional education 
• Baker Tilly Municipal Audit Training sessions 
• Numerous GASB Training Sessions 
• Governmental Auditing Standards Yellow Book Training 
• Performing Single Audits Under the Uniform Guidance for Federal 

Awards 
 

Baker Tilly US, LLP 
1301 W 22nd St 
Suite 400 
Oak Brook, IL 60523 
United States 
 
T: +1 (630) 645 6238 
anna.wiszowaty@bakertilly.com 
 
bakertilly.com 

  

Education 
Master of Science in accounting 
Bachelor of Science in accounting 
University of Illinois – Chicago 
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MANAGER 

Taryn M. Gille, CPA 
Taryn is a manager with Baker Tilly’s public sector group. 

 

  Taryn joined the firm in 2017. She specializes in serving state and local 
governmental entities, including counties, municipalities, and school 
districts.  
 

Specific experience  
• Manages and performs financial and compliance-related audit 

engagements for counties, municipalities and school districts 
• Supervises work performed by multiple associates during auditing 

engagements 
• Performs single audit testing for counties, municipalities, and school 

districts 
• Performs internal control testing following risk assessment procedures 
• Compiles workpapers necessary to execute audits 

 

Continuing professional education  
• Accounting and auditing updates training (Baker Tilly) 
• Public sector single audit training (Baker Tilly) 
• Valued business advisor training (Baker Tilly) 

 

Baker Tilly US, LLP 
1301 W 22nd St 
Suite 400 
Oak Brook, IL 60523 
United States 
 
T: +1 (630) 645 6247 
taryn.gille@bakertilly.com 
 
bakertilly.com 

  

Education 
Bachelor of Science in accounting 
Master of Science in accounting 
Bradley University (Peoria, Illinois) 
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SENIOR MANAGER 

Justin D. Hoagland, CPA  
Justin Hoagland, senior manager, has been with Baker Tilly since 2012. 

 

  Justin specializes in providing accounting and auditing services, as well as 
single audits, to state and local government entities. This includes counties, 
cities, villages, towns, and governmental agencies. 
 

Specific experience 
• Prepares financial statements for state and local governments 
• Extensive experience conducting and financial compliance audits 

around Illinois County Circuit Clerks in accordance with the AOIC’s 
Circuit Clerk Guidelines 

• Manages single audits of governmental units including cities, towns, 
villages and counties 

• Manages financial audits of governmental units including cities, towns, 
villages and counties 

• Performs audits and compilations of Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) 
districts 

• Assists clients with implementation of standards of the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 

• Performs agreed upon procedure engagements 
• Licensed CPA in Wisconsin 

 
Industry involvement 
• American Institute of Certified Public Accountant (AICPA) 
• Wisconsin Institute of Certified Public Accountants (WICPA) 

 
Continuing professional education 
• Public sector accounting and auditing updates sponsored by Baker Tilly 
• Audit Watch 
• Single audit training sessions 
• Wisconsin GFOA conferences and meetings 
 

Baker Tilly US, LLP 
4807 Innovate Lane  
Madison, WI 53718 
United States 
 
T: +1 (608) 240 2497 
justin.hoagland@bakertilly.com 
 
bakertilly.com 

  

Education 
Bachelor of Business 
Administration in accounting and 
finance  
University of Wisconsin–Madison 
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BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Component Unit
Governmental Business-Type Kane County 

Activities Activities Total Forest Preserve
Assets and Deferred 
Outflows of Resources

Assets
Cash and investments 348,855,769$    5,199,701$        354,055,470$    60,003,163$      
Restricted cash and investments 1,374,159          -                         1,374,159          -                         
Property tax receivable 58,259,387        -                         58,259,387        11,212,951        
Intergovernmental receivable 21,531,921        -                         21,531,921        2,206,801          
Interest receivable 815,732             16,015               831,747             14,714               
Loans receivable 937,009             -                         937,009             -                         
Other receivable 1,525,160          -                         1,525,160          373,581             
Prepaid items 392,747             -                         392,747             8,169                 
Deposits 20,000               -                         20,000               -                         
Advances to subrecipients 975,311             -                         975,311             -                         
Net pension asset - IMRF 19,953,001        -                         19,953,001        -                         
Capital assets not being depreciated 150,100,794      2,883,454          152,984,248      426,908,062      
Capital assets, being depreciated, net 502,021,747      -                         502,021,747      34,210,865        

Total Assets 1,106,762,737   8,099,170          1,114,861,907   534,938,306      

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows related to pensions 24,264,661        -                         24,264,661        681,963             
Deferred charge on refunding 592,729             -                         592,729             1,926,475          
Deferred outflows related to OPEB 2,737,881          -                         2,737,881          26,255               

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 27,595,271        -                         27,595,271        2,634,693          

Total Assets and Deferred                                
Outflows of Resources 1,134,358,008$ 8,099,170$        1,142,457,178$ 537,572,999$    

KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Net Position
As of November 30, 2021

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Component Unit
Governmental Business-Type Kane County 

Activities Activities Total Forest Preserve
Liabilities, Deferred Inflows
of Resources, and Net Position

Liabilities
Accounts payable 12,313,459$      39,087$             12,352,546$      2,515,335$        
Health claims payable 1,250,215          -                         1,250,215          -                         
Accrued payroll 7,417,563          5,090                 7,422,653          280,430             
Interest payable 838,412             -                         838,412             178,925             
Other payables -                         -                         -                         1,211,142          
Unearned revenue 43,122,851        -                         43,122,851        -                         
Deposits 443,931             -                         443,931             -                         
Long-Term Obligations, due within one year:

Bonds 2,690,000          -                         2,690,000          12,950,467        
Accrued claims and judgments 2,585,000          -                         2,585,000          -                         
Compensated absences 4,563,804          -                         4,563,804          83,434               

Long-Term Obligations, due in more than one year:
Bonds 51,261,458        -                         51,261,458        113,956,230      
Accrued claims and judgments 2,589,955          -                         2,589,955          -                         
Compensated absences 1,033,701          -                         1,033,701          333,734             
Long-term construction payable 25,331,449        -                         25,331,449        -                         
Net pension liability - IMRF -                         -                         -                         168,088             
Net pension liability - SLEP 10,466,223        -                         10,466,223        -                         
Total OPEB liability 10,645,485        -                         10,645,485        154,640             

Total Liabilities 176,553,506      44,177               176,597,683      131,832,425      

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property taxes levied for future periods 58,259,387        -                         58,259,387        23,114,507        
Deferred inflows related to pensions 42,662,705        -                         42,662,705        1,717,185          
Deferred inflows related to OPEB 5,518,606          -                         5,518,606          281,701             

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 106,440,698      -                         106,440,698      25,113,393        

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 579,707,558      2,883,454          582,591,012      351,804,436      
Restricted for:

Tort immunity 7,717,093          -                         7,717,093          135,569             
Environment and conservation 14,279               -                         14,279               -                         
Employee benefits 22,887,450        -                         22,887,450        388,964             
Public service and record maintenance 3,922,516          -                         3,922,516          -                         
Judicial purposes 3,445,206          -                         3,445,206          -                         
Public safety 6,126,492          -                         6,126,492          -                         
Highway projects 74,334,335        -                         74,334,335        -                         
Health and welfare 7,960,809          -                         7,960,809          -                         
County development 609,715             -                         609,715             -                         
Debt service 5,505,264          -                         5,505,264          4,046,181          
Capital projects 1,240,838          5,171,539          6,412,377          825,922             
Other purposes 915,394             -                         915,394             -                         
Permanent fund - nonspendable 1,150,000          -                         1,150,000          -                         

Unrestricted 135,826,855      -                         135,826,855      23,426,109        

Total Net Position 851,363,804      8,054,993          859,418,797      380,627,181      

Total Liabilities, Deferred                                  
Inflows of Resources, and Net Position 1,134,358,008$ 8,099,170$        1,142,457,178$ 537,572,999$    

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Fees, Fines Operating Capital
and Charges Grants and Grants and

Functions/Programs Expenses for Services Contributions Contributions

Primary Government:
Governmental Activities

General government 40,950,487$      6,784,951$        2,106,850$        600,000$           
Public safety 47,170,025        4,822,808          8,589,872          -                        
Highway and streets 32,722,009        492,226             27,254,741        23,611,958        
Judicial 24,877,613        9,012,711          2,509,706          -                        
Public services and records 14,990,521        7,462,608          8,450,417          63,583               
Health and welfare 14,889,719        1,364,711          7,630,151          -                        
Environment and conservation 618,744             65,241               52,608               -                        
Development, housing and economic 
development 19,179,867        1,959,195          17,255,645        -                        
Interest and fiscal charges 1,809,177          33,373               -                        -                        

Total governmental activities 197,208,162      31,997,824        73,849,990        24,275,541        

Business Type Activities
Solid waste 569,271             87,722               -                        -                        

Total business-type activities 569,271             87,722               -                        -                        

Total Primary Government 197,777,433$    32,085,546$      73,849,990$      24,275,541$      

Component Unit:
Forest Preserve District 16,752,627$      3,474,932$        642,821$           224,571$           

General revenues:
Taxes

Property tax
RTA sales tax
Other taxes

Intergovernmental - unrestricted
State income tax
State sales tax
Coronavirus Relief Fund
American Rescue Plan

Net investment income (loss)
Miscellaneous

Transfers

        Total general revenues and transfers

        Change in net position

Net position - beginning (as restated)

Net position - ending

                       Program Revenues                       

KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended November 30, 2021

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Component 
Unit

Governmental Business-type Kane County
Activities Activities Total Forest Preserve

(31,458,686)$    -$                      (31,458,686)$    -$                      
(33,757,345)      -                        (33,757,345)      -                        
18,636,916        -                        18,636,916        -                        

(13,355,196)      -                        (13,355,196)      -                        
986,087             -                        986,087             -                        

(5,894,857)        -                        (5,894,857)        -                        
(500,895)           (500,895)           -                        

34,973               -                        34,973               -                        
(1,775,804)        -                        (1,775,804)        -                        

(67,084,807)      -                        (67,084,807)      -                        

-                        (481,549)           (481,549)           -                        

-                        (481,549)           (481,549)           -                        

(67,084,807)      (481,549)           (67,566,356)      -                        

-                        -                        -                        (12,410,303)      

56,719,520        -                        56,719,520        23,172,513        
21,833,350        -                        21,833,350        -                        

9,049,816          -                        9,049,816          389,938             

7,956,075          -                        7,956,075          -                        
21,307,806        -                        21,307,806        -                        

5,771,358          -                        5,771,358          -                        
16,183,965        -                        16,183,965        -                        

(79,953)             (382)                  (80,335)             173,121             
969,549             -                        969,549             1,962,920          
(71,323)             71,323               -                        -                        

139,640,163      70,941               139,711,104      25,698,492        

72,555,356        (410,608)           72,144,748        13,288,189        

778,808,448      8,465,601          787,274,049      367,338,992      

851,363,804$    8,054,993$        859,418,797$    380,627,181$    

Primary Government

                    Changes in Net Position                
Net (Expense) Revenue and

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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General
American 

Rescue Plan Motor Fuel Tax
Transportation 

Sales Tax
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Assets
Cash and investments 88,739,941$      35,575,439$      40,942,049$      38,852,114$      
Restricted cash and investments -                        -                        -                        -                        
Property tax receivable 32,665,023        -                        -                        -                        
Intergovernmental receivable 9,134,909          -                        1,930,798          4,308,785          
Interest receivable 220,555             3,848                 112,012             106,641             
Loans receivable -                        -                        -                        -                        
Other receivables 420,681             -                        1,633                 -                        
Prepaid items 39,468               -                        -                        -                        
Deposits 20,000               -                        -                        -                        
Advances to subrecipients -                        -                        -                        -                        
Due from other funds 231,864             -                        -                        -                        

Total Assets 131,472,441$    35,579,287$      42,986,492$      43,267,540$      

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows

of Resources, and Fund Balances

Liabilities
Accounts payable 2,350,554$        29,532$             422,409$           784,948$           
Accrued payroll 4,036,064          6,152                 148,326             -                        
Due to other funds 676,903             -                        -                        -                        
Unearned revenue -                        35,522,556        -                        -                        
Deposits payable -                        -                        -                        -                        

Total Liabilities 7,063,521          35,558,240        570,735             784,948             

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Property taxes levied for future periods 32,665,023        -                        -                        -                        
Unavailable revenue 2,568,902          1                        46,337               1,534,370          

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 35,233,925        1                        46,337               1,534,370          

Fund Balances
Nonspendable 39,468               -                        -                        -                        
Restricted -                        -                        42,369,420        -                        
Committed 5,236,418          -                        -                        37,891,343        
Assigned 32,136,215        21,046               -                        3,056,879          
Unassigned 51,762,894        -                        -                        -                        

Total Fund Balances 89,174,995        21,046               42,369,420        40,948,222        

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, 
and Fund Balances 131,472,441$    35,579,287$      42,986,492$      43,267,540$      

Major Funds

KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet

As of November 30, 2021

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Nonmajor 
Governmental

Total 
Governmental

Funds Funds

137,329,110$    341,438,653$    
1,374,159          1,374,159          

25,594,364        58,259,387        
6,157,429          21,531,921        

349,475             792,531             
937,009             937,009             

1,102,846          1,525,160          
281,106             320,574             

-                        20,000               
975,311             975,311             
968,010             1,199,874          

175,068,819$    428,374,579$    

7,035,840$        10,623,283$      
3,225,874          7,416,416          
1,199,874          1,876,777          
7,600,295          43,122,851        

443,931             443,931             

19,505,814        63,483,258        

25,594,364        58,259,387        
1,599,410          5,749,020          

27,193,774        64,008,407        

2,406,417          2,445,885          
77,512,233        119,881,653      

9,106,899          52,234,660        
40,554,846        75,768,986        
(1,211,164)        50,551,730        

128,369,231      300,882,914      

175,068,819$    428,374,579$    

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
42



Total fund balances - governmental funds 300,882,914$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position 
are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds:

Capital assets 910,392,040$    
Accumulated depreciation (258,269,499)     

652,122,541      
The deferred amount on refunding of bonds do not require the use of current
financial resources and therefore are not reported as deferred outflows of 
resources in governmental funds. 592,729             

The net pension asset does not require the use of current financial resources
and therefore is not reported in the governmental funds. 19,953,001        

Some liabilities reported in the Statement of Net Position do not require the use of 
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as liabilities in 
governmental funds. These activities consist of:

Interest payable on debt (838,412)            
General obligation bonds and debt certificates (53,951,458)       
Accrued claims and judgments (5,174,955)         
Net pension liability (10,466,223)       
Total other postemployment benefits liability (10,645,485)       
Long-term construction payable (25,331,449)       
Compensated absences (5,597,505)         

(112,005,487)     

Revenues collected after the County's availability period are reported as deferred 
inflows of resources in governmental funds, however, these amounts have been 
reported as revenues in the Statement of Activities. 5,749,020          

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current
financial resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. 24,264,661        

Deferred outflows of resources related to other postemployment benefits do not 
relate to current financial resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. 2,737,881          

Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current 
financial resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. (42,662,705)       

Deferred inflows of resources related to other postemployment benefits do not 
relate to current financial resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. (5,518,606)         

Internal services funds are reported in the Statement of Net Position as 
governmental activities. 5,247,855          

Net position of governmental activities 851,363,804$    

KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Reconciliation of Governmental Funds Balance Sheet
to Statement of Net Position

As of November 30, 2021

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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General
American 

Rescue Plan Motor Fuel Tax
Transportation 

Sales Tax
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Revenues
Property taxes 32,171,910$      -$                      -$                      -$                      
Other taxes 4,601,566          -                        11,937,455        16,138,433        
Licenses and permits 1,340,134          -                        -                        -                        
Grants 626,818             16,183,965        5,759,635          -                        
Intergovernmental 31,419,722        -                        -                        -                        
Fines 3,532,677          -                        -                        -                        
Charges for services 13,260,551        -                        -                        -                        
Reimbursements 8,039,247          -                        -                        2,928,457          
Net investment income (loss) (52,102)             21,047               (7,522)               (12,644)             
Miscellaneous 279,867             -                        -                        -                        

Total Revenues 95,220,390        16,205,012        17,689,568        19,054,246        

Expenditures
Current:

General government 14,641,429        10,932,057        -                        -                        
Public safety 38,343,856        -                        -                        -                        
Highways and streets -                        -                        5,050,144          3,607,579          
Judicial 17,342,000        -                        -                        -                        
Public services and records 6,256,004          -                        -                        -                        
Health and welfare -                        -                        -                        -                        
Environment and conservation 494,965             -                        -                        -                        
Development, housing and   
  economic development 1,304,041          -                        -                        -                        

Debt Service
Principal -                        -                        -                        -                        
Interest and fiscal charges -                        -                        -                        -                        

Capital outlay 472,856             -                        34,018               8,478,622          

Total Expenditures 78,855,151        10,932,057        5,084,162          12,086,201        

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues                
Over Expenditures 16,365,239        5,272,955          12,605,406        6,968,045          

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Insurance recovery -                        -                        -                        -                        
Transfers in 12,908,097        -                        -                        1,181,400          
Principal on bonds sold -                        -                        -                        -                        
Payments to refunding escrow -                        -                        -                        -                        
Transfers out (21,674,021)      (5,251,909)        (108,698)           -                        

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (8,765,924)        (5,251,909)        (108,698)           1,181,400          

Net Change in Fund Balances 7,599,315          21,046               12,496,708        8,149,445          

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year (as restated) 81,575,680        -                        29,872,712        32,798,777        

Fund Balances, End of Year 89,174,995$      21,046$             42,369,420$      40,948,222$      

Major Funds

KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Governmental Funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

For the Year Ended November 30, 2021

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Nonmajor 
Governmental

Total 
Governmental

Funds Funds

25,243,689$      57,415,599$      
12,351,251        45,028,705        

1,761,029          3,101,163          
40,775,175        63,345,593        

-                        31,419,722        
1,058,106          4,590,783          

13,043,431        26,303,982        
3,460,193          14,427,897        

(46,719)             (97,940)             
2,677,838          2,957,705          

100,323,993      248,493,209      

19,616,464        45,189,950        
6,427,086          44,770,942        

16,611,405        25,269,128        
7,578,552          24,920,552        
8,625,425          14,881,429        

15,518,758        15,518,758        
101,934             596,899             

17,883,585        19,187,626        

6,555,000          6,555,000          
2,013,796          2,013,796          

15,044,334        24,029,830        

115,976,339      222,933,910      

(15,652,346)      25,559,299        

153,447             153,447             
19,741,243        33,830,740        

9,045,000          9,045,000          
(8,995,000)        (8,995,000)        
(6,867,435)        (33,902,063)      

13,077,255        132,124             

(2,575,091)        25,691,423        

130,944,322      275,191,491      

128,369,231$    300,882,914$    

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Net change in total governmental fund balances 25,691,423$  

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
are different because:

Governmental funds report purchases of capital assets as expenditures while
governmental activities report depreciation expense to allocate those 
expenditures over the life of the assets.

Capital expenditures 22,478,333$      
Depreciation (14,871,854)       
Net book value of assets retired and transferred (988,860)            

Capital expenditures in excess of depreciation 6,617,619      

Capital assets transferred to the County are recorded as capital contributions in 
the Statement of Activities, but do not require the use of current financial resources
and are therefore not reported in the governmental funds. 21,510,135    

Receivables not currently available are reported as revenue when collected
or currently available in the fund financial statements but are recognized as 
revenue when earned in the government-wide financial statements. (966,742)       

Some expenses in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the 
governmental funds. 

Decrease in accrued interest on debt 119,257             
Decrease in long-term construction payable 1,783,897          
Increase in accrued claims and judgments (1,116,617)         
Increase in net pension asset 19,953,001        
Decrease in net pension liability 10,314,307        
Increase in total other postemployment liability (26,563)              
Increase in deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 2,017,525          
Decrease in deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB (479,776)            
Increase in deferred inflows of resources related to pensions (20,153,748)       
Decrease in deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 739,938             
Decrease in compensated absences 840,148             
Amortization of bond premium 249,558             
Amortization of deferred amount on refunding (212,696)            

14,028,231    

Debt issued provides current financial resources to governmental funds, but 
issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. 
Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but 
the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.

Principal on bonds sold (9,045,000)         
Bond principal repaid 6,555,000          

(2,490,000)    

Current refundings of bond issuances are reported as an other financing use in
the governmental funds. However, current refundings are considered a change
in long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. 8,995,000      

Internal service funds are used by management to charge self insurance costs
to individual funds. The change in net position of the internal service fund is reported
with governmental activities. (830,310)       

Change in net position of governmental activities 72,555,356$  

KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Reconciliation of Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances of Governmental Funds to Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended November 30, 2021

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds

As of November 30, 2021

Enterprise 
Surcharge

Enterprise 
General Internal Service

Fund Fund Total Fund
Assets

Current Assets:
Cash and investments 5,199,701$        -$                      5,199,701$        7,417,116$        
Prepaid items -                        -                        -                        72,173               
Interest receivable 16,015               -                        16,015               23,201               
Due from other funds -                        -                        -                        676,903             

Total Current Assets 5,215,716          -                        5,215,716          8,189,393          

Noncurrent Assets:
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land -                        2,883,454          2,883,454          -                        
Capital assets being depreciated

Vehicles 32,287               -                        32,287               -                        
Accumulated depreciation (32,287)             -                        (32,287)             -                        

Total Noncurrent Assets -                        2,883,454          2,883,454          -                        

Total Assets 5,215,716$        2,883,454$        8,099,170$        8,189,393$        

Liabilities and Net Position

Liabilities
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable 39,087$             -$                      39,087$             1,690,176$        
Health claims payable -                        -                        -                        1,250,215          
Accrued payroll 5,090                 -                        5,090                 1,147                 

Total Liabilities 44,177               -                        44,177               2,941,538          

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets -                        2,883,454          2,883,454          -                        
Restricted for capital projects 5,171,539          -                        5,171,539          -                        
Unrestricted net position -                        -                        -                        5,247,855          

Total Net Position 5,171,539          2,883,454          8,054,993          5,247,855          

Total Liabilities and Net Position 5,215,716$        2,883,454$        8,099,170$        8,189,393$        

Enterprise Funds

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended November 30, 2021

Enterprise 
Surcharge

Enterprise 
General Internal Service

Fund Fund Total Fund
Operating  Revenues

Contributions - employer -$                      -$                      -$                      13,521,003$      
Contributions - employee -                        -                        -                        2,768,273          
Contributions - retirees -                        -                        -                        580,358             
Contributions - other -                        -                        -                        58,761               
Waste disposal fees 10,425               -                        10,425               -                        
Miscellaneous 77,047               250                    77,297               -                        

Total Operating Revenues 87,472               250                    87,722               16,928,395        

Operating Expenses

Healthcare claims -                        -                        -                        13,732,270        
Dental insurance -                        -                        -                        726,514             
Life insurance -                        -                        -                        34,494               
Vision insurance -                        -                        -                        79,982               
Personnel services 82,559               -                        82,559               -                        
Benefits 26,458               -                        26,458               -                        
Contractual services 144,393             293,465             437,858             3,191,118          
Commodities 8,397                 13,999               22,396               -                        

Total Operating Expenses 261,807             307,464             569,271             17,764,378        

Operating Income (Loss) (174,335)           (307,214)           (481,549)           (835,983)           

Nonoperating Revenues

Net investment income (loss) 1,796                 (2,178)               (382)                  5,673                 

Total Nonoperating Revenues 1,796                 (2,178)               (382)                  5,673                 

Income (Loss) Before Transfers (172,539)           (309,392)           (481,931)           (830,310)           

Transfers
Transfers in 71,323               -                        71,323               -                        

Total Transfers 71,323               -                        71,323               -                        

Change in Net Position (101,216)           (309,392)           (410,608)           (830,310)           

Net Position at Beginning of Year 5,272,755          3,192,846          8,465,601          6,078,165          

Net Position at End of Year 5,171,539$        2,883,454$        8,054,993$        5,247,855$        

Enterprise Funds

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Enterprise Enterprise Internal
Surcharge General Service

Fund Fund Total Fund
Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Cash received from customers 87,472$             250$                  87,722$             18,289,697$      
Cash payments for goods and services (140,071)           (307,464)           (447,535)           (17,219,465)      
Cash payments to employees (108,563)           -                        (108,563)           (83,493)             

Net cash provided by (used in) operating 
activities (161,162)           (307,214)           (468,376)           986,739             

Cash Flows from Noncapital
Financing Activities

Transfers in 71,323               -                        71,323               -                        

Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital 
financing activities 71,323               -                        71,323               -                        

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Income received on investments 3,047                 (298)                  2,749                 2,245                 

Net cash provided by investing activities 3,047                 (298)                  2,749                 2,245                 

Net increase (decrease) in cash (86,792)             (307,512)           (394,304)           988,984             

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 
of the year 5,286,493          307,512             5,594,005          6,428,132          

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 5,199,701$        -$                      5,199,701$        7,417,116$        

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss)
to Net Cash (Used in) Operating Activities:

Operating income (loss) (174,335)$         (307,214)$         (481,549)$         (835,983)$         

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
to net cash provided by operating activities:

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable -                        -                        -                        1,394,544          
Due from other funds -                        -                        -                        (59,514)             
Due from fiduciary funds -                        -                        -                        26,272               
Prepaid items -                        -                        -                        7,800                 
Accounts payable 12,719               -                        12,719               344,365             
Claims payable -                        -                        -                        192,748             
Accrued payroll 454                    -                        454                    (83,493)             

Total adjustments 13,173               -                        13,173               1,822,722          

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating 
Activities (161,162)$         (307,214)$         (468,376)$         986,739$           

                   Enterprise Funds                   

KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Proprietary Funds
Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended November 30, 2021

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Custodial
Funds

Assets
Cash and investments 23,261,477$      
Property tax receivable 299,361,281      
Accounts receivable 1,469,987          
Interest receivable 19,453               

Total Assets 324,112,198$    

Liabilities
Accounts payable 930,453             
Due to other governments 307,447,493      
Due to others 2,233,750          

Total Liabilities 310,611,696      

Net Position
Restricted for bond escrow 11,099,064        
Restricted for individuals 920,468             
Restricted for public safety 1,480,970          

Total net position 13,500,502        

Total Liabilities and Net Position 324,112,198$    

KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds

As of November 30, 2021

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Custodial
Funds

Additions
Fines and fees 28,828,336$      
Contributions from individuals 5,763,692          
Property taxes and tax redemption collections 1,351,123,716   
Township motor fuel taxes 1,244,208          
Township grants 647,648             
Addition from other custodial funds 457,653             
E-911 collections 5,128,476          
Net investment income 723                    
Other 1,682                 

Total additions 1,393,196,134   

Deductions
Distributions to other governments 18,662,918        
Distributions to individuals 19,325,082        
Payments for goods and services 1,380,199          
Tax distributions 1,351,123,716   
Township highway and streets distributions 1,891,944          
Distributions to other custodial funds 457,873             

Total deductions 1,392,841,732   

Change in fiduciary net position 354,402             

Net Position at Beginning of Year (as restated) 13,146,100        

Net Position at End of Year 13,500,502$      

KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds

For the Year Ended November 30, 2021

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended November 30, 2021

NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Kane County, Illinois (the County) was organized in 1836. The County is a non-home-rule county, under
the 1970 Illinois Constitution. The County is located approximately 40 miles west of downtown Chicago
and comprised of 16 townships covering approximately 524 square miles. The County is the fifth largest
county in Illinois with an estimated population of 515,588. The County operates under a Township form of
government and provides the following services as authorized by its charter: corrections and
rehabilitation, county development, public health, judiciary, human services, public safety, public service,
transportation and general administrative services. The Kane County Board (the "Board") is the
designated governing body of the County. The County's structure and legal activities are controlled by
state statute. The primary function of the Board is to establish the various budgets for County funds and
to levy taxes for County purposes. In addition, the Board adopts ordinances and rules pertaining to the
management and operations of County departments. One Board member is elected from each of the 24-
member districts for a four-year term. The Chairman of the Board is elected at large by the voters of the
County. The Board is comprised of 24 Board members plus the Chairman of the Board.

The accounting policies of Kane County, Illinois conform to accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America as applicable to governmental units. The accepted standard-setting body for
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles is the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB).

A. REPORTING ENTITY

This report includes all of the funds of the County. The reporting entity for the County consists of the
primary government and its component unit. Component units are legally separate organizations for
which the primary government is financially accountable or other organizations for which the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that their exclusion would cause
the reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading. The primary government is financially
accountable if (1) it appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing body and it is able to
impose its will on that organization, (2) it appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing body
and there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific
financial burdens on, the primary government, (3) the organization is fiscally dependent on and there is a
potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens
on, the primary government. Certain legally separate, tax exempt organizations should also be reported
as a component unit if all of the following criteria are met: (1) the economic resources received or held by
the separate organization are entirely or almost entirely for the direct benefit of the primary government,
its component units, or its constituents; (2) the primary government or its component units, is entitled to,
or has the ability to access, a majority of the economic resources received or held by the separate
organization; and (3) the economic resources received or held by an individual organization that the
primary government, or its component units, is entitled to, or has the ability to otherwise access, are
significant to the primary government.
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KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended November 30, 2021

NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

A. REPORTING ENTITY (cont.)

Component units are reported using one of two methods, discrete presentation or blending. Generally,
component units should be discretely presented in a separate column in the financial statements. A
component unit should be reported as part of the primary government using the blending method if it
meets any one of the following criteria: (1) the primary government and the component unit have
substantively the same governing body and a financial benefit or burden relationship exists, (2) the
primary government and the component unit have substantively the same governing body and
management of the primary government has operational responsibility for the component unit, (3) the
component unit serves or benefits, exclusively or almost exclusively, the primary government rather than
its citizens, or (4) the total debt of the component unit will be paid entirely or almost entirely from
resources of the primary government.

Discretely Presented Component Unit

Forest Preserve District of Kane County

The government-wide financial statements include the Forest Preserve District of Kane County (District)
as a component unit. The District is a legally separate organization. The board of the District is appointed
by the citizens of the County to the District's Board of Commissioners at the same time they are elected
to the County Board. The County has no responsibility for the operations of the District. The District's
financial statements include all government activities and functions whose expenditures are approved by
the Board of Commissioners. As a component unit, the District's financial statements have been
presented as a discrete column in the financial statements. The information presented is for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2021. Separately issued financial statements of the Forest Preserve District of Kane
County may be obtained from the District's office. Contact the District office located at 1996 South Kirk
Road, Suite 320, Geneva, IL, 60134.

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In January 2017, the GASB issued statement No. 84 - Fiduciary Activities. This statement establishes
criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments for accounting and financial
reporting purposes and how those activities should be reported. This standard was implemented
December 1, 2020.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The statement of net position and statement of activities display information about the reporting
government as a whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds. The
statements distinguish between governmental and business-type activities. Governmental activities
generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange revenues.
Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods or
services. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from certain legally separate
component units for which the primary government is financially accountable.
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KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended November 30, 2021

NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)

Government-Wide Financial Statements (cont.)

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a
specific function or segment. The County does not allocate indirect expenses to functions in the
statement of activities. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase,
use or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment, and 2)
grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a
particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not included among program revenues are
reported as general revenues. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather
than as program revenues.

Fund Financial Statements

Financial statements of the County are organized into funds, each of which is considered to be a
separate accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing
accounts, which constitute its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, net position/fund balance, revenues, and expenditures/expenses. 

Funds are organized as major funds or nonmajor funds within the governmental and proprietary
statements. An emphasis is placed on major funds within the governmental and proprietary categories. A
fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the County or meets the following criteria:

a. Total assets/deferred outflows of resources, liabilities/deferred inflows of resources, revenues,
or expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental or enterprise fund are at least 10% of
the corresponding total for all funds of that category or type, and 

b. The same element of the individual governmental or enterprise fund that met the 10% test is at
least 5% of the corresponding total for all governmental and enterprise funds combined.

c. In addition, any other governmental or enterprise fund that the County believes is particularly
important to financial statement users may be reported as a major fund.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds,
even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund
financial statements.
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KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended November 30, 2021

NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)

Fund Financial Statements (cont.)

The County reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund - Accounts for the County's primary operating activities. It is used to account for
and report all financial resources except those accounted for and reported in another fund.
The General Fund is comprised of the following accounts: General Corporate Account,
Special Reserve Account, Emergency Reserve Account, Property Tax Freeze Protection
Account, Domestic Violence Account, COVID Payroll Reimbursement Account,
Environmental Prosecution Account, Economic Development Account, Cost Share Drainage
Account, and Public Building Commission Account. The General Corporate Account is the
main operating account of the County.

American Rescue Plan Fund - This special revenue fund is used to record the necessary
expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to the COVID-19
pandemic for which the County will be reimbursed from the American Rescue Plan Fund
established by the ARP Act.

Motor Fuel Tax Fund - This special revenue fund is used to account for allotments of Motor Fuel
taxes. These allotments are received from the Illinois Department of Transportation.

Transportation Sales Tax Fund - This special revenue fund is used to account for 75% of the
County's share of the .25% RTA Mass Transit Sales Tax to be used to fund operating and
capital costs of public transportation services or facilities or to fund operating, capital, right-
of-way, construction, and maintenance costs of other transportation purposes, including
road, bridge, and transit purposes intended to improve mobility or reduce congestion in the
County.

The County reports the following major enterprise funds:

Enterprise Surcharge Fund - Accounts for solid waste disposal fees which are restricted
pursuant to State Statute. The fees collected are to be utilized for solid waste management
purposes.

Enterprise General Fund - Accounts for revenues derived from Settler's Hill Landfill owned by
Kane County. Expenses are used for solid waste and recycling activities, or any purpose
deemed appropriate by the County Board.

The County reports the following nonmajor governmental funds:

Special Revenue Funds - Used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue
sources that are restricted or committed to expenditures for specified purposes (other than debt
service or capital projects).
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KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended November 30, 2021

NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)

Fund Financial Statements (cont.)

The County reports the following nonmajor governmental funds: (cont.)

Debt Service Funds - Used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for the payment of general long-term debt principal,
interest, and related costs.

Capital Projects Funds - Used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or
construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.

Permanent Fund - Used to account for and report resources that are restricted to the extent that
only earnings, and not principal, may be used for purposes that support the reporting
government's programs, that is, for the benefit of the government or its citizenry.

In addition, the County reports the following fund types:

Internal Service Fund - Used to account for and report the financing of goods or services
provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the County, or to
other governmental units, on a cost-reimbursement basis.

Custodial Funds - Used to account for and report assets held by the County and the assets are
for the benefit of individuals, private organizations, and/or other governmental units. A majority
of the custodial funds are maintained for fiduciary functions of the Circuit Clerk, Judicial, Sheriff,
and Treasurer/Collector's Offices.

C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide statement of net position and statement of activities are reported using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is
incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting
from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place. Property
taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Taxes receivable for the following
year are recorded as receivables and deferred inflows. Grants and similar items are recognized as
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider are met. Unbilled receivables are
recorded as revenues when services are provided.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial
statements.
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KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended November 30, 2021

NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION (cont.)

Fund Financial Statements

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when they are both
measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter
to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the County considers revenues to be
available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period except for probation
salary reimbursements.  According to the County Board's financial policies, probation salary
reimbursements outstanding with the State after 60 days are considered available revenue if they are
collected within one year of the end of the current period. Expenditures are recorded when the related
fund liability is incurred, except for unmatured interest on long-term debt, claims, judgments,
compensated absences, and pension expenditures, which are recorded as a fund liability when expected
to be paid with expendable available financial resources.

Property taxes are recorded in the year levied as receivables and deferred inflows. They are recognized
as revenues in the succeeding year when services financed by the levy are being provided.

Intergovernmental aid and grants are recognized as revenues in the period the County is entitled the
resources and the amounts are available. Amounts owed to the County which are not available are
recorded as receivables and unavailable revenues. Amounts received before eligibility requirements
(excluding time requirements) are met are recorded as liabilities. Amounts received in advance of
meeting time requirements are recorded as deferred inflows.

Revenues susceptible to accrual include property taxes, miscellaneous taxes, public charges for
services, intergovernmental aid, grants, and interest. Other general revenues such as fines and
forfeitures, inspection fees, and miscellaneous revenues are recognized when received in cash or when
measurable and available under the criteria described above. 

Proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as described previously in this note.

The proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the
Enterprise Surcharge Fund and Enterprise General Fund are charges to customers for sales and
services. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are
reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

All Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended November 30, 2021

NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND

NET POSITION OR EQUITY

1. Deposits and Investments

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the County considers all highly liquid investments with an
initial maturity of three months or less when acquired to be cash equivalents.

Illinois Statutes authorize the County to make deposits/investments in insured commercial banks, savings
and loan institutions, obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. Agencies, insured credit union shares,
money market mutual funds with portfolios of securities issued or guaranteed by the United States or
agreement to repurchase these same obligations, repurchase agreements, short-term commercial paper
rated within the three highest classifications by at least two standard rating services, and the Illinois
Funds Investment Pool.

The County is permitted by 30 ILCS 235/2 of the "Public Funds Investment Act" of the Illinois Compiled
Statutes to invest in: 

 Obligations guaranteed by the U.S. Government and its agencies.

 Interest-bearing accounts constituting direct obligations of any bank, as defined by the Illinois

Banking Act and insured by the FDIC.

 Money market mutual funds registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, including the

Illinois Funds Money Market Fund (Illinois Funds) and the Illinois Metropolitan Investment Fund

(IMET).

 Short term obligations of corporations organized in the United States with assets exceeding

$500,000,000 if such obligations are rated at the time of purchase at one of the 3 highest

classifications established by at least 2 standard rating services and which mature not later than

270 days from the date of purchase.

 Obligations of corporations organized in the United States with assets exceeding $500,000,000 if

such obligations are rated at the time of purchase at one of the 3 highest classifications

established by at least 2 standard rating services and which mature more than 270 days but less

than 3 years from the date of purchase, such purchases do not exceed 10% of the corporation's

outstanding obligations, and no more than one-third of the public agency's funds may be invested

in such obligations of corporations.

 Interest bearing bonds of any U.S. state or local government.

 Forms of security legally issuable by Savings and Loan Associations incorporated under the laws

of the U.S. Government and insured by FDIC.

 Certain repurchase ("repo") agreements.
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND

NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

1. Deposits and Investments (cont.)

The County has adopted an investment policy. That policy follows the state statute for allowable
investments. The policy requires investment of funds in a manner which will provide the highest
investment return with the maximum security while meeting the daily cash flow demands and conforming
to all state and local statutes governing the investment of public funds, using the "prudent person"
standard for managing the overall portfolio. The primary objectives of the policies are; safety
(preservation of capital and protection of investment principal), diversity, legality, liquidity and yield.

Interest Rate Risk

The County does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of
managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. The County Treasurer
actively manages interest rate risk by maintaining laddered maturities of its investment portfolio. Maturity
adjustments are made based on changes in the market interest rate in an attempt to maximize yields.

Credit Risk

The County's investment policy does not further limit its investment choices beyond those mentioned in
the Public Funds Investment Act.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The County's investment policy allows the County to invest in any one issuer; however, the
uncollateralized investment is not to exceed 75% of the financial institution's capital and surplus.
Diversification of the investment portfolio must be appropriate as to the nature and purpose of the funds
using the "prudent person rule". The Treasurer follows a policy for diversifying deposit and investment
accounts by using government agencies and ten major banks. Further, the County verifies statutory
compliance of the banks it utilizes on a quarterly basis. 

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits

The County's investment policy requires that all County deposits that exceed 25% of the capital and
surplus of a financial institution be covered by Federal Depository Insurance or by collateral held by the
County's agent in the name of the County. Collateralization of deposits is at the discretion of the County
Treasurer. 

Custodial Credit Risk - Investments

The County's policy is the same as it is for deposits. All County investments were registered in the name
of the County.
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND

NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

1. Deposits and Investments (cont.)

Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on quoted market prices. No
investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record investments at fair value
are recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in investment income. Investment
income on commingled investments of municipal accounting funds is allocated based on average
balances. The difference between the bank statement balance and carrying value is due to outstanding
checks and/or deposits in transit.

Illinois Funds is an investment pool managed by the State of Illinois, Office of the Treasurer, which allows
governments within the State to pool their funds for investment purposes. Illinois Funds is not registered
with the SEC as an investment company, but does operate in a manner consistent with Rule 2a7 of the
Investment Company Act of 1940. Investments in Illinois Funds are valued at Illinois Fund’s share price,
the price for which the investments could be sold.

See Note III. A. for further information. 

2. Receivables  

Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on January 1. The County's property tax is levied each year
at the time the budget for the ensuing year is passed and is extended against the assessed valuation for
the County on January 1. 

The 2020 tax levy is reflected as revenue in fiscal year 2021 to the extent available. Forfeited, objected,
and delinquent tax distributions are recognized as revenues when collected. Property taxes levied in
2021 have been recognized as assets (property taxes receivable) and deferred inflows as these taxes
are budgeted to be used in 2022. 

Tax bills for levy year 2021 are prepared by the County Treasurer and issued on or about May 1, 2022
and are payable in two installments, on June 1, 2022 and September 1, 2022.

All trade receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles. Due to historically high rates of
collection, there is not an allowance for uncollectibles related to property taxes.

During the course of operations, transactions occur between individual funds that may result in amounts
owed between funds. Interfund loans are reported as "due to and from other funds." Interfund receivables
and payables between funds within governmental activities are eliminated in the statement of net
position. Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type
activities are reported in the governmental-wide financial statements as internal balances.
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND

NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

3. Prepaid Items  

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as
prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements using the consumption method.

4. Restricted Assets  

Mandatory segregations of assets are presented as restricted assets. Such segregations are required by
bond agreements and other external parties. Current liabilities payable from these restricted assets are
so classified. The excess of restricted assets over current liabilities payable from restricted assets will be
used first for retirement of related long-term debt. The remainder, if generated from earnings, is shown as
restricted net position.

5. Capital Assets  

Government-Wide Statements

Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment, are reported in the government-wide
financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial cost of more
than $10,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of 1 year. All capital assets are valued at historical
cost or estimated historical cost if actual amounts are unavailable. Donated capital assets are recorded at
acquisition value at the date of donation. 

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the statement of
activities, with accumulated depreciation reflected in the statement of net position. Depreciation is
provided over the assets' estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. The range of estimated
useful lives by type of asset is as follows:

Buildings 50 Years
Improvements and Equipment 10 Years
Infrastructure - Bridges 25 Years
Infrastructure - Roads 35-80 Years
Other Equipment and Vehicles 5-10 Years
Heavy Equipment 10 Years
Land - Building Improvement 10 Years

Fund Financial Statements

In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are accounted for
as capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. Capital assets used in
proprietary fund operations are accounted for the same way as in the government-wide statements.
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND

NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

6.  Deferred Outflows of Resources 

A deferred outflow of resources represents a consumption of net position/fund balance that applies to a
future period and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until that future
time.

A deferred charge on refunding arises from the advance refunding of debt. The difference between the
cost of the securities placed in trust for future payments of the refunded debt and the net carrying value of
that debt is deferred and amortized as a component of interest expense over the shorter of the term of
the refunding issue or the original term of the refunded debt. The unamortized amount is reported as a
deferred outflow of resources in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.

7. Compensated Absences  

A liability for the County employee compensated absences (unused vacation, sick leave, and
compensatory time) has been recorded in the countywide financial statements. The amount recorded
includes the associated FICA and retirement contribution amounts.

For the governmental fund financial statements, the portion of the liability which is currently due and
payable is recorded as a liability in the appropriate fund. The countywide financial statements record
unused vacation, sick leave, and compensatory time as expenses and liabilities when earned by
employees. The long-term portion of compensated absences will be paid from the fund from which the
employee is paid.

The total amount includes amounts pertaining to sick leave accumulated prior to December 1, 1989 for all
County employees, up to 20 days accumulated through November 30, 2021 for employees of the Sheriff,
and up to 6 days accumulated for employees of the Transportation Department.

Under the County's sick leave policy in effect subsequent to December 1, 1989, no payments for unused
extended sick leave are made at termination. Employees retiring with an Illinois Municipal Retirement
Fund (IMRF) pension may convert extended sick leave into a maximum of one year of pension credit at a
rate of one month for every twenty days. All employees will be paid at termination for any accumulated
unused short-term sick leave at a rate of one day for every quarter worked in the current fiscal year
(maximum of 4 days per employee). Short-term sick leave will not accumulate from year to year, but all
unused short-term sick leave for non-exempt employees will roll over into extended sick leave. No accrual
is recorded in the financial statements due to its immateriality at year-end.

For accumulated unused sick leave earned prior to December 1, 1989, employees are eligible to receive
unused sick pay reimbursements converted on a three-for-one basis if not retiring at termination and on a
one-for-one basis if IMRF pension benefits are being received, up to 30 days maximum. The accrual is
calculated assuming a one-to-one basis conversion.

The total amount also includes a liability for unused vacation at fiscal year-end for all County employees
other than those employed by the Sheriff. Unused vacation hours at November 30 of each year for
employees of the Sheriff are paid in connection with the final payroll period of each fiscal year.
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D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND

NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

7.  Compensated Absences (cont.)

The liability recorded in the countywide financial statements also includes amounts related to the unused
compensatory time for departments and offices with non-exempt employees, other than the Sheriff and
the Transportation Department.

The limits for maximum compensatory time range from 40 to 60 days for employees of the Sheriff, after
which, any additional compensatory time is paid in connection with the payroll period in which it is earned.
The Department of Transportation includes payments for compensatory time in each payroll period and,
therefore, does not include any accrued compensatory time. There is no maximum limit on unused
compensatory time for the County's non-exempt employees, who are paid at the time-and-half of their
regular rate of pay.

The accumulated vacation, sick leave, and compensatory time liability of employees charged to the
proprietary fund types are included in the countywide financial statements as part of governmental
activities due to its immateriality.

8. Long-Term Obligations   

The long-term obligations consist primarily of bonds payable, accrued claims and judgments, other
postemployment benefits, net pension liabilities, compensated absences, and long-term construction
payables. All long-term obligations to be repaid from governmental and business-type resources are
reported as liabilities in the government-wide statements. 

Long-term obligations for governmental funds are not reported as liabilities in the fund financial
statements. The face value of debts (plus any premiums) is reported as other financing sources and
payments of principal and interest are reported as expenditures. The accounting in proprietary funds is
the same as it is in the government-wide statements.

For the government-wide statements and proprietary fund statements, bond premiums and discounts are
amortized over the life of the issue using the straight-line method. Gains or losses on prior refundings are
amortized over the remaining life of the old debt, or the life of the new debt, whichever is shorter. The
balance at year end is shown as an increase or decrease in the liability section of the statement of net
position. The balance at year end for gains/losses is shown as a deferred outflow/inflow in the statement
of net position.

9. Deferred Inflows of Resources  

A deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position/fund balance that applies to a
future period and therefore will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that future
time.
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D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND

NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

10.  Equity Classifications  

Government-Wide Statements

Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

a. Net investment in capital assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets,
net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances (excluding unspent
debt proceeds) of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the
acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.

b. Restricted net position - Consists of net position with constraints placed on their use either by 1)
external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other
governments or, 2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

c. Unrestricted net position - All other net positions that do not meet the definitions of "restricted"
or "net investment in capital assets."

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the County's policy to use
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

Fund Statements

Governmental fund balances are displayed as follows:

a.  Nonspendable - Includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because they are
not in spendable form or because legal or contractual requirements require them to be
maintained intact.

b.  Restricted - Consists of fund balances with constraints placed on their use either by 1) external
groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or
2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

c.  Committed - Includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes that are
internally imposed by the government through formal action of the highest level of decision
making authority. Fund balance amounts are committed through a formal action (resolution) of
the County Board. This formal action must occur prior to the end of the reporting period, but the
amount of the commitment, which will be subject to the constraints, may be determined in the
subsequent period. Any changes to the constraints imposed require the same formal action of
the County Board that originally created the commitment.
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D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND

NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)

10.  Equity Classifications (cont.)

Fund Statements (cont.)

d.  Assigned - Includes spendable fund balance amounts that are intended to be used for specific
purposes that are not considered restricted or committed. The County has adopted a financial
policy authorizing the Board itself or the Finance/Budget Committee to assign fund balances.
Assignments may take place after the end of the reporting period.

e. Unassigned - Includes residual fund balance within the general fund which has not been
classified within the other above mentioned categories. Unassigned fund balance may also
include negative balances for any governmental fund if expenditures exceed amounts
restricted, committed, or assigned for those purposes.

Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the government-wide statements.

The County considers restricted amounts to be spent first when both restricted and unrestricted fund
balance is available. Additionally, the County would first use committed, then assigned and lastly
unassigned amounts of unrestricted fund balance when expenditures are made. Expenditures incurred
for a specifically identified purpose will reduce the specific identified classification of fund balance.

See Note III. G. for further information.
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NOTE II - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY  

A. EXCESS EXPENDITURES OVER BUDGET  

Funds

Final Budgeted
Expenditures /

Operating
Expenses

Actual
Expenditures /

Operating
Expenses

Excess
Expenditures /

Operating
Expenses Over

Final Budget

Domestic Violence Account (accounts of
the General Fund) $ 321,531 $ 330,791 $ 9,260
Vital Records Automation 94,078 97,223 3,145
Children's Waiting Room 125,755 129,060 3,305
Bomb Squad SWAT 2,100 21,929 19,829
Law Library 299,475 309,937 10,462
Canteen Commission 400,000 580,756 180,756
County Sheriff DEF Local 50,000 186,027 136,027
K-9 Unit 20,000 76,196 56,196
Sheriff DUI 30,000 66,230 36,230
Sheriff's Office Money Laundering 5,000 7,520 2,520
Sheriff Civil Operations 5,500 80,691 75,191
Kane Comm 2,206,678 2,236,747 30,069
Animal Control 891,322 921,933 30,611
Web Technical Services 384,583 485,933 101,350
Elgin CDBG 331,630 368,753 37,123
Recovery Zone Bond Construction 1,825 7,760 5,935
Transportation Capital 1,488,144 1,764,351 276,207
Enterprise General 53,000 307,464 254,464

The County controls expenditures at the department level. Some individual departments experienced
expenditures which exceeded budget. The detail of those items can be found in the Schedule of
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual reports.
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NOTE II - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY (cont.)

B. DEFICIT BALANCES  

Generally accepted accounting principles require disclosure of individual funds that have deficit balances
at year end.

As of November 30, 2021, the following individual funds held a deficit balance:

Funds Amount Reason

County Sheriff DEF Federal - DOJ $ 1,455 Timing of when reimbursement
revenue received

County Sheriff DEF Local 62,278 Timing of when reimbursement
revenue received

Community Development Block
Grant

526 Timing of when reimbursement
revenue received

Homeless Prevention Program 34,400 Timing of when reimbursement
revenue received

Workforce Development 114,746 Timing of when reimbursement
revenue received

C. LIMITATIONS ON THE COUNTY'S TAX LEVY  

Tax rate ceilings are established by Illinois state law under the Property Tax Extension Limitation Act
(PTEL) and are subject to change only by the approval of the voters of the County. The tax rate ceilings
are applied at the fund level.

The PTEL limitation is applied in the aggregate to the total levy (excluding certain levies for the
repayment of debt). PTEL limits the increase in total taxes billed to the lessor of 5% or the percentage
increase in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) for the preceding year. The amount can be exceeded to the
extent there is "new growth" in the County's tax base. The new growth consists of new construction,
annexations and tax increment finance district property becoming eligible for taxation.
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NOTE III - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS  

A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

The County's deposits and investments at year end were comprised of the following:

Statement
Balances Carrying Value Associated Risks

Deposits $ 161,338,670 $ 158,972,202 Custodial credit risk
Illinois Funds 58,893,992 58,893,992 Credit risk
Municipal bonds 116,117,428 116,117,428 Credit risk, custodial credit risk,

concentration of credit risk, interest
rate risk

Federal Home Loan Bank 11,078,011 11,078,011 Credit risk, custodial credit risk,
concentration of credit risk, interest
rate risk

Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation

2,956,490 2,956,490 Credit risk, custodial credit risk,
concentration of credit risk, interest
rate risk

Federal National Mortgage
Association

5,846,602 5,846,602 Credit risk, custodial credit risk,
concentration of credit risk, interest
rate risk

Federal Farm Credit Banks 20,221,492 20,221,492 Credit risk, custodial credit risk,
concentration of credit risk, interest
rate risk

Illinois Trust 4,587,789 4,587,789 Credit risk
Petty cash - 17,100 N/A

Total Deposits and
Investments $ 381,040,474 $ 378,691,106

Reconciliation to financial statements

Per statement of net position
Cash and investments $ 354,055,470
Restricted cash and investments 1,374,159

Per statement of fiduciary assets and
liabilities - agency funds

Cash and investments 23,261,477

Total Deposits and Investments $ 378,691,106

Deposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $250,000 for time and
savings accounts (including NOW accounts) and $250,000 for demand deposit accounts (interest-bearing
and noninterest-bearing). In addition, if deposits are held in an institution outside of the state in which the
government is located, insured amounts are further limited to a total of $250,000 for the combined
amount of all deposit accounts.
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A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)

The County categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to
measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets;
Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.

The County used the market valuation method for recurring fair value measurements.

As of November 30, 2021, the County's investments were measured using valuation inputs as follows:

November 30, 2021

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Municipal bonds $ - $116,117,428 $ - $116,117,428
Federal Home Loan Bank - 11,078,011 - 11,078,011
Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation

- 2,956,490 - 2,956,490

Federal National Mortgage Association - 5,846,602 - 5,846,602
Federal Farm Credit Banks - 20,221,492 - 20,221,492

Total $ - $156,220,023 $ - $156,220,023

Custodial Credit Risk 

Deposits

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the County's deposits may
not be returned to the County.

As of November 30, 2021, the bank balances of the County's deposits were $161,338,670 and, of this
amount, $453,943 was uninsured and uncollateralized. The entire uncollateralized balance relates to
accounts held by County departments outside of the County Treasurer.

Investments

For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the
County will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party.

The County does not have any investments exposed to custodial credit risk. 
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NOTE III - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.

As of November 30, 2021, the County's investments were rated as follows:

Investment Type
Standard &

Poors

Moody's
Investors
Services

Illinois Funds AAA N/A
Municipal bonds AAA - A Aaa - A3
Federal Home Loan Bank AA+ Aaa
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation AA+ Aaa
Federal National Mortgage Association AA+ Aaa
Federal Farm Credit Banks AA+ Aaa
Illinois Trust AAAm N/A

Concentration of Credit Risk 

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government's investment in
a single issuer.

As of November 30, 2021, the County held $20,221,492 in Federal Farm Credit Banks Funding
Corporation securities, representing 12.94% of the County's investment portfolio, and $11,078,011 in
Federal Home Loan Bank securities, representing 7.09% of the County's investment portfolio.
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NOTE III - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the value of an investment.

As of November 30, 2021, the County's investments were as follows:

Maturity (In Years)

Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1 - 5 6 - 10 > 10

Municipal bonds $116,117,428 $ 32,855,744 $ 83,261,684 $ - $ -
Federal Home Loan
Bank 11,078,011 - 11,078,011 - -
Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation 2,956,490 - 2,956,490 - -
Federal National
Mortgage Association 5,846,602 - 5,846,602 - -
Federal Farm Credit
Banks 20,221,492 1,006,623 19,214,869 - -

Totals $156,220,023 $ 33,862,367 $122,357,656 $ - $ -

See Note I.D.1. for further information on deposit and investment policies.

72



KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

Notes to Financial Statements
As of and for the Year Ended November 30, 2021

NOTE III - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

B. RECEIVABLES  

Intergovernmental receivables as of year end for the government's individual major funds and nonmajor
governmental funds in the aggregate are as follows:

General Fund
Motor Fuel
Tax Fund

Transportation
Sales Tax

Fund

Nonmajor
Governmental

Funds Totals
Intergovernmental
receivables

State sales tax $ 5,873,789 $ - $ - $ - $ 5,873,789
Local use tax 600,670 - - - 600,670
RTA sales tax 573,584 - 4,301,879 860,376 5,735,839
Income tax 463,433 - - - 463,433
Personal property

replacement tax 152,952 - - - 152,952
Probation salaries 1,439,361 - - - 1,439,361
Motor fuel tax - 1,930,798 - - 1,930,798
Motor fuel local

option tax - - - 2,290,937 2,290,937
Other grants and

reimbursements 31,120 - 6,906 3,006,116 3,044,142
Total
intergovernmental
receivables $ 9,134,909 $ 1,930,798 $ 4,308,785 $ 6,157,429 $ 21,531,921

All receivables on the balance sheet are expected to be collected within one year, except for loans
receivable discussed below.

In December 2010, the County issued $7,670,000 of recovery zone economic development bonds to
provide resources to finance various capital improvements in the County. As of November 30, 2021, the
County had loaned a total of $6,921,657 of the bond principal to seventeen separate entities in amounts
ranging from $204,000 to $1,400,000. Loan repayment agreements, which will include a portion of the
bond issuance costs, extend for either 10 or 20 years. Remaining loans receivable at year end reported in
the Recovery Zone Bond Debt Service Fund amounted to $937,009.

Scheduled repayment amounts as of November 30, 2021 or each of the next five years and thereafter:

 Amount Due

2022 $ 91,144
2023 70,561
2024 71,940
2025 76,076
2026 80,451
2027-2031 527,316
2032 19,521

Total loans receivable $ 937,009
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NOTE III - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)

C. CAPITAL ASSETS  

Capital asset activity for the year ended November 30, 2021, was as follows:

Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions

Ending
Balance

Governmental Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land $ 96,066,664 $ 574,360 $ - $ 96,641,024
Construction in progress 82,007,055 15,197,383 43,744,668 53,459,770

Total Capital Assets Not Being
Depreciated 178,073,719 15,771,743 43,744,668 150,100,794

Capital assets being depreciated
Infrastructure 493,720,315 52,281,948 1,021,422 544,980,841
Building and improvements 148,673,269 16,085,868 37,154 164,721,983
Fixtures and equipment 47,899,934 3,593,577 905,089 50,588,422

Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 690,293,518 71,961,393 1,963,665 760,291,246

Total Capital Assets 868,367,237 87,733,136 45,708,333 910,392,040

Less:  Accumulated depreciation for
Infrastructure 157,448,224 6,884,025 60,431 164,271,818
Building and improvements 57,786,836 4,489,383 15,171 62,261,048
Fixtures and equipment 29,137,390 3,498,446 899,203 31,736,633

Total Accumulated Depreciation 244,372,450 14,871,854 974,805 258,269,499

Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 445,921,068 57,089,539 988,860 502,021,747

Total Governmental Activities Capital
Assets, Net of Accumulated
Depreciation $ 623,994,787 $ 72,861,282 $ 44,733,528 $ 652,122,541

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:

Governmental Activities
General government $ 3,154,599
Public safety 3,225,310
Highway and streets 7,600,666
Judicial 639,840
Public services and records 154,366
Health and welfare 79,200
Environment and conservation 14,545
Development, housing and economic development 3,328

Total Governmental Activities Depreciation Expense $ 14,871,854
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C. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)

Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions

Ending
Balance

Business-type Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land $ 2,883,454 $ - $ - $ 2,883,454
Total Capital Assets Not Being

Depreciated 2,883,454 - - 2,883,454

Capital assets being depreciated
Fixtures and equipment 32,287 - - 32,287

Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 32,287 - - 32,287

Total Capital Assets 2,915,741 - - 2,915,741

Less:  Accumulated depreciation for
Fixtures and equipment 32,287 - - 32,287

Total Accumulated Depreciation 32,287 - - 32,287

Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated - - - -

Business-type Capital Assets, Net of
Accumulated Depreciation $ 2,883,454 $ - $ - $ 2,883,454

D. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS   

Interfund Receivables/Payables

The following is a schedule of interfund receivables and payables including any overdrafts on pooled
cash and investment accounts:

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

General Nonmajor Governmental $ 231,864
Nonmajor Governmental Nonmajor Governmental 968,010
Internal Service General 676,903

Total - Fund Financial Statements 1,876,777

Less:  Government-wide eliminations (1,876,777)

Total Internal Balances - Government-Wide Statement of Net Position $ -
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D. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS (cont.)

Interfund Receivables/Payables (cont.)

The following interfund receivables and payables were considered to be due in more than one year:

The Recovery Zone Bond Debt Service Fund, a nonmajor governmental fund, owed the Grand Victoria
Casino Elgin Fund, a nonmajor governmental fund, $968,010 for amounts advanced for debt service on
the Series 2010 General Obligation Alternate Bonds. The interfund balance is expected to be repaid in
future years upon the collection of loans receivable.

All other amounts are due within one year. The principal purpose of these interfund receivables/payables
is temporary cash loans and allocations of expenditures for which transfer of cash had not been made at
year-end.  

For the statement of net position, interfund balances which are owed within the governmental activities or
business-type activities are netted and eliminated.

Transfers

The following is a schedule of interfund transfers:

Fund
Transfers From

Other Funds
Transfer To
Other Funds

General $ 12,908,097 $ 21,674,021
American Rescue Plan - 5,251,909
Motor Fuel Tax - 108,698
Transportation Sales Tax 1,181,400 -
Nonmajor Governmental 19,741,243 6,867,435
Enterprise Surcharge 71,323 -

Total Transfers $ 33,902,063 $ 33,902,063

Generally, transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that collects them to the fund that the
budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from the funds collecting the
receipts to the debt service fund, and (3) use unrestricted revenues collected in the general fund to
finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations.

For the statement of activities, interfund transfers within the governmental activities or business-type
activities are netted and eliminated.
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E. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS  

Long-term obligations activity for the year ended November 30, 2021, was as follows:

Beginning
Balance Increases Decreases

Ending
Balance

Amounts Due
Within One

Year

Governmental Activities
Bonds

Alternative revenue bonds $ 32,170,000 $ 9,045,000 $ 15,550,000 $ 25,665,000 $ 2,690,000
Revenue bonds 27,060,000 - - 27,060,000 -
Premiums 1,476,016 - 249,558 1,226,458 -

Total Bonds 60,706,016 9,045,000 15,799,558 53,951,458 2,690,000

Other Long-Term Liabilities
Accrued claims and

judgments 4,058,338 2,611,848 1,495,231 5,174,955 2,585,000
Total OPEB liability 10,618,922 570,057 543,494 10,645,485 -
Compensated absences 6,437,653 5,221,824 6,061,972 5,597,505 4,563,804
Long-term construction

payable 27,115,346 5,397,835 7,181,732 25,331,449 -
Net pension liability - IMRF* 3,097,725 - 3,097,725 - -
Net pension liability - SLEP 17,682,805 21,619,614 28,836,196 10,466,223 -

Total Other Long-Term
Liabilities 69,010,789 35,421,178 47,216,350 57,215,617 7,148,804

Total Governmental Activities
Long-Term Liabilities $ 129,716,805 $ 44,466,178 $ 63,015,908 $111,167,075 $ 9,838,804

* As of November 30, 2021, the County reported an IMRF net pension asset of $19,953,001.

The County is subject to the Illinois Municipal Code, which limits the amount of certain indebtedness to
5.750% of the most recent available equalized assessed valuation of the County. As of November 30,
2021, the statutory debt limit for the County was $899,585,883, providing a debt margin of $899,585,883.
The County does not have any debt outstanding that is supported by a direct debt service levy and
therefore has no outstanding debt that is subject to the statutory limitations.  
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E. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)

General Obligation Bonds 

General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2004

On March 23, 2004, the County issued $26,875,000 in General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series
2004, with a premium of $4,152,008 to advance refund $27,400,000 of outstanding Motor Fuel Tax
Series 2001 bonds. The bonds are legal, valid and binding limited obligations of the County, with a claim
for payment from collections distributed to the County (other than funds allotted to the County for the use
of road districts) from those taxes imposed by the State of Illinois pursuant to the Motor Fuel Tax Law.
Use of Motor Fuel Tax funds for this purpose has been approved by the Illinois Department of
Transportation. 

The interest on the Series 2004 Bonds is due semiannually on January 1 and July 1 of each year,
commencing July 1, 2004 at rates ranging from 2.00% to 5.25%. The principal payments are due
annually on January 1 of each year, commencing January 1, 2006, and ending on January 1, 2021, in
amounts ranging from $30,000 to $3,320,000. Principal and interest payments are made from the Motor
Fuel Tax Debt Service Fund. The bonds were fully repaid in fiscal year 2021.

Taxable General Obligation Alternate Bonds, Series 2010

In December 2010, the County issued $7,670,000 of Taxable General Obligation Alternate Bonds
(Riverboat Revenue Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2010, for the purpose of paying all or a portion of
the costs of acquiring, constructing, improving and equipping various water and/or sewer public works
projects to be undertaken jointly by the County and other units of local government located within the
County pursuant to intergovernmental agreements between the County and such units, and the costs of
certain other capital projects of the County, and related costs and expenses; providing for the pledge of
revenues received by the County pursuant to an agreement between the County and the Elgin Riverboat
Resort. 

The Bonds were issued as Build America Bonds (Direct Payment) as authorized under the American
Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009. These Build America Bonds in turn were designated as
Recovery Zone Economic Development Bonds. This Recovery Zone Economic Development Bonds
program provides for a Federal subsidy through a refundable tax credit to be paid to the County by the
U.S. Department of the Treasury in an amount equal to 45 percent of the total interest payable to
investors in the taxable bonds (the 2021 refundable tax credit was reduced by 5.7 percent due to the
federal government’s sequestration policy).

The interest on the Series 2010 Bonds is due semiannually on June 15 and December 15 of each year,
commencing December 15, 2011 at rates ranging from 1.15% to 6.55%. The principal payments are due
annually on December 15 of each year, commencing December 15, 2011, and ending on December 15,
2030, in amounts ranging from $70,000 to $780,000. Principal and interest payments on the Series 2010
Bonds are expected to be made by the Recovery Zone Bond Debt Service Fund.
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E. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)

General Obligation Bonds (cont.)

General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2013

On April 3, 2013, the County issued $27,225,000 of General Obligation (Alternative Revenue Source)
Bonds, Series 2013, for the purpose of refunding the remaining outstanding General Obligation
Refunding Bonds, Series 2002; and to partially refund the outstanding General Obligation Debt
Certificates, Series 2005 and General Obligation Debt Certificates, Series 2006.

The interest on the Series 2013 Bonds is due semiannually on June 15 and December 15 of each year,
commencing June 15, 2013 at a rate ranging from 2.00% to 3.00%. The principal payments are due
annually on December 15 of each year, commencing December 15, 2013, and ending on December 15,
2024, in amounts ranging from $1,045,000 to $3,195,000. Principal and interest payments on the Series
2013 Bonds are expected to be made by the JJC/AJC Refunding Debt Service Fund with the use of
income tax monies collected by the County.

General Obligation Alternate Revenue Bonds, Series 2020

On June 18, 2020, the County issued $13,130,000 of General Obligation (Alternative Revenue Source)
Bonds, Series 2020, for the purpose of paying the costs of construction of a new multi-use facility.

The interest on the Series 2020 Bonds is due semiannually on June 15 and December 15 of each year,
commencing December 15, 2020 at a rate of 1.54%. The principal payments are due annually on
December 15 of each year, commencing December 15, 2025, and ending on December 15, 2029, in
amounts ranging from $860,000 to $3,140,000. Principal and interest payments on the Series 2020
Bonds are expected to be made by the Capital Improvement Debt Service Fund with the use of income
tax monies collected by the County.

General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2021

On October 28, 2021, the County issued $9,045,000 of General Obligation (Alternative Revenue Source)
Refunding Bonds, Series 2021, for the purpose of refunding certain of the County's outstanding General
Obligation Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2013.

The interest on the Series 2021 Bonds is due semiannually on June 15 and December 15 of each year,
commencing June 15, 2022 at a rate of 0.350%. The principal payments are due annually on December
15 of each year, commencing December 15, 2022, and ending on December 15, 2024, in amounts
ranging from $2,900,000 to $3,130,000.

The cash flow requirements on the refunded debt prior to the current refunding was $9,546,400 from
December 15, 2022 through December 15, 2024. The cash flow requirements on the Series 2021 Bonds
are $9,128,223 from June 15, 2022 through December 15, 2024. The current refunding resulted in an
economic gain (difference between the present values of the debt service payments on the old and new
debt) of $414,835.
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E. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)

General Obligation Bonds (cont.)

Debt service requirements to maturity on the general obligation bonds are as follows:

General Obligation
Refunding Bonds

Taxable General Obligation
Alternate Bonds

General Obligation
Refunding Bonds

Series 2010  Series 2013  Series 2020

Years Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2022 $ 70,000 $ 51,853 $ 2,620,000 $ 39,300 $ - $ 202,202
2023 75,000 47,684 - - - 202,202
2024 80,000 43,228 - - - 202,202
2025 80,000 38,628 - - - 202,202
2026 85,000 33,884 - - 2,995,000 179,141
2027-2031 480,000 81,222 - - 10,135,000 262,070

Totals $ 870,000 $ 296,499 $ 2,620,000 $ 39,300 $ 13,130,000 $ 1,250,019

General Obligation Alternate
Revenue Refunding Bonds Governmental Activities

Series 2021 General Obligation Bonds

Years Principal Interest Principal Interest

2022 $ - $ 23,281 $ 2,690,000 $ 316,636
2023 2,900,000 31,846 2,975,000 281,732
2024 3,015,000 20,741 3,095,000 266,171
2025 3,130,000 7,356 3,210,000 248,186
2026 - - 3,080,000 213,025
2027-2031 - - 10,615,000 343,292

Totals $ 9,045,000 $ 83,224 $ 25,665,000 $ 1,669,042

Revenue Bonds

On December 4, 2018, the County issued $27,060,000 of Toll Bridge Revenue Bonds, Series 2018, for
the purpose of financing the construction, acquisition, improvement, betterment and enlargement of a toll
bridge spanning the Fox River in the northern part of the County and tolling facilities, including all toll
collection and enforcement facilities, for the toll bridge and capitalized interest through July 1, 2022.  The
interest on the Series 2018 Revenue Bonds is due semiannually on June 15 and December 15 at rates
ranging from 4.125% to 5.00%. The principal payments are due annually on December 15 of each year,
commencing December 15, 2022 and ending on December 15, 2048, in amounts ranging from $510,000
to $1,660,000. Principal and interest payments are made from the Longmeadow Debt Service -
Capitalized Interest Fund until December 15, 2022 and Longmeadow Debt Service Fund thereafter.
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E. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)

Revenue Bonds (cont.)

The County has pledged future toll bridge revenues, net of specified operating expenses, to repay the
Series 2018 Revenue Bonds. The Series 2018 Revenue Bonds are to be paid from net toll bridge
revenues and, as a backup security, certain RTA Sales Taxes deposited into funds held under the trust
indenture for the Series 2018 Bonds. Principal and interest amounts are payable through December 15,
2048. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $47,333,820. Principal and
interest paid for the current year was $1,218,769. No customer revenues were recognized during the
year.

Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:

Governmental Activities
Revenue Bonds

Years Principal Interest

2022 $ - $ 1,218,769
2023 510,000 1,206,019
2024 540,000 1,179,769
2025 565,000 1,152,144
2026 595,000 1,123,144
2027-2031 3,435,000 5,128,720
2032-2036 4,390,000 4,155,095
2037-2041 5,495,000 3,043,810
2042-2046 6,755,000 1,756,206
2047-2049 4,775,000 310,144

Totals $ 27,060,000 $ 20,273,820

Other Debt Information  

Estimated payments of accrued claims and judgments, other post-employment benefits, compensated
absences, long-term construction payable, and net pension liabilities are not included in the debt service
requirement schedules. 

The Liability Insurance Fund is responsible for the retirement of accrued claims and judgments for
general liability and workers' compensation. The General Fund is responsible for the retirement of the
other postemployment benefits and compensated absences. Net pension liabilities are liquidated
primarily by the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund for employee salaries charged to the General Fund or
by the special revenue fund to which the related employee's salary is charged.

The long-term construction payable represents the County's obligation to the Illinois Department of
Transportation ("IDOT") and other vendors for the County's share of costs associated with capital projects
administered by them. This liability represents the amounts owed on multi-year projects for which the
County is not expected to be billed until completion of the project. The liability is expected to be retired by
the funds in which the contractually-obligated revenue sources for each project are maintained.
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E. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)

Conduit Debt

The following bonds, which are not included in the financial statements of the County, bear the County's
name. These bonds are special limited obligations of nongovernmental entities. The bonds are not
general obligations of the County and the County is not liable for the repayment of the bonds.

On May 18, 1993, the County issued its Adjustable Demand Revenue Bonds, Series 1993 (Glenwood
School for Boys), in the aggregate amount of $14,000,000 to (1) finance, refinance or reimburse itself for
a portion of the costs of the acquisition, construction, renovation, improvement, and furnishing of the
Phase 1 development of a new second campus, (2) pay a portion of the interest of the bonds during
construction and (3) pay certain costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the bonds. Phase 1
development of such a campus will include, among other things, an academic school, a student service
center, five residence halls, a water tower and related equipment and a waste water treatment facility.
From the date of original issuance, the bonds have been and will continue to be secured by an
irrevocable direct pay letter of credit. Repayment of the bonds is the responsibility of the Glenwood
School for Boys. The bonds mature on February 1, 2028.

F. LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POSTCLOSURE CARE AND MAINTENANCE

On December 29, 2006, the landfill reached capacity and closure and post-closure care and maintenance
of the landfill began in accordance with requirements of certain federal and state governmental agencies.
Waste Management, under its agreement with the County, is required to complete and pay all closure
and post-closure care and maintenance costs which are currently estimated to be $3,426,937. As such,
the County has not accrued any liability or restricted any assets for the cost associated with closure or
post-closure care and maintenance.

G. NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES

Net position reported on the government wide statement of net position at November 30, 2021, includes
the following:

Governmental Activities

Net Investment in Capital Assets
Land $ 96,641,024
Construction in progress 53,459,770
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 502,021,747
Less:  Long-term debt outstanding (47,676,263)
Plus:  Deferred amount on refunding 592,729
Less:  Long-term construction payable (25,331,449)

Total Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 579,707,558

As of November 30, 2021, net position that is restricted by enabling legislation totaled $9,775,817.
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G. NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES (cont.)

Governmental Funds

Governmental fund balances reported on the fund financial statements at November 30, 2021, include
the following:

General Fund

American
Rescue Plan

Fund
Motor Fuel Tax

Fund

Transportation
Sales Tax

Fund

Nonmajor
Governmental

Funds Totals

Fund Balances

  Nonspendable:
Prepaid items $ 39,468 $ - $ - $ - $ 281,106 $ 320,574
Advances to

subrecipients - - - - 975,311 975,311
Permanent fund

principal - - - - 1,150,000 1,150,000

 Restricted for:
Tort liability - - - - 7,717,093 7,717,093
Employee benefits - - - - 8,103,269 8,103,269
Public services - - - - 3,922,516 3,922,516
Judicial purposes - - - - 3,445,206 3,445,206
Public safety - - - - 6,126,492 6,126,492
Highway projects - - 42,369,420 - 31,112,946 73,482,366
Health and welfare - - - - 7,960,809 7,960,809
County development - - - - 609,715 609,715
Environment and

conservation - - - - 14,279 14,279
Debt service - - - - 6,343,676 6,343,676
Capital projects - - - - 1,240,838 1,240,838
Other purposes - - - - 915,394 915,394

  Committed to:
Judicial purposes - - - - 1,143,894 1,143,894
Public safety - - - - 2,248,053 2,248,053
Highway projects - - - 37,891,343 - 37,891,343
County development - - - - 5,237,096 5,237,096
Debt service - - - - 477,856 477,856
Other purposes 5,236,418 - - - - 5,236,418

 Assigned to:
Tort liability - - - - 995,163 995,163
Employee benefits 30,000 - - - 2,021,642 2,051,642
Public services 320,000 - - - 2,487,762 2,807,762
Judicial purposes 217,512 - - - 1,523,401 1,740,913
Public safety - - - - 2,504,408 2,504,408
Highway projects - - - 3,056,879 5,966,351 9,023,230
Health and welfare - 21,046 - - 1,779,439 1,800,485
County development 427,463 - - - 5,515,054 5,942,517
Environment and

conservation - - - - 1,192,800 1,192,800
Capital projects 125,000 - - - 14,054,115 14,179,115
Other purposes 31,016,240 - - - 2,514,711 33,530,951

  Unassigned: 51,762,894 - - - (1,211,164) 50,551,730

Total Fund
Balances $ 89,174,995 $ 21,046 $ 42,369,420 $ 40,948,222 $ 128,369,231 $ 300,882,914
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H. RESTATEMENT OF FUND BALANCES/NET POSITION

Fund balance and net position have been restated due to the implementation of GASB Statement No. 84,
Fiduciary Activities. The details of the restatement are as follows:

Governmental
Activities

Nonmajor
Governmental

Funds
Custodial

Funds

Fund balance / net position - November 30, 2020
(as reported) $ 778,534,772 $ 130,670,646 $ -

Impact of GASB Statement No. 84
implementation on fund balance / net position 273,676 273,676 13,146,100

Fund balance / net position - November 30, 2020
(as restated)  $ 778,808,448 $ 130,944,322 $ 13,146,100

I. COMPONENT UNIT

Forest Preserve District of Kane County

This report contains the Forest Preserve District of Kane County (District), which is included as a
discretely presented component unit. The financial statements of the District are as of and for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2021.

The District is an Illinois local government, a separate legal entity, with its own management, levy and
budget authority and its own authority to issue debt. The members of the Board are elected by the
citizens of the County to the District's Board of Commissioners at the same time they are elected to the
County Board.  This meets the "imposition of will" criteria, but a financial benefit or burden relationship
does not exist between the entities. The County has no responsibility for the operations of the District.
The District's financial statements include all government activities and functions whose expenditures are
approved by the Board of Commissioners. No outside agencies have been included in the District's
financial statements. Separately issued component unit financial statements are available for the District;
contact the District office located at 1996 South Kirk Road, Suite 320, Geneva, IL, 60134.

In addition to the basic financial statements, the following additional disclosures are considered
necessary for a fair presentation.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation - The consolidated financial statements of the District have been prepared on the
accrual basis of accounting in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
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I. COMPONENT UNIT (cont.)

Forest Preserve District of Kane County (cont.)

Cash and Investments - Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand
deposits, and cash with fiscal agent. Investments are generally reported at fair value. Short-term
investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value. For investments, the District recognizes
its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting
principles.  The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset.
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other
observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.

Receivables - Receivables consist of all revenues earned at year-end and not yet received. Allowances
for uncollectible accounts receivable are based upon historical trends and the periodic aging of accounts
receivable. Major receivables balances include property taxes and utility charges.

Prepaids - Prepaids are valued at cost, which approximates market. The cost of prepaids are recorded as
expenses when consumed rather than when purchased. Certain payments to vendors reflect costs
applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaids.

Capital Assets - Capital assets purchased or acquired with an original cost of $50,000 or more are
reported at historical cost or estimated historical cost. Contributed assets are reported at acquisition value
as of the date received. Additions, improvements and other capital outlays that significantly extend the
useful life of an asset are capitalized. Other costs incurred for repairs and maintenance are expensed as
incurred.

Depreciation on all assets is computed and recorded using the straight-line method of depreciation over
the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings and improvements 25 - 50 Years
Machinery and equipment 5 - 10 Years
Infrastructure 40 - 50 Years
Land improvements 25 - 30 Years

Deferred Outflows/Inflows Resources - Deferred outflow/inflow of resources represents an acquisition of
net position that applies to a future period and therefore will not be recognized as an outflow of resources
(expense)/inflow of resources (revenue) until that future time.

Compensated Absences - The District accrues accumulated unpaid vacation and associated employee-
related costs when earned (or estimated to be earned) by the employee. No liability is recorded for
nonvesting accumulation rights to receive sick pay benefits. However, a liability is recognized for that
portion of accumulated sick leave that is estimated to be taken as "terminal leave" prior to retirement.

All vacation pay is accrued when incurred.
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I. COMPONENT UNIT (cont.)

Forest Preserve District of Kane County (cont.)

Long-Term Obligations - Long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities. Bond
premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest
method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance
costs are reported as expenses at the time of issuance.

Net Position - Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

a. Net investment in capital assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets,
net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds,
mortgages, notes or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or
improvement of those assets.

b. Restricted - Consists of net position with constraints placed on the use either by (1) external
groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or
(2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislations.

c. Unrestricted - All other net position balances that do not meet the definition of "restricted" or "net
investment in capital assets."

Deposits and Investments

The District's investment policy authorizes the District to invest in all investments allowed by Illinois
Compiled Statutes.

Permitted Deposits and Investments - Statutes authorize the District to make deposits/invest in
commercial banks, savings and loan institutions, obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. Agencies,
credit union shares, repurchase agreements, commercial paper rated within the three highest
classifications by at least two standard rating services, and the Illinois Metropolitan Investment Fund.

Deposits - At year-end, the carrying amount of the District's deposits totaled $3,776,551 and the bank
balances totaled $5,562,038. In addition, the District has $55,073,370 invested in the Illinois Metropolitan
Investment Fund (IMET) at year-end, with an average maturity of less than one year.

Interest Rate Risk - In accordance with its investment policy, the District limits its exposure to interest rate
risk by structuring the portfolio to provide liquidity for short and long-term cash flow needs while providing
a reasonable rate of return based on the current market. As of June 30, 2021, the District holds $51,516
in U.S. Treasury note securities, $632,538 in municipal bonds, and $469,188 in U.S. agency obligation
securities, of which $403,661 matures within one to five years and $65,527 matured in less than one
year.
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The District has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2021: U.S. Treasury note
securities are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs), U.S. agency obligation securities and
municipal bonds are valued using quoted market prices (Level 2 inputs), and IMET investments (a 2a7-
like investment pool) measured at the net asset value per share determined by the pool.

Credit Risk - The District limits its exposure to credit risk by primarily investing in external investment
pools. As of June 30, 2021, the District's investments in U.S. Treasury note securities and U.S. agency
obligation securities were all rated AA+ by Standard & Poor's or not rated. The municipal bonds were all
rated AA- to AAA by Standard & Poor's. The IMET Convenience Fund is not rated.

Custodial Credit Risk -  In the case of deposits, the policy requires that all bank deposits in excess of
FDIC insurance be collateralized at 105% with collateral held by the District with an independent third
party or the Federal Reserve Bank. At year-end, the District's bank balances were fully collateralized or
insured.

For an investment, the District's investment policy requires pledging of collateral for all investments in
excess of federal depository insurance, at an amount not less than 102% of the fair market value of the
funds secured, with the collateral held by an independent third party custodian in the name of the District.

Concentration of Credit Risk - The District's investment policy requires diversification of investments to
avoid unreasonable risk. With the exception of U.S. Treasury securities, authorized pools and bond
proceeds investment trusts, no more than 50% of the District's portfolio may be invested in any single
financial institution. The District's investment in the Illinois Metropolitan Investment Fund represents more
than 5 percent of the total cash and investment portfolio.
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Capital Assets

The District's capital asset activity for the year was as follows:

Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions

Ending
Balance

Capital assets not being depreciated
Land $415,139,273 $ 5,759,402 $ 552,612 $420,346,063
Construction in progress 2,677,204 5,364,188 1,479,393 6,561,999

Total Capital Assets Not Being
Depreciated 417,816,477 11,123,590 2,032,005 426,908,062

Capital assets being depreciated
Buildings and improvements 38,986,825 75,180 - 39,062,005
Machinery and equipment 1,752,640 57,799 - 1,810,439
Infrastructure 25,548,251 1,404,212 - 26,952,463
Land improvements 2,216,335 - - 2,216,335

Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 68,504,051 1,537,191 - 70,041,242

Total Capital Assets 486,320,528 12,660,781 2,032,005 496,949,304

Less:  Accumulated depreciation for
Buildings and improvements 16,570,443 1,189,661 - 17,760,104
Machinery and equipment 1,153,831 137,565 - 1,291,396
Infrastructure 13,527,298 683,354 - 14,210,652
Land improvements 2,568,225 - - 2,568,225

Total Accumulated Depreciation 33,819,797 2,010,580 - 35,830,377

Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 34,684,254 (473,389) - 34,210,865

Total District Capital Assets, Net of
Accumulated Depreciation $452,500,731 $ 10,650,201 $ 2,032,005 $461,118,927
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Forest Preserve District of Kane County (cont.)

Long-Term Obligations

Changes in the District's long-term obligations during the fiscal year were as follows:

Beginning
Balance Increases Decreases Ending Balance

Amounts Due
Within One

Year

Bonds
General obligation

bonds $ 133,215,000 $ 19,065,000 $ 32,820,000 $ 119,460,000 $ 11,915,000
Premium / (discount) 6,366,383 2,305,328 1,225,014 7,446,697 1,035,467

Total Bonds 139,581,383 21,370,328 34,045,014 126,906,697 12,950,467

Compensated absences 467,373 50,205 100,410 417,168 83,434
Total OPEB liability 148,794 5,846 - 154,640 -
Net pension liability 1,667,665 - 1,499,577 168,088 -

Total District Long-
Term Liabilities $ 141,865,215 $ 21,426,379 $ 35,645,001 $ 127,646,593 $ 13,033,901

A description of the District's remaining outstanding long-term bonds is as follows:

2011A General Obligation Bonds - Issued to acquire and preserve forests and natural lands. Principal
payments are due annually on December 15, beginning in 2012, and interest is due semi-annually at
rates from 3.0% to 4.5%. The final payment is due December 15, 2031.

2015A General Obligation Limited Tax Refunding Bonds - Issued to refund outstanding 2006 General
Obligation Limited Tax  (Capital Appreciation) Bonds.  Principal payments are due annually on December
15, beginning in 2015, and interest is due semi-annually at a rate of 3.00%. The final payment is due
December 15, 2025.

2015B General Obligation Refunding Bonds - Issued to refund outstanding 2007 General Obligation
Limited Tax (Capital Appreciation) Bonds.  Principal payments are due annually on December 15,
beginning in 2015, and interest is due semi-annually at a rate of 3.00%. The final payment was due
December 15, 2019.

2016A General Obligation Limited Tax Refunding Bonds - Issued to refund outstanding 2008 General
Obligation (ARS) Bonds.  Principal payments are due annually on December 15, beginning in 2016, and
interest is due semi-annually at a rate of 5.00%. The final payment is due December 15, 2025.

2016B Taxable General Obligation (Alternate Revenue Source) Bonds - Principal payments are due
annually on December 15, beginning in 2016, and interest is due semi-annually at rates from 2.00% to
3.15%. The final payment is due December 15, 2027.
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Forest Preserve District of Kane County (cont.)

2016C General Obligation Refunding Bonds - Issued to partially refund outstanding 2007 General
Obligation Bonds. Principal payments are due annually  on December 15, beginning in 2017, and interest
is due semi-annually at rates from 3.00% to 5.00%. The final payment is due December 15, 2026. 

2017A General Obligation Bonds - Principal payments are due annually on December 15, beginning in
2018, and interest is due semi-annually at rates from 3.00% to 5.00%. The final payment is due
December 15, 2037.

2017B Taxable General Obligation Bonds - Principal payments are due annually on December 15,
beginning in 2018, and interest is due semi-annually at rates from 2.00% to 2.55%. The final payment is
due December 15, 2023.

2020 General Obligation Refunding Bonds - On August 5, 2020, the District issued $19,065,000 par value
General Obligation Refunding Bonds of 2020 to refund $21,025,000 of the General Obligation Bonds of
2011A. Principal payments are due annually on December 15, beginning in 2021, and interest is due
semi-annually at rates from 2.00% to 5.00%. The final payment is due December 15, 2031. 

The District defeased bonds by placing the proceeds of the new bonds in an irrevocable trust to provide
for all future debt service payment of the old bonds. Since the requirements that normally satisfy
defeasance have been met, the financial statements reflect satisfaction of the original liability through the
irrevocable transfer to an escrow agent of an amount computed to be adequate to meet the future debt
service requirements of the issue. Accordingly, the trust account assets and the liability for the defeased
bonds are not included in the government’s basic financial statements. Through this refunding, the District
reduced its total debt service by $911,106 and obtained an economic gain of $1,140,301.

Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:

Principal Interest Totals

2022 $ 11,915,000 $ 4,039,112 $ 15,954,112
2023 12,425,000 3,519,497 15,944,497
2024 12,960,000 2,956,066 15,916,066
2025 13,510,000 2,419,866 15,929,866
2026 13,945,000 1,953,491 15,898,491
2027-2031 30,835,000 5,636,390 36,471,390
2032-2036 16,995,000 2,552,560 19,547,560
2037-2038 6,875,000 243,165 7,118,165

Totals $ 119,460,000 $ 23,320,147 $ 142,780,147
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Net Position

Net investment in capital assets was comprised of the following:

Capital assets not being depreciated $ 426,908,062
Capital assets, being depreciated 34,210,865
Less:  Long-term debt outstanding (excluding unspent capital related debt

proceeds) (119,460,000)
Plus:  Noncapital debt proceeds 15,665,731
Plus:  Unamortized debt discount 11,784
Less:  Unamortized debt premium (7,458,481)
Plus:  Deferred amount on refunding 1,926,475

Total District Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 351,804,436

Risk Management

The District is exposed to various risks related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; employee health; injuries to employees; and net income losses. Employee health
coverage is provided through the County by independent third parties “equivalent to third party
indemnity,” for which the District provides reimbursement. Since December 1, 2007, the District has been
a member of the Park District Risk Management Agency (PDRMA) Property/Casualty Program, a joint
risk management pool of park and forest preserve districts, and special recreation associations through
which property, general liability, automobile liability, crime, boiler and machinery, public officials’,
employment practices liability, and workers’ compensation coverage is provided in excess of specified
limits for the members, acting as a single insurable unit.

Losses exceeding the per-occurrence self-insured and reinsurance limit would be the responsibility of the
District. 

As a member of PDRMA’s Property/Casualty Program, the District is represented on the
Property/Casualty Program Council and the Membership Assembly and is entitled to one vote on each.
The relationship between the District and PDRMA is governed by a contract and by-laws that have been
adopted by resolution of the District’s governing body. 

The District is contractually obligated to make all annual and supplementary contributions to PDRMA, to
report claims on a timely basis, cooperate with PDRMA, its claims administrator and attorneys in claims
investigation and settlement, and to follow risk management procedures as outlined by PDRMA.
Members have a contractual obligation to fund any deficit of PDRMA attributable to a membership year
during which they were a member. 
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PDRMA is responsible for administering the self-insurance program and purchasing excess insurance
according to the direction of the Program Council. PDRMA also provides its members with risk
management services, including the defense of and settlement of claims, and establishes reasonable and
necessary loss reduction and prevention procedures to be followed by the members.

Contingent Liabilities

Litigation - The District is a defendant in various lawsuits. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is not
presently determinable, in the opinion of the District's attorney, the resolution of these matters will not
have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the District.

Grants - Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by
grantor agencies, principally the federal government. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already
collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures which may
be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time although the District expects such
amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

Cultural and Events Center

The District owns and operates an event stadium (the Cultural and Events Center). The Kane County
Cougars, a minor league baseball team, (the Cougars) is the primary licensee at the stadium. In May
2014, the District entered into a new license agreement with the Cougars for use of the stadium and into
an agreement to resolve the dispute with minority owners. This lease was amended in August 2019.
Under the amended lease agreement, the District receives a base quarterly fee of $125,000 for a total
annual amount of $500,000. The agreement expires in December 2034. The District began receiving
payments from the minority owners' dispute agreement beginning in December 2014 and will continue
until December 2033. The two minority owners will each pay $12,500 annually. This results in total
payments from each minority owner of $250,000. These agreements relieved any receivable balances
owed to the District from past license agreements.

The minimum future payments under this agreement are as follows:

Fiscal Year
Minimum

License Fees
Minority

Owner Fees

2022 $ 500,000 $ 25,000
2023 500,000 25,000
2024 500,000 25,000
2025 500,000 25,000
2026 500,000 25,000

2027 - 2031 2,500,000 125,000
2032 - 2035 1,775,000 100,000
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Service Concession Arrangement For Golf Courses

Effective April 1, 2002, the District entered into two agreements with management companies for the
District's three golf courses, under which the companies will operate and collect user fees. The District
will receive installment payments over the course of the arrangement; the present value of these
installment payments was estimated to be $4,227,814 as of the inception of the agreement. Through
December 31, 2021, the management company will pay the District $110,000 each year plus 20% of all
gross revenues earned from any source at Hughes Creek in excess of $1,000,000 annually. In addition,
the management company will pay 5% of all gross revenues from any source at the Deer Valley Golf
Course, which was closed as of December 31, 2020. Any excess revenue beyond the minimum
payments is considered revenue when collected. The management companies are required to operate
and maintain the golf course in accordance with the agreements. The District reports the golf courses and
related assets as a capital asset with a carrying amount of $5,609,684 as of June 30, 2021.

Employee Retirement System - Defined Benefit Pension Plan

The District contributes to the Illinois Municipal Retirement (IMRF), a defined benefit agent multiple-
employer public employee retirement system providing retirement and disability benefits, post-retirement
increases, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. IMRF acts as a common investment
and administrative agent for local governments and school districts in Illinois. The Illinois Pension Code
establishes the benefit provisions of the plan that can only be amended by the Illinois General Assembly.
IMRF issues a financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information.
That report may be obtained at www.imrf.org or by writing to the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund, 2211
York Road, Suite 500, Oak Brook, Illinois 60523.

Plan description. All employees hired in positions that meet or exceed the prescribed annual hourly
standard must be enrolled in IMRF as participating members. Public Act 96-0889 created a second tier
for IMRF’s Regular Plan. Effective January 1, 2011, IMRF assigns a benefit tier to a member when he or
she is enrolled in IMRF. Employees hired before January 1, 2011, are eligible for Tier 1 benefits. Tier 1
employees are vested for pension benefits when they have at least eight years of qualifying service
credit. Tier 1 employees who retire at age 55 (at reduced benefits) or after age 60 (at full benefits) with
eight years of service are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life, in an amount
equal to 1-2/3% of the final rate of earnings for the first 15 years of service credit, plus 2% for each year
of service credit after 15 years to a maximum of 75% of their final rate of earnings. Final rate of earnings
is the highest total earnings during any consecutive 48 months within the last 10 years of service, divided
by 48. Under Tier 1, the pension is increased by 3% of the original amount on January 1 every year after
retirement.
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Employees hired on or after January 1, 2011, are eligible for Tier 2 benefits. For Tier 2 employees,
pension benefits vest after ten years of service. Participating employees who retire at age 62 (at reduced
benefits) or after age 67 (at full benefits) with ten years of service are entitled to an annual retirement
benefit, payable monthly for life, in an amount equal to 1-2/3% of the final rate of earnings for the first 15
years of service credit, plus 2% for each year of service credit after 15 years to a maximum of 75% of
their final rate of earnings. Final rate of earnings is the highest total earnings during any 96 consecutive
months within the last 10 years of service, divided by 96. Under Tier 2, the pension is increased on
January 1 every year after retirement, upon reaching age 67, by the lesser of 3% of the original pension
amount or 1/2 of the increase in the Consumer Price Index of the original pension amount.

Plan membership. At December 31, 2020, the measurement date, membership in the plan was as
follows:

Retirees and beneficiaries 75
Inactive, non-retired members 90
Active members 77

Total 242

Contributions. As set by statute, the District's Regular Plan Members are required to contribute 4.50% of
their annual covered salary. The statute requires employers to contribute the amount necessary, in
addition to member contributions, to finance the retirement coverage of its own employees. For the year-
ended June 30, 2021, The District's contribution was 9.88% of covered payroll.

Net pension liability/(asset). The net pension liability/(asset) was measured as of December 31, 2020,
and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability/(asset) was determined by an
actuarial valuation as of that date.

Summary of significant accounting policies. For purposes of measuring the net pension
liability/(asset), deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and
pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the IMRF plan and additions
to/deductions from IMRF plan fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by IMRF. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair
value.
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Actuarial assumptions. The total pension liability for the IMRF plan was determined by an actuarial
valuation performed as of December 31, 2020 using the following actuarial methods and assumptions:

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal
Asset valuation method Market Value
Actuarial assumptions

Interest Rate 7.25%
Inflation 2.75%
Salary increases 2.85% to 13.75%, including

inflation
Cost of Living Adjustment 2.25%

Mortality.  For non-disabled retirees, the Pub-2010, Amount-Weighted, below-median income, General,
Retiree, Male (adjusted 106%) and Female (adjusted 105%) mortality tables were used with future
mortality improvements projected using scale MP-2020. For disabled retirees, the Pub-2010, Amount-
Weighted, below-median income, General, Disabled Retiree, Male and Female (both unadjusted)
mortality tables were used with future mortality improvements projected using scale MP-2020. For active
members, the Pub-2010, Amount-Weighted, below-median income, General, Employee, Male and
Female (both unadjusted) mortality tables were used with future mortality improvements projected using
scale MP-2020.

Long-term expected real rate of return. See Note IV.A for further information on IMRF's target
allocation and long-term expected real rate of return as of December 31, 2020.

Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for the IMRF plan was
7.25%, the same as the prior valuation. The projections of cash flows used to determine the discount rate
assumed that member contributions will be made at the current contribution rates and that District
contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution
rates and the member rates. Based on those assumptions, the fiduciary net position was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term
expected rate of return on investments was applied to all periods of projected benefits to determine the
total pension liability.

Discount rate sensitivity. The following is a sensitivity analysis of the net pension liability/(asset) to
changes in the discount rate. The table below presents the net pension liability of the District calculated
using the discount rate of 7.25% as well as what the net pension liability/(asset) would be if it were to be
calculated using discount rates that are 1 percentage point lower (6.25%) or 1 percentage point higher
(8.25%) than the current rates:

1% Decrease
  Current

Discount Rate 1% Increase

Total pension liability/(asset) $ 21,843,339 $ 19,131,205 $ 17,068,907
Plan fiduciary net pension 18,963,117 18,963,117 18,963,117
Net pension liability/(asset) $ 2,880,222 $ 168,088 $ (1,894,210)
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Changes in net pension liability/(asset). The District's change in net pension liability/(asset) for the
IMRF plan for the calendar year December 31, 2020 was as follows:

Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension

Liability 
(a)

Plan Fiduciary
Net Position 

(b)

Net Pension
Liability/(Asset)

(a) - (b)

Balances at December 31, 2019 $ 18,232,274 $ 16,564,609 $ 1,667,665
Service cost 463,916 - 463,916
Interest on total pension liability 1,314,943 - 1,314,943
Differences between expected and actual

experience of the total pension liability 64,626 - 64,626
Change of assumptions (290,390) - (290,390)
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (654,164) (654,164) -
Contributions - employer - 452,376 (452,376)
Contributions - employee - 208,362 (208,362)
Net investment income - 2,321,598 (2,321,598)
Other (net transfer) - 70,336 (70,336)

Balances at December 31, 2020 $ 19,131,205 $ 18,963,117 $ 168,088

Pension expense and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions. For the year ended June 30, 2021, the District recognized pension expense of $(120,658) for
the IMRF plan. The District reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions from
the following sources:

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of

Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience $ 316,221 $ 93,578
Assumption changes 134,042 291,978
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension
plan investments - 1,331,629
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 231,700 -

Total $ 681,963 $ 1,717,185
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The amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources from contributions subsequent to the
measurement date in the above table will be recognized as reductions in the net pension liability/(asset)
for the year ending June 30, 2022. The remaining amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of
resources related to pensions ($1,266,922) will be recognized in pension expense in future periods as
follows:

Fiscal Year Regular Plan

2022 $ (369,323)
2023 (86,694)
2024 (587,109)
2025 (223,796)

Total $ (1,266,922)

Other Postemployment Benefits

Plan description. The District's defined benefit OPEB plan, the Forest Preserve District of Kane County
Postretirement Health Plan (PHP), provides OPEB for all permanent full-time general and public safety
employees of the District. The PHP is a single-employer defined benefit OPEB plan administered by the
District. Article 11 of the State Compiled Statutes grants the authority to establish and amend the benefit
terms and financing requirements to the District Board. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets
the criteria in paragraph 4 of Statement 75.

Benefits provided. The District provides post-employment health insurance and dental benefits to
retirees and their spouses. To be eligible for benefits, the employee must be at a minimum age of 55 and
have at least 15 years of service at the District.

All health care benefits are provided through the District's purchased employee health insurance plan.
The benefit levels for retirees are the same as those afforded to active employees, which creates an
implicit subsidy. The retirees pay the blended premium. Benefits include general inpatient and outpatient
medical services, dental care, and prescriptions. The benefits are provided until age 65 or whenever
Medicare coverage becomes available.

Plan membership. As of June 30, 2021, the measurement date, the following employees were covered
by the benefit terms:

Inactive plan members currently receiving benefits 3
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits -
Active plan members 77

Total 80

Total OPEB liability. The District's total OPEB liability of $154,640 was measured as of June 30, 2021
and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2020.
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Actuarial assumptions and other inputs. The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2021 actuarial
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all
periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified:

Inflation 3.00%
Salary increases 4.00%
Discount rate 2.18%
Healthcare cost trend rates PPO Plan - 4.00%; 

Blue Advantage HMO Plan - 4.00%
Retirees' share of benefit-related costs Same as healthcare cost trend rates
Mortality PubS H-2010 Mortality Table -

General

Change in the total OPEB liability. 
Total OPEB

Liability

Balance at June 30, 2020 $ 148,794
Service cost 9,325
Interest on the total OPEB liability 3,798
Changes of assumptions or other inputs 4,647
Benefit payments (11,924)

Balance at June 30, 2021 $ 154,640

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the total
OPEB liability, as well as what the total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate
that is 1-percentage-point lower (1.18%) or 1-percentage-point higher (3.18%) than the current discount
rate:

1% Decrease
(1.18%)

Discount Rate
(2.18%)

1% Increase
(3.18%)

Total OPEB liability $ 165,204 $ 154,640 $ 144,872

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates. The following
presents the total OPEB liability, as well as what the total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated
using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the
current healthcare cost trend rates

1% Decrease
(Varies)

Discount Rate
(Varies)

1% Increase
(Varies)

Total OPEB liability $ 140,491 $ 154,640 $ 171,585
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OPEB expense and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
OPEB. For the year ended June 30, 2021, the District recognized OPEB expense of $(13,590). At June
30, 2021, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of

Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience $ - $ 61,606
Assumption changes 26,255 220,095

Total $ 26,255 $ 281,701

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB
will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Fiscal Year Amount

2022 $ (26,713)
2023 (26,713)
2024 (26,713)
2025 (26,713)
2026 (26,713)
Thereafter (121,881)

Total $ (255,446)

NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION 

A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

The County's defined benefit pension plans, administered by the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund
(IMRF), for Regular and Sheriff's Law Enforcement Personnel (SLEP),  provide retirement and disability
benefits, post-retirement increases, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. IMRF acts as
a common investment and administrative agent for local governments and school districts in Illinois. The
Illinois Pension Code establishes the provisions of the plan that can only be amended by the Illinois
General Assembly. IMRF issues a publicly available Comprehensive Annual Financial Report that
includes financial statements, detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position, and
required supplementary information. The report may be obtained at www.imrf.org.
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)

A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)

The County participates in two benefit plans under IMRF. The vast majority of members participate in the
Regular Plan. The Sheriff's Law Enforcement Personnel (SLEP) plan is for sheriffs, deputy sheriffs, and
selected police chiefs. Both plans are agent multiple-employer public employee retirement systems.

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund

Plan description. Both IMRF benefit plans have two tiers. Members who first participated in IMRF or an
Illinois Reciprocal System prior to January 1, 2011 participate in Tier 1. All other members participate in
Tier 2. For Tier 1 participants, pension benefits vest after 8 years of service. Participating members who
retire at age 55 (at reduced benefits) or after age 60 (at full benefits) with 8 years of service are entitled to
an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life in an amount equal to 1-2/3% of their final rate of
earnings (average of the highest 48 consecutive months' earnings during the last 10 years) for credited
service up to 15 years and 3% for each year thereafter.

Employees hired on or after January 1, 2011, are eligible for Tier 2 benefits. For Tier 2 participants,
pension benefits vest after 10 years of service. Participating members who retire at age 62 (at reduced
benefits) or after age 67 (at full benefits) with 10 years of service are entitled to an annual retirement
benefit, payable monthly for life in an amount equal to 1-2/3% of their final rate of earnings for the first 15
years of service credit, plus 2% for each year of service after 15 years to a maximum of 75% of their final
rate of earnings. Final rate of earnings is the highest total earnings during any 96 consecutive months
within the last 10 years of service, divided by 96. Under Tier 2, the pension is increased every year after
retirement, upon reaching age 67, by the lesser of 3% of the original pension amount or 1/2 of the
increase in the Consumer Price Index of the original pension amount.

Plan membership. At December 31, 2020, the measurement date, membership in the plan was as
follows:

Regular Plan SLEP

Retirees and beneficiaries 933 143
Inactive, non-retired members 935 53
Active members 970 189

Total 2,838 385

Contributions. As set by statute, County employees participating in the Regular and SLEP plans are
required to contribute 4.50% and 7.50%, respectively, of their annual covered salary. The statute requires
the County to contribute the amount necessary, in addition to member contributions, to finance the
retirement coverage of its own employees. The County’s actuarially determined contribution rates for
calendar year 2020 were 8.04% and 22.66%, respectively, of annual covered payroll for the Regular and
SLEP plans. The County also contributes for disability benefits, death benefits and supplemental
retirement benefits, all of which are pooled at the IMRF level. Contribution rates for disability and death
benefits are set by the IMRF Board of Trustees, while the supplemental retirement benefits rate is set by
statute.
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)

A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)

Net Pension Liability/(Asset). The net pension liabilities/(assets) were measured as of December 31,
2020, and the total pension liabilities used to calculate the net pension liabilities/(assets) were determined
by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. For purposes of measuring the net pension
liabilities/(assets), deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions,
and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Regular and SLEP plans and
additions to/deductions from the Regular and SLEP plans fiduciary net position have been determined on
the same basis as they are reported by IMRF. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.
Investments are reported at fair value.

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liabilities for the Regular and SLEP plans were determined by
actuarial valuations performed as of December 31, 2020 using the following actuarial methods and
assumptions:

Regular Plan SLEP

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal Entry Age Normal
Asset valuation method Market Value Market Value
Actuarial assumptions

Investment Rate of Return 7.25% 7.25%
Salary increases 2.85% to 13.75%,

including inflation
2.85% to 13.75%,
including inflation

Price inflation 2.25% 2.25%

Mortality.  For non-disabled retirees, the Pub-2010, Amount-Weighted, below-median income, General,
Retiree, Male (adjusted 106%) and Female (adjusted 105%) mortality tables were used with future
mortality improvements projected using scale MP-2020. For disabled retirees, the Pub-2010, Amount-
Weighted, below-median income, General, Disabled Retiree, Male and Female (both unadjusted)
mortality tables were used with future mortality improvements projected using scale MP-2020. For active
members, the Pub-2010, Amount-Weighted, below-median income, General, Employee, Male and
Female (both unadjusted) mortality tables were used with future mortality improvements projected using
scale MP-2020.
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)

A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)

Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return.  The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments was determined using an asset allocation study in which best-estimate ranges of expected
future real rates of return (net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) were developed for each
major asset class. These ranges were combined to produce long-term expected rate of return by the
target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best
estimates of arithmetic and geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in
the following table:

Projected Returns/Risks

Asset Class
Target

Allocation
One Year
Arithmetic

Ten Year
Geometric

Equities 37.00% 6.35% 5.00%
International equities 18.00% 7.65% 6.00%
Fixed income 28.00% 1.40% 1.30%
Real estate 9.00% 7.10% 6.20%
Alternatives 7.00%

Private equity 10.35% 6.95%
Hedge funds N/A N/A
Commodities 3.90% 2.85%

Cash equivalents 1.00% 0.70% 0.70%

Discount rate. The discount rates used to measure the total pension liabilities for the Regular and SLEP
plans were 7.25% and 7.25%, respectively. The discount rates calculated using the December 31, 2019
measurement date were 7.25% and 7.25%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount
rates assumed that member contributions will be made at the current contribution rates and that County
contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution
rates and the member rates. Based on those assumptions, the fiduciary net positions were projected to
be available to make projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-
term expected rate of return on investments was applied to all periods of projected benefits payments to
determine the total pension liabilities.
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)

A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)

Discount rate sensitivity. The following is a sensitivity analysis of the net pension liabilities/(assets) to
changes in the discount rates. The table below presents net pension liabilities/(assets) of the County
calculated using the discount rates of 7.25% and 7.25%, respectively as well as what the net pension
liabilities/(assets) would be if it were to be calculated using discount rates that are 1 percentage point
lower (6.25% for Regular and 6.25% for SLEP) or 1 percentage point higher (8.25% for Regular and
8.25% for SLEP) than the current rates:

1% Decrease
  Current

Discount Rate 1% Increase

Regular Plan:
Total pension liability $ 333,313,250 $ 297,273,919 $ 269,450,559
Plan fiduciary net pension 317,226,920 317,226,920 317,226,920
Net pension liability/(asset) $ 16,086,330 $ (19,953,001) $ (47,776,361)

SLEP:
Total pension liability $ 215,730,200 $ 190,122,839 $ 169,193,585
Plan fiduciary net pension 179,656,616 179,656,616 179,656,616
Net pension liability/(asset) $ 36,073,584 $ 10,466,223 $ (10,463,031)
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)

A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)

Changes in net pension liability/(asset). The changes in net pension liabilities/(assets) for the Regular
and SLEP plans for the calendar year ended December 31, 2020 were as follows:

Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension

Liability 
(a)

Plan Fiduciary
Net Position 

(b)

Net Pension
Liability/(Asset)

(a) - (b)

Regular Plan:
Balances at December 31, 2019 $ 286,002,159 $ 282,904,434 $ 3,097,725

Service cost 5,060,218 - 5,060,218
Interest on total pension liability 20,446,325 - 20,446,325
Differences between expected and actual

experience of the total pension liability
2,033,544 - 2,033,544

Change of assumptions (3,240,349) - (3,240,349)
Benefit payments, including refunds of

employee contributions
(13,027,978) (13,027,978) -

Contributions - employer - 4,229,499 (4,229,499)
Contributions - employee - 2,503,971 (2,503,971)
Net investment income - 39,992,307 (39,992,307)
Other (net transfer) - 624,687 (624,687)

Balances at December 31, 2020 $ 297,273,919 $ 317,226,920 $ (19,953,001)

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of
the total pension liability %106.71

SLEP:
Balances at December 31, 2019 $ 176,077,853 $ 158,395,048 $ 17,682,805

Service cost 3,510,695 - 3,510,695
Interest on total pension liability 12,618,327 - 12,618,327
Differences between expected and actual

experience of the total pension liability
6,539,270 - 6,539,270

Change of assumptions (1,048,678) - (1,048,678)
Benefit payments, including refunds of

employee contributions
(7,574,628) (7,574,628) -

Contributions - employer - 4,308,549 (4,308,549)
Contributions - employee - 1,472,726 (1,472,726)
Net investment income - 22,961,023 (22,961,023)
Other (net transfer) - 93,898 (93,898)

Balances at December 31, 2020 $ 190,122,839 $ 179,656,616 $ 10,466,223

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of
the total pension liability %94.50
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)

A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)

Pension expense and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related
to pensions. For the year ended November 30, 2021, the County recognized pension expense of
$(3,319,588) ($(5,130,730) and $1,811,142 for the Regular and SLEP plans, respectively). The County
reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pension from the following sources:

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of

Resources

Regular Plan:
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 2,580,030 $ 197,967
Assumption changes 1,955,056 2,768,632
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension
plan investments - 23,708,878
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 4,338,553 -

Total $ 8,873,639 $ 26,675,477

SLEP:
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 9,030,451 $ 1,225,263
Assumption changes 2,737,887 1,274,130
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension
plan investments - 13,487,835
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 3,622,684 -

Total $ 15,391,022 $ 15,987,228

The amount reported as deferred outflows resulting from contributions subsequent to the measurement
date in the above table will be recognized as a reduction in the net pension liabilities/(assets) for the
year ending November 30, 2022. The remaining amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of
resources related to pensions ($(22,140,391) for Regular and $(4,218,890) for SLEP) will be recognized
in pension expense as follows:

Year Ending November 30, Regular Plan SLEP

2022 $ (5,771,220) $ (1,588,836)
2023 (2,765,922) 371,282
2024 (9,665,794) (3,228,779)
2025 (3,937,455) (636,924)
2026 - 864,367

Total $ (22,140,391) $ (4,218,890)
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)

B. RISK MANAGEMENT  

The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; workers compensation; and healthcare of its employees. The County
purchases commercial insurance to cover itself for property and casualty loss. The County is self-insured
for workers' compensation, general liability, and employee healthcare.

Self Insurance

The County maintains a $850,000 and $750,000 self-insured retention (SIR) per employee for workers'
compensation and general liability claims, respectively, with a $10,000,000 ceiling for each occurrence.
Third party claim administering organizations are used to handle the claim processing. Current claims for
workers' compensation and general liability are charged to the Insurance Liability Fund, a special revenue
fund. Long-term liabilities for probable claims and judgments for workers' compensation and general
liability have been recorded in the Statement of Net Position. The amounts of settlements have not
exceeded insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.

For employee healthcare claims, the uninsured risk of loss is $100,000 per incident for a policy year. The
County has purchased commercial insurance for claims in excess of those amounts. Claims for employee
healthcare are charged to the Health Insurance Fund, an internal service fund. The amounts of
settlements have not exceeded insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.

Claims Liability - Workers' Compensation and General Liability 

A reconciliation of claims payable for the fiscal years ended November 30, 2021 and 2020 for workers'
compensation and general liability is as follows:

Prior Year Current Year

Unpaid claims - Beginning of Year $ 4,648,784 $ 4,058,338
Current year claims and changes in estimates 2,295,448 2,611,848
Claim payments (2,885,894) (1,495,231)

Unpaid Claims - End of Year $ 4,058,338 $ 5,174,955

Claims Liability - Employee Healthcare

A reconciliation of claims payable for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2021 and 2020 for self-insured
employee healthcare is as follows:

Prior Year Current Year

Unpaid claims - Beginning of Year $ 909,609 $ 1,057,467
Current year claims and changes in estimates 13,245,544 14,458,784
Claim payments (13,097,686) (14,266,036)

Unpaid Claims - End of Year $ 1,057,467 $ 1,250,215
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)

C. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments are
only reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are recorded in the
government-wide statements and proprietary funds as expenses when the related liabilities are incurred.

From time to time, the County is party to various pending claims and legal proceedings. Although the
outcome of such matters cannot be forecasted with certainty, it is the opinion of management and the
County attorney that the likelihood is remote that any such claims or proceedings will have a material
adverse effect on the County's financial position or results of operations. 

The County has received federal and state grants for specific purposes that are subject to review and
audit by the grantor agencies. Such audits could lead to requests for reimbursements to the grantor
agency for expenditures disallowed under terms of the grants. Management believes such disallowances,
if any, would be immaterial.

The County has active construction projects as of November 30, 2021. Work that has been completed on
these projects but not yet paid for (including contract retainages) is reflected as accounts payable and
expenditures.

D. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

Plan description. The County's defined benefit OPEB plan, the Retiree Healthcare Plan (RHP), provides
coverage for eligible retirees and their spouses through the County's group health insurance plan, which
covers both active and retired members (or other qualified terminated employees) participating in the
RHP at blended premium rates. This results in an other postemployment benefit for the retirees,
commonly referred to as an implicit rate subsidy. The RHP is a single-employer defined benefit OPEB
plan administered by the County. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in
paragraph 4 of Statement 75. All funding for the RHP is done on a pay-as-you-go basis. The RHP does
not issue a stand-alone financial report.

Benefits provided. The RHP provides post-retirement healthcare and dental benefits (extended health
insurance premiums), in accordance with Kane County's Codification Sec. 2-162, to all employees who
retire from the County on or after attaining age 55 with at least 15 years of service, enrolled in the plan for
the 12 months preceding retirement, and eligible to receive IMRF benefits. Two plans exist. In the first
plan, the County pays for 10% of the premium cost for a maximum of 10 years for employees who have
15 years or more of service. The County also pays for 10% of the premium cost for eligible employees'
dependents to continue coverage under the plan and for their surviving spouses for a maximum of six
months after their death. This coverage is not available to retirees who are eligible for Medicare benefits
or retirees who are covered by another group insurance plan by themselves or by their spouse. Under the
second plan mandated by the State of Illinois, the retired employees pay the full cost of the premium with
the County being responsible for filing claims. This places a maximum 10 years liability upon the County.
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D. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (cont.)

Employees covered by benefit terms. At November 30, 2021, the actuarial valuation date, the following
employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefit payments 61
Active plan members 888

Total 949

Total OPEB liability. The County's total OPEB liability of $10,645,485 was measured as of November
30, 2021, and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of February 1, 2021.

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs. The total OPEB liability in the November 30, 2021 actuarial
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all
periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified:

Inflation 3.00%

Healthcare participation rate 25.00%

Healthcare cost trend rates - initial HMO - 6.00%; PPO - 7.50%

Healthcare cost trend rates - ultimate HMO - 4.50%; PPO - 4.50%

Retirees' share of benefit-related costs 90% or 100%

The discount rate was based on the S&P Municipal Bond 20-Year High-Grade Rate Index as of
November 30, 2021.

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Study, with rates improved generationally using MP-2017
Improvement Rates.

The actuarial assumptions used in the November 30, 2021 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study conducted by the independent actuary.

Discount rate. At November 30, 2021, the discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was a
blended rate of 2.23%, which was a change from the November 30, 2020 rate of 2.03%. Since the plan is
financed on a pay-as-you-go basis, the discount rate is based on the 20-year general obligation bond
index.
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)

D. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (cont.)

Change in the total OPEB liability.

Total OPEB
Liability

Balances at November 30, 2020 $ 10,618,922
      Service cost 517,317
      Interest 210,048
      Changes in assumptions or other inputs (157,308)
      Benefit payments (543,494)

Balances at November 30, 2021 $ 10,645,485

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the total
OPEB liability of the County, as well as what the County's total OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (1.23%) or 1-percentage-point higher
(3.23%) than the current discount rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase 
(1.23%) (2.23%) (3.23%)

Total OPEB liability $ 11,455,017 $ 10,645,485 $ 9,892,193

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates. The following
presents the total OPEB liability of the County, as well as what the County's total OPEB liability would be
if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower (5.00%
decreasing to 3.50% for HMO and 6.50% decreasing to 3.50% for PPO) or 1-percentage-point higher
(7.00% decreasing to 5.50% for HMO and 8.50% decreasing to 5.50% for PPO) than the current
healthcare cost trend rates:

1% Decrease
(Various)

Healthcare Cost
Trend Rates

(Various)
1% Increase

(Various)

Total OPEB liability $ 9,609,498 $ 10,645,485 $ 11,850,957
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)

D. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (cont.)

OPEB expense and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
OPEB. For the year ended November 30, 2021, the County recognized OPEB expense of $309,895. At
November 30, 2021, the County reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of

Resources

Differences between expected and actual   experience $ 468,731 $ 548,541
Changes of assumptions or other inputs 2,269,150 4,970,065

      Total $ 2,737,881 $ 5,518,606

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB
will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Year Ended November 30: Amount

2022 $ (417,470)
2023 (417,470)
2024 (417,470)
2025 (417,470)
2026 (417,470)
Thereafter (693,375)

Total $ (2,780,725)

E. RELATED PARTIES  

The County provides general governmental services to the Kane County Forest Preserve, the discretely
presented component unit. These services include postage, mail services, photocopying, computer
services, and emergency dispatching services. For the year ended November 30, 2021, the County
received $149,110 from the Forest Preserve as reimbursement for these services. 

Other payments made to the Forest Preserve included:  an external riverboat grant in the amount of
$10,685 paid to the Forest Preserve to fund a trail connection at the Fox River Trail, a payment of
$30,300 made by the Transportation department for intersection improvement for the Bliss/Fabyan/Main
construction project, and $254,100 for the purchase of wetland mitigation credits for future transportation
projects.  In addition, the remaining balance of $397,455 deposited with the County for investment
management was returned to the Forest Preserve.

On August 12, 2014, the County entered into an intergovernmental agreement with the Forest Preserve
to fund improvements at the Settler’s Hill Golf Course.  For the year ended November 30, 2021, the
County paid the remaining $300,000 balance of the intergovernmental agreement to the Forest Preserve. 
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NOTE IV - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)

F. EFFECT OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ON CURRENT-PERIOD FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has approved the following:

 Statement No. 87, Leases

 Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction

Period

 Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations

 Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020

 Statement No. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates

 Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment

Arrangements

 Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements

 Statement No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial

Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans-an

amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 84, and a supersession of GASB

Statement No. 32

 Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022

 Statement No. 100, Account Changes and Error Corrections - an amendment of GASB

Statement no. 62

 Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences

The statements listed above through Statement No. 93 had their required effective dates
postponed by one year with the issuance of Statement No. 95, Postponement of Effective Dates of
Certain Authoritative Guidance, with the exception of Statement No. 87, which was postponed by
one and a half years.

When they become effective, application of these standards may restate portions of these financial
statements.
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A-1

Governmental Business-Type Airport
Activities Activities Total ETSB Authority

Assets and Deferred 
Outflows of Resources

Assets
Cash and investments 415,347,009$     15,777,444$      431,124,453$     35,582,607$     15,707,643$     
Receivables:

Taxes 111,487,697       -                        111,487,697       -                        6,037,955         
State shared revenue 4,917,819           -                        4,917,819           -                        -                        
Interest 650,204              -                        650,204              34,040              -                        
Accounts, net of allowance for 

doubtful accounts 22,653,760         8,405,955          31,059,715         -                        638,493            
Loans 9,923,699           -                        9,923,699           -                        -                        
Other 1,804,103           412,307             2,216,410           -                        -                        

Due from federal, state and other 
governmental units 37,186,216         -                        37,186,216         6,124,047         -                        

Due from primary government -                         -                        -                         172,584            -                        
Internal balance (55,958)               55,958               -                         -                        -                        
Due from fiduciary funds 1,035,341           -                        1,035,341           -                        -                        
Inventory 1,333,146           -                        1,333,146           -                        258,458            
Prepaid items 2,093,985           -                        2,093,985           1,098,131         703,106            
Advances to others 1,723,928           -                        1,723,928           -                        -                        

Noncurrent Assets
Net pension asset, IMRF 104,078              -                        104,078              -                        1,562,872         
Restricted cash and investments 2,308,537           1,913,507          4,222,044           -                        55,698,303       
Restricted Special Service Area   
  assessments receivable -                         3,163,746          3,163,746           -                        -                        
Capital assets not being depreciated 315,201,812       9,041,897          324,243,709       59,341              61,035,755       
Capital assets being depreciated,

net of accumulated depreciation 464,220,702       86,622,471        550,843,173       10,220,040       74,556,920       

Total assets 1,391,936,078    125,393,285      1,517,329,363    53,290,790       216,199,505     

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows related to pensions 61,328,293         995,346             62,323,639         65,626              878,458            
Deferred outflows related to OPEB 2,628,945           98,277               2,727,222           9,426                -                        
Deferred outflows related to asset
  retirement obligation -                         171,188             171,188              -                        -                        

Total deferred outflows of resources 63,957,238         1,264,811          65,222,049         75,052              878,458            

Total assets and deferred                                                            
outflows of resources 1,455,893,316$  126,658,096$    1,582,551,412$  53,365,842$     217,077,963$   

DuPage County, Illinois

November 30, 2021
Statement of Net Position

Component UnitsPrimary Government

See notes to financial statements
22



DuPage County, Illinois

November 30, 2021
Statement of Net Position

Governmental Business-Type Airport
Activities Activities Total ETSB Authority

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows
of Resources and Net Position

Liabilities
Accounts payable 23,602,880$       2,554,536$        26,157,416$       153,533$          1,356,225$       
Accrued payroll 10,106,223         277,437             10,383,660         28,264              -                        
Due to federal, state and other 

governmental units 4,032,590           -                        4,032,590           3,840                -                        
Accrued interest payable 2,194,647           53,246               2,247,893           -                        -                        
Due to ETSB 172,584              -                        172,584              -                        -                        
Unearned revenue 77,556,660         -                        77,556,660         -                        1,029,556         
Retainage payable 217,838              -                        217,838              -                        -                        
Other liabilities 5,573,261           2,698,416          8,271,677           7,560                1,188,741         
Long-term liabilities, due within one year:

Bonds payable 11,430,000         1,510,000          12,940,000         -                        -                        
IEPA construction loan -                         246,031             246,031              -                        -                        
Compensated absences 7,485,851           270,272             7,756,123           9,798                74,032              
Claims payable 2,135,769           -                        2,135,769           -                        -                        

Long-term liabilities, due in more than one year:
Bonds payable, net of unamortized premium 101,564,171       2,551,304          104,115,475       -                        -                        
IEPA construction loan -                         4,908,502          4,908,502           -                        -                        
Compensated absences 24,769,294         1,019,987          25,789,281         29,795              296,124            
Claims payable 563,559              -                        563,559              -                        -                        
Asset retirement obligation -                         211,869             211,869              -                        -                        
Total OPEB liability 12,988,486         485,543             13,474,029         46,569              -                        
Net pension liability 78,112,032         593,596             78,705,628         39,138              -                        

Total liabilities 362,505,845       17,380,739        379,886,584       318,497            3,944,678         

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows related to pensions 117,539,332       3,037,454          120,576,786       200,269            1,869,136         
Deferred inflows related to OPEB 461,056              17,235               478,291              1,653                -                        
Property taxes levied for a future period 70,065,978         -                        70,065,978         -                        6,037,955         

Total deferred inflows of resources 188,066,366       3,054,689          191,121,055       201,922            7,907,091         

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 666,951,275       86,450,854        753,402,129       10,279,381       135,431,297     
Restricted for: -                        

Grant programs 21,361,349         -                        21,361,349         -                        -                        
Grant funded loan programs 9,923,699           -                        9,923,699           -                        -                        
Employee benefits 7,706,103           -                        7,706,103           -                        -                        
Public health 19,492,231         -                        19,492,231         -                        -                        
Public safety 3,398,177           -                        3,398,177           -                        -                        
Highways, streets and bridges 50,920,423         -                        50,920,423         -                        -                        
Wetland mitigation 7,838,690           -                        7,838,690           -                        -                        
Judicial 14,399,704         -                        14,399,704         -                        -                        
Conservation and recreation 1,726                  -                        1,726                  -                        -                        
Public services 6,512,305           -                        6,512,305           -                        -                        
Other purposes 12,118,244         -                        12,118,244         -                        -                        
Debt service 11,384,803         5,021,684          16,406,487         -                        -                        
Capital improvements 6,074,632           -                        6,074,632           -                        -                        
Aeronautical -                         -                        -                         -                        55,698,303       

Unrestricted 67,237,744         14,750,130        81,987,874         42,566,042       14,096,594       

Total net position 905,321,105       106,222,668      1,011,543,773    52,845,423       205,226,194     

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, and net position 1,455,893,316$  126,658,096$    1,582,551,412$  53,365,842$     217,077,963$   

Component UnitsPrimary Government

See notes to financial statements
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Operating Capital Business-
Charges Grants and Grants and Governmental Type Airport

Functions/Programs Expenses for Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total ETSB Authority

Primary Government
Governmental activities:

General government 80,076,988$      22,934,710$      873,127$           -$                       (56,269,151)$    -$                       (56,269,151)$           -$                       -$                       
Health and public safety 180,303,370      35,220,077        58,757,487        -                         (86,325,806)      -                         (86,325,806)             -                         -                         
Highways, streets and bridges 50,718,903        2,613,047          24,583,433        17,377,456        (6,144,967)         -                         (6,144,967)               -                         -                         
Public services 62,807,278        3,000,575          64,175,227        -                         4,368,524          -                         4,368,524                -                         -                         
Judicial 48,681,317        21,317,379        7,233,848          -                         (20,130,090)      -                         (20,130,090)             -                         -                         
Conservation and recreation 7,865,135          1,055,499          58,776               -                         (6,750,860)         -                         (6,750,860)               -                         -                         
Public works 441,798             -                         -                         -                         (441,798)            -                         (441,798)                  -                         -                         
Educational services 1,143,538          -                         -                         -                         (1,143,538)         -                         (1,143,538)               -                         -                         
Interest and fiscal charges 4,765,063          -                         -                         -                         (4,765,063)         -                         (4,765,063)               -                         -                         

Total governmental activities 436,803,390      86,141,287        155,681,898      17,377,456        (177,602,749)    -                         (177,602,749)           -                         -                         

Business-type activities:
Water and sewerage system 26,464,101        28,663,946        -                         628,600             -                         2,828,445          2,828,445                -                         -                         

Total business-type activities 26,464,101        28,663,946        -                         628,600             -                         2,828,445          2,828,445                -                         -                         

Total primary government 463,267,491$    114,805,233$    155,681,898$    18,006,056$      (177,602,749)$  2,828,445$        (174,774,304)$         -$                       -$                       

Component Units
ETSB 12,557,911$      14,086,302$      1,147,646$        184,336$           -$                       -$                       -$                              2,860,373$        -$                       
Airport authority 25,599,379        19,957,585        -                         719,523             -                         -                         -                                -                         (4,922,271)         

Total component units 38,157,290$      34,043,887$      1,147,646$        903,859$           -                         -                         -                                2,860,373          (4,922,271)         

General revenues:
Taxes:

Property tax 69,683,177        -                         69,683,177              -                         6,042,446          
County sales tax 121,727,916      -                         121,727,916            -                         -                         
Local gas tax 24,517,038        -                         24,517,038              -                         -                         
Other tax 6,846,974          -                         6,846,974                -                         -                         

Intergovernmental - unrestricted:
Income tax 12,730,835        -                         12,730,835              -                         -                         
Personal property replacement taxes 6,069,203          -                         6,069,203                -                         104,642             
American Rescue Plan Fund/CRF Fund 51,874,676        -                         51,874,676              -                         -                         

Investment income 386,972             52,848               439,820                   (13,486)              68,013               
Gain on disposal of assets -                         1,053,876          1,053,876                -                         12,608,520        
Miscellaneous 12,999,581        -                         12,999,581              774,055             19,297               

Total general revenues 306,836,372      1,106,724          307,943,096            760,569             18,842,918        

Transfers (2,904,820)         2,904,820          -                                -                         -                         

Change in net position 126,328,803      6,839,989          133,168,792            3,620,942          13,920,647        

Net Position, Beginning, As Restated 778,992,302      99,382,679        878,374,981            49,224,481        191,305,547      

Net Position, Ending 905,321,105$    106,222,668$    1,011,543,773$       52,845,423$      205,226,194$    

DuPage County, Illinois
Statement of Activities
Year Ended November 30, 2021

Component Units
Primary Government                       Program Revenues                       

Changes in Net Position                
Net (Expense) Revenue and

See notes to financial statements
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Health Care American Total 
General  Department  Center Rescue Plan U.S. Treasury Nonmajor Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds

Assets

Cash and investments 92,393,855$     27,142,630$     14,040,123$     71,967,003$     10,944,631$     182,285,930$   398,774,172$     
Receivables:

Taxes 57,790,385       13,137,870       -                       -                       -                       40,559,442       111,487,697      
State shared revenue receivable 1,011,562         -                       -                       -                       -                       3,906,257         4,917,819          
Interest 58,751              -                       8,599                -                       -                       575,354            642,704             
Accounts, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 828                   1,734,683         19,866,490       -                       -                       1,051,759         22,653,760        
Loans -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       9,923,699         9,923,699          
Other 507,186            -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       507,186             

Due from federal, state and other governmental units 1,650,183         10,360,134       -                       -                       214,571            24,961,328       37,186,216        
Due from other funds 697,274            6,252,573         -                       -                       -                       493,170            7,443,017          
Due from fiduciary funds 827,033            -                       -                       -                       -                       208,308            1,035,341          
Due from ETSB 1,108                -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       1,108                 
Inventory -                       60,854              472,524            -                       -                       799,768            1,333,146          
Prepaid items 1,678,801         17,100              41,940              -                       -                       356,144            2,093,985          
Advances to others -                       -                       -                       -                       1,723,928         -                       1,723,928          
Restricted cash and investments -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       2,308,537         2,308,537          

Total assets 156,616,966$   58,705,844$     34,429,676$     71,967,003$     12,883,130$     267,429,696$   602,032,315$     

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of 
Resources, and Fund Balances (Deficits)

Liabilities
Accounts payable 10,375,793$     860,750$          396,255$          552,333$          -$                     10,275,366$     22,460,497$      
Accrued payroll 4,340,527         1,523,634         1,883,675         995,122            3,413                1,359,852         10,106,223        
Unearned revenue 13,421              181,916            -                       63,908,270       12,877,001       576,052            77,556,660        
Claims payable -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       222,474            222,474             
Retainage payable -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       217,838            217,838             
Compensated absences 1,420,965         -                       68,549              1,481                -                       214,544            1,705,539          
Due to federal, state and other governmental units 1,996,786         -                       191,736            800                   -                       1,843,268         4,032,590          
Due to other funds 370,740            50,625              -                       6,190,785         -                       886,825            7,498,975          
Due to ETSB 173,692            -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       173,692             
Other liabilities 2,031,621         -                       491,794            293,826            849                   2,754,941         5,573,031          

Total liabilities 20,723,545       2,616,925         3,032,009         71,942,617       12,881,263       18,351,160       129,547,519      

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property taxes levied for a future period 25,257,700       13,082,625       -                       -                       -                       31,725,653       70,065,978        
Unavailable other taxes 10,826,673       -                       -                       -                       -                       2,935,137         13,761,810        
Unavailable intergovernmental revenue 431,816            9,424,558         -                       -                       -                       20,778,355       30,634,729        
Unavailable accounts receivable 431,068            -                       17,357,318       -                       -                       965,579            18,753,965        

Total deferred inflows of resources 36,947,257       22,507,183       17,357,318       -                       -                       56,404,724       133,216,482      

Fund Balances (Deficits)
Nonspendable 1,678,801         77,954              514,464            -                       -                       1,155,912         3,427,131          
Restricted 189,617            662,130            1,596,663         24,386              1,867                143,758,390     146,233,053      
Committed -                       32,841,652       11,929,222       -                       -                       47,918,267       92,689,141        
Unassigned 97,077,746       -                       -                       -                       -                       (158,757)           96,918,989        

Total fund balances (deficits) 98,946,164       33,581,736       14,040,349       24,386              1,867                192,673,812     339,268,314      

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and fund balances (deficits) 156,616,966$   58,705,844$     34,429,676$     71,967,003$     12,883,130$     267,429,696$   602,032,315$     

DuPage County, Illinois
Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet
November 30, 2021

Major Funds

See notes to financial statements
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Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 339,268,314$   

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position 
are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds:

Capital assets 1,617,354,788$  
Accumulated depreciation (837,932,274)      

779,422,514     
The net pension asset does not relate to current financial resources and is not

reported in the governmental funds. 104,078            

Some liabilities reported in the Statement of Net Position do not require the use of 
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as liabilities in 
governmental funds. These activities consist of:

Interest payable on debt (2,194,647)          
General obligation bonds (110,005,000)      
Unamortized bond premium (2,989,171)          
Claims payable (1,286,004)          
Net pension liability (78,112,032)        
Total OPEB liability (12,988,486)        
Compensated absences (30,549,606)        

(238,124,946)    

Revenues collected after the County's availability period are reported as deferred 
inflows of resources in governmental funds, however these amounts have been 
reported as revenues in the Statement of Activities. 63,150,504       

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current
financial resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. 61,328,293       

Deferred outflows of resources related to other postemployment benefits do not relate
 to current financial resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. 2,628,945         

Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current 
financial resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. (117,539,332)    

Deferred inflows of resources related to other postemployment benefits do not relate
 to current financial resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. (461,056)           

Internal services funds are reported in the Statement of Net Position as 
governmental activities. 15,543,791       

Net Position of Governmental Activities 905,321,105$   

DuPage County, Illinois

November 30, 2021
Reconciliation of Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to Statement of Net Position

See notes to financial statements
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Health Care American Total 
General  Department  Center Rescue Plan U.S. Treasury Nonmajor Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds

Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes 24,855,864$      13,296,133$      -$                      -$                      -$                      31,531,180$      69,683,177$      
Sales 117,632,726      -                        -                        -                        -                        1,692,867          119,325,593      
Other tax 6,846,974          -                        -                        -                        -                        22,860,603        29,707,577        

Fees, licenses and permits 1,053,693          -                        -                        -                        -                        3,472,349          4,526,042          
Intergovernmental revenue 27,377,890        22,209,193        30,206,639        25,725,023        25,366,905        99,715,132        230,600,782      
Charges for services 19,141,515        14,838,623        6,467,378          -                        -                        19,021,219        59,468,735        
Fines and forfeitures 6,860,388          -                        -                        -                        -                        181,983             7,042,371          
Investment income 169,046             26,232               9,990                 34,349               1,866                 103,830             345,313             
Miscellaneous 7,455,685          487,956             27,055               -                        -                        4,713,625          12,684,321        

Total revenues 211,393,781      50,858,137        36,711,062        25,759,372        25,368,771        183,292,788      533,383,911      

Expenditures
Current:

General government 43,743,380        -                        -                        19,525,843        -                        20,882,657        84,151,880        
Public safety 76,038,344        -                        -                        -                        -                        2,178,714          78,217,058        
Public health -                        56,930,258        34,804,636        -                        -                        5,403,950          97,138,844        
Highway, streets and bridges -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        29,111,005        29,111,005        
Public services 2,935,434          -                        -                        -                        25,366,904        33,133,528        61,435,866        
Judicial 46,332,293        -                        -                        -                        -                        8,362,980          54,695,273        
Conservation and recreation -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        6,136,781          6,136,781          
Public works -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        302,108             302,108             
Educational services 1,163,394          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        1,163,394          

Debt service:
Principal -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        24,300,000        24,300,000        
Interest -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        5,701,967          5,701,967          
Fiscal agent fees -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        3,200                 3,200                 

Capital outlay 6,343,703          3,632,461          309,763             18,358               -                        29,700,419        40,004,704        

Total expenditures 176,556,548      60,562,719        35,114,399        19,544,201        25,366,904        165,217,309      482,362,080      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 34,837,233        (9,704,582)        1,596,663          6,215,171          1,867                 18,075,479        51,021,831        

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in 21,410,176        13,688,624        4,713,604          -                        -                        51,472,435        91,284,839        
Transfers out (55,699,603)      (3,917,317)        -                        (6,190,785)        -                        (28,381,954)      (94,189,659)       
Sale of capital assets 42,414               7,222                 -                        -                        -                        169,577             219,213             

Total other financing sources (uses) (34,247,013)      9,778,529          4,713,604          (6,190,785)        -                        23,260,058        (2,685,607)         

Net change in fund balances 590,220             73,947               6,310,267          24,386               1,867                 41,335,537        48,336,224        

Fund Balances, Beginning (as restated) 98,355,944        33,507,789        7,730,082          -                        -                        151,338,275      290,932,090      

Fund Balances, Ending 98,946,164$      33,581,736$      14,040,349$      24,386$             1,867$               192,673,812$    339,268,314$    

DuPage County, Illinois
Governmental Funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Year Ended November 30, 2021

Major Funds

See notes to financial statements
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Net Change in Total Governmental Fund Balances 48,336,224$     

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
are different because:

Governmental funds report purchases of capital assets as expenditures while
governmental activities report depreciation expense to allocate those 
expenditures over the life of the assets.

Capital expenditures 35,477,915$     
Depreciation (36,293,599)      
Net book value of assets retired (136,066)           
Capital expenditures in excess of depreciation (951,750)           

Capital assets transferred to the County are recorded as capital contributions in 
the Statement of Activities, but do not require the use of current financial resources
and are therefore not reported in the governmental funds. 4,212,958         

Receivables not currently available are reported as revenue when collected
or currently available in the fund financial statements but are recognized as 
revenue when earned in the government-wide financial statements. 26,065,205       

Some expenses in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the 
governmental funds. 

Decrease in accrued interest on debt 341,126            
Decrease in claims payable 417,076            
Decrease in net pension liability 85,041,073       
Increase in net pension asset 104,078            
Decrease in deferred outflows of resources related to pensions (3,737,664)        
Increase in deferred inflows of resources related to pensions (59,552,537)      
Decrease in total other postemployment benefits liability 163,780            
Decrease in deferred outflows of resources related to other 

postemployment benefits (320,778)           
Increase in deferred inflows of resources related to other 

postemployment benefits (56,589)             
Decrease in compensated absences 298,858            
Amortization of bond premium 598,978            

23,297,401       
Repayment of principal on long-term debt is an expenditure in the governmental 

funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net
Position. 24,300,000       

Internal service funds are used by management to charge self insurance costs
to individual funds. The change in net position of the internal service fund 
is reported with governmental activities. 1,068,765         

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities 126,328,803$   

DuPage County, Illinois
Reconciliation of Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
Year Ended November 30, 2021

See notes to financial statements
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Business-
Type Governmental 

Activities Activities
Water and
Sewerage Internal 

System Service
Fund Fund

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

Assets
Current assets:

Cash 15,777,444$      16,572,837$      
Receivables:

Accounts, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 8,405,955          -                         
Interest -                        7,500                 
Other 412,307             1,296,917          

Due from other funds 179,286             -                         

Total current assets 24,774,992        17,877,254        

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:

Land and improvements 1,993,475          -                         
Sewer system 169,552,627      -                         
Water system 35,037,457        -                         
Equipment 5,153,106          -                         
Water Commission buy in 3,397,959          -                         
Water Commission meter station 1,054,261          -                         
Construction in progress 7,048,422          -                         
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (127,572,939)    -                         

Total capital assets 95,664,368        -                         

Restricted assets:
Restricted cash 1,913,507          -                         
Restricted Special Service Area assessments receivable 3,163,746          -                         

Total restricted assets 5,077,253          -                         

Total noncurrent assets 100,741,621      -                         

Total assets 125,516,613      17,877,254        

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 995,346             -                         
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB 98,277               -                         
Deferred outflows of resources related to asset retirement obligations 171,188             -                         

Total deferred outflows of resources 1,264,811          -                         

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 126,781,424$    17,877,254$      

DuPage County, Illinois
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
November 30, 2021

See notes to financial statements
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DuPage County, Illinois
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
November 30, 2021

Business-
Type Governmental 

Activities Activities
Water and
Sewerage Internal 

System Service
Fund Fund

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position

Liabilities
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 2,554,536$        1,142,383$        
Accrued payroll 277,437             -                         
Due to other funds 123,328             -                         
Other liabilities 2,698,416          230                    
Compensated absences, current 270,272             -                         
Claims payable, current -                        1,190,850          
Current liabilities payable from restricted assets:

Accrued interest payable 53,246               -                         
Revenue bonds payable, current 1,510,000          -                         
IEPA construction loan payable, current 246,031             -                         

Total current liabilities 7,733,266          2,333,463          

Long-term liabilities:
Compensated absences, noncurrent 1,019,987          -                         
Revenue bonds payable, net of unamortized premium 2,551,304          -                         
IEPA construction loan payable, noncurrent 4,908,502          -                         
Asset retirement obligations 211,869             -                         
Total OPEB liability 485,543             -                         
Net pension liability 593,596             -                         

Total long-term liabilities 9,770,801          -                         

Total liabilities 17,504,067        2,333,463          

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 3,037,454          -                         
Deferred inflows related to OPEB 17,235               -                         

Total deferred inflows of resources 3,054,689          -                         

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 86,450,854        -                         
Restricted for debt service 5,021,684          -                         
Unrestricted 14,750,130        15,543,791        

Total net position 106,222,668      15,543,791        

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position 126,781,424$    17,877,254$      

See notes to financial statements
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Business-
Type Governmental 

Activities Activities
Water and
Sewerage Internal 

System Service
Fund Fund

Operating  Revenues
Charges for services 26,899,143$      -$                        
Employee's share of premiums -                        10,284,845         
Employer's share of premiums -                        24,377,176         
Miscellaneous 1,764,803          252                     

Total operating revenues 28,663,946        34,662,273         

Operating Expenses
Personnel services 8,188,117          -                          
Commodities 1,541,606          -                          
Contractual services 12,668,639        33,635,167         
Depreciation and amortization 3,910,155          -                          

Total operating expenses 26,308,517        33,635,167         

Operating income (loss) 2,355,429          1,027,106           

Nonoperating Revenues
Investment income 52,848               41,659                
Interest expense (150,087)           -                          
Amortization of bond premium 15,649               -                          
Amortization of asset retirement obligation (20,596)             -                          
Fiscal agent fees (550)                  -                          
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets 1,053,876          -                          

Total nonoperating revenues 951,140             41,659                

Income (loss) before transfers and contributions 3,306,569          1,068,765           

Transfers and Contributions
Capital contributions and connection charges 628,600             -                          
Transfers in 2,904,820          -                          

Total transfers and contributions 3,533,420          -                          

Change in net position 6,839,989          1,068,765           

Net Position, Beginning 99,382,679        14,475,026         

Net Position, Ending 106,222,668$    15,543,791$       

DuPage County, Illinois
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
Year Ended November 30, 2021

See notes to financial statements
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Business-
Type Governmental 

Activities Activities
Water and
Sewerage Internal 

System Service
Fund Fund

Cash Flows From (to) Operating Activities
Cash received from customers 25,546,135$     -$                       
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (8,796,615)        -                         
Cash payments to employees (15,004,249)      -                         
Cash received from employer portion of insurance premiums -                        24,230,407        
Cash received from employee portion of insurance premiums -                        10,284,845        
Cash payments of insurance premiums and other costs -                        (33,691,101)       
Other revenues 2,097,589         252                    

Net cash flows from operating activities 3,842,860         824,403             

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities
Payments (to) from other funds 3,589,535         -                         

Net cash flows from noncapital financing activities 3,589,535         -                         

Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities
Acquisition of capital assets (6,533,843)        -                         
Sale of capital assets 251,952            -                         
Proceeds from IEPA Loan 1,989,792         
Principal payments on revenue bonds (1,470,000)        -                         
Principal payments on IEPA loan (242,985)           -                         
Proceeds from connection charges 628,600            
Interest payments on bonds and loans (162,534)           -                         
Paying agent fees (550)                  -                         

Net cash flows from capital and related financing activities (5,539,568)        -                         

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Income received on investments 52,848              41,950               

Net cash flows from investing activities 52,848              41,950               

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,945,675         866,353             

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning 15,745,276       15,706,484        

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Ending 17,690,951$     16,572,837$      

DuPage County, Illinois

Proprietary Funds
Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended November 30, 2021

See notes to financial statements
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DuPage County, Illinois

Proprietary Funds
Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended November 30, 2021

Business-
Type Governmental 

Activities Activities
Water and
Sewerage Internal 

System Service
Fund Fund

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash Flows 
From Operating Activities:

Operating income 2,355,429$       1,027,106$        

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash 
provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation 3,625,470         -                         
Amortization of other assets 284,685            -                         
Change in operating assets, deferred outflows of resources, and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (1,131,636)        (146,769)            
Accrued unbilled service revenue (221,372)           -                         
Due from special service area 260,268            -                         
Other receivable 72,518              -                         
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions (89)                    -                         
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB 9,509                -                         
Accounts payable (665,287)           (211,278)            
Other liabilities (4,528)               -                         
Claims payable -                        155,344             
Compensated absences and wages payable (294,861)           -                         
Total other post employment benefits liability 4,949                -                         
Net pension liability (2,058,901)        -                         
Charges collected for others (128,717)           -                         
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 2,455                -                         
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 1,732,968         -                         

Total adjustments 1,487,431         (202,703)            

Net cash flows from operating activities 3,842,860$       824,403$           

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents to the Statement of Net 
Position - Proprietary Funds

Cash, statement of net position 15,777,444$     16,572,837$      
Restricted cash, statement of net position 1,913,507         -                         

Total cash and cash equivalents 17,690,951$     16,572,837$      

See notes to financial statements
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A-10

Custodial
Funds

Assets

Cash and investments 47,691,439$      
Receivables:

Taxes 845,327,239      
Interest 4,518                 
Other 37,850               

Due from federal, state and other governmental units 74,197               
Due from other fiduciary funds 14,427               
Restricted cash 117,914             

Total assets 893,267,584$    

Liabilities and Net Position

Liabilities
Accounts payable 1,014,895$        
Due to federal, state and other governmental units 858,882,548      
Due to other fiduciary funds 14,427               
Due to primary government 1,035,341          
Other liabilities 5,074,226          

Total liabilities 866,021,437      

Net Position
Restricted for bond escrow 14,219,418        
Restricted for public safety 5,865,366          
Restricted for public services 1,113,219          
Restricted for highways, streets and bridges 3,834,361          
Restricted for judicial 302,549             
Restricted for client activity 1,089,035          
Restricted for debt service 822,199             

Total net position 27,246,147        

Total liabilities and net position 893,267,584$    

DuPage County, Illinois
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
November 30, 2021

See notes to financial statements
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Custodial
Funds

Additions
Property tax and related item collections 3,007,227,935$   
Intergovernmental revenue 2,511,389            
Charges for services 233,506               
Clerk of the Circuit Court deposits 21,243,403          
Collections for estate 19,398,330          
Fund participant deposits 11,901,800          
Investment income 5,579                   
Client contributions 805,143               

Total additions 3,063,327,085     

Deductions
Property taxes and related items distributed to other governments 2,991,871,974     
Funds released, estate settlements 32,633,816          
Infrastructure repairs and maintenance 1,257,131            
Condemnations 1,577,822            
Court collections to other governmental units and agencies 12,776,342          
Disbursements of abandoned property to State 3,825,371            
Refunds of bonds/bail and restitution payments 7,152,474            
Reimbursement to or on behalf of fund participants 11,863,093          
Client distributions 770,868               
Fees 1,586                   
Other deductions 121,861               
Debt service

Principal 500,691               
Interest 61,383                 
Fiscal agent fees 450                     

Total deductions 3,064,414,862     

Change in net position (1,087,777)          

Net Position, Beginning, As Restated 28,333,924          

Net Position, Ending 27,246,147$        

DuPage County, Illinois
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
November 30, 2021

See notes to financial statements
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DuPage County, Illinois
Notes to Financial Statements
November 30, 2021

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

DuPage County, Illinois, (the County) was incorporated in 1839. The County is a non home-rule county,
under the 1970 Illinois Constitution. The County is governed by a nineteen member elected Board.  The
County's structure and legal activities are controlled by state statute.

The accounting policies of the County conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America as applicable to governmental units. The accepted standard-setting body for establishing
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles is the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB).

Reporting Entity

This report includes all of the funds of the County. The reporting entity for the County consists of the
primary government and its component units. Component units are legally separate organizations for
which the primary government is financially accountable or other organizations for which the nature
and significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that their exclusion would
cause the reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading. The primary government is
financially accountable if (1) it appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing body and it is
able to impose its will on that organization, (2) it appoints a voting majority of the organization's
governing body and there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to or
impose specific financial burdens on, the primary government, (3) the organization is fiscally
dependent on and there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to or
impose specific financial burdens on, the primary government. Certain legally separate, tax exempt
organizations should also be reported as a component unit if all of the following criteria are met: (1) the
economic resources received or held by the separate organization are entirely or almost entirely for the
direct benefit of the primary government, its component units or its constituents; (2) the primary
government or its component units, is entitled to or has the ability to access, a majority of the economic
resources received or held by the separate organization; and (3) the economic resources received or
held by an individual organization that the primary government or its component units, is entitled to or
has the ability to otherwise access, are significant to the primary government.

Component units are reported using one of three methods, discrete presentation, blended or fiduciary.
Generally, component units should be discretely presented in a separate column in the financial
statements. A component unit should be reported as part of the primary government using the blending
method if it meets any one of the following criteria: (1) the primary government and the component unit
have substantively the same governing body and a financial benefit or burden relationship exists, (2)
the primary government and the component unit have substantively the same governing body and
management of the primary government has operational responsibility for the component unit, (3) the
component unit serves or benefits, exclusively or almost exclusively, the primary government rather
than its citizens or (4) the total debt of the component unit will be paid entirely or almost entirely from
resources of the primary government.

Blended Component Unit

DuPage County Health Department

The DuPage County Health Department (the Health Department) provides services to the
residents of the County and is governed by the Board of Health, which includes members of
the County Board. Additionally, there is a financial benefit and burden relationship between the
County and the Health Department. The Health Department's primary operating fund is
reported as a major fund, while the Department also includes nonmajor special revenue funds,
along with capital assets and long-term liabilities. Separately issued financial statements of the
Health Department may be viewed on its website at www.dupagehealth.org.
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DuPage County, Illinois
Notes to Financial Statements
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Discretely Presented Component Units

DuPage County Emergency Telephone System Board

The government-wide financial statements include the DuPage County Emergency Telephone
System Board (ETSB) as a component unit. The ETSB is a legally separate organization. The
board of the ETSB is appointed by the DuPage County Board Chairman and one County Board
member serves on its Board. State Statutes provide for circumstances whereby the County
can impose its will on ETSB and also create a potential financial benefit to or burden on the
County, requiring the County Board to approve the budget submitted by the ETSB Board and
placing responsibility for the management of ETSB deposits and investments with the County
Treasurer. See Note 3. As a component unit, ETSB's financial statements have been
presented as a discrete column in the financial statements. The information presented is for
the fiscal year ended November 30, 2021. Separately issued financial statements of the
DuPage County Emergency Telephone System Board may be viewed on the County's website
at www.dupageco.org.

DuPage Airport Authority

The government-wide financial statements also include the DuPage Airport Authority as a
component unit. The DuPage Airport Authority is a legally separate organization operating
under the direction of a Board of Commissioners. The Board of the DuPage Airport Authority is
appointed by the DuPage County Board Chairman and approves the annual budget in
accordance with State Statutes. See Note 3. As a component unit, the DuPage Airport
Authority's financial statements have been presented as a discrete column in the financial
statements. The information presented is for the year ended December 31, 2021. Separately
issued financial statements of the DuPage Airport Authority may be viewed on its website at
www.dupageairport.com.

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 

In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. This statement establishes
criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments for accounting and financial
reporting purposes and how those activities should be reported. This standard was implemented
December 1, 2020.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The statement of net position and statement of activities display information about the reporting
government as a whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds.
The statements distinguish between governmental and business-type activities. Governmental
activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues and other
nonexchange revenues. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to
external parties for goods or services. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately
from certain legally separate component units for which the primary government is financially
accountable. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given
function or segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly
identifiable with a specific function or segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to
customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges
provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and
other items not included among program revenues are reported as general revenues. Internally
dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues.
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DuPage County, Illinois
Notes to Financial Statements
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Fund Financial Statements

Financial statements of the County are organized into funds, each of which is considered to be a
separate accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-
balancing accounts, which constitute its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred
inflows of resources, net position/fund balance, revenues and expenditures/expenses. 

Funds are organized as major funds or nonmajor funds within the governmental and proprietary
statements. An emphasis is placed on major funds within the governmental and proprietary
categories. A fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the County or meets the
following criteria:

a. Total assets/deferred outflows of resources, liabilities/deferred inflows of resources,
revenues or expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental or enterprise fund are
at least 10 percent of the corresponding total for all funds of that category or type and 

b. The same element of the individual governmental or enterprise fund that met the 10
percent test is at least 5 percent of the corresponding total for all governmental and
enterprise funds combined.

c. In addition, any other governmental or enterprise fund that the County believes is
particularly important to financial statement users may be reported as a major fund.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary
funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major
individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate
columns in the fund financial statements.

The County reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund

General Fund accounts for the County's primary operating activities. It is used to account for
and report all financial resources except those accounted for and reported in another fund.

Special Revenue Funds

Health Department Fund is used to account for revenues which include property taxes, fees for
services and grant funding and expenditures/expenses pertaining to the general operations of
the DuPage County Health Department.

Care Center Fund is used to account for the financial and general operations, administration
and maintenance of the County's Care Center. Revenues are primarily from charges for
service paid by Medicaid, Medicare, private insurance and other sources.

American Rescue Plan Fund (ARPA) is used to account for federal grant monies received and
expended from the Department of Treasury to provide emergency financial assistance to
County agencies, local governments, nonprofits and small businesses for a comprehensive
response to the COVID-19 pandemic and to lay groundwork for a strong, equitable recovery.

U.S. Treasury Fund is used to account for federal grant monies received and expended from
the Department of Treasury to provide emergency rental assistance to support households at
risk of eviction and homelessness due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Enterprise Funds

The County reports the following major enterprise fund:

Water and Sewerage System Fund accounts for operations of the County's Public Works
Department, which owns and operates sewage collection treatment facilities and water
pumping and distribution systems located in certain areas of the County. The fund is
operated, financed and maintained in a manner similar to a private business enterprise.

The County reports the following nonmajor governmental funds:

Special Revenue Funds

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue
sources that are restricted or committed to expenditures for specified purposes (other than
debt service or capital projects).

Debt Service Funds

Debt Service Funds are used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed or assigned to expenditure for the payment of general long-term debt principal,
interest and related costs.

Capital Projects Funds

Capital Projects Funds are used to account for and report financial resources that are
restricted, committed or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or
construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.

In addition, the County reports the following fund types:

Internal Service Funds

Internal Service Fund is used to account for and report the financing of health insurance
provided to other departments and operations of the County on a cost-reimbursement basis.

Custodial Funds

Custodial Funds are used to account for and report assets controlled by the County and the
assets are for the benefit of individuals, private organizations and /or other governmental units.
These include numerous funds of the County Collector, County Treasurer, Clerk of the Circuit
Court, Sheriff and others.
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Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide statement of net position and statement of activities are reported using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual
basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the
liability is incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets and
liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the
exchange takes place. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are
levied. Taxes receivable for the following year are recorded as receivables and deferred inflows.
Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed
by the provider are met. Special assessments are recorded as revenue when earned. Unbilled
receivables are recorded as revenues when services are provided.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide
financial statements. However, interfund services provided and used are not eliminated in the
process of consolidation. 

Fund Financial Statements 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when
they are both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or
soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the
County considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the
current fiscal period. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except
for unmatured interest on long-term debt, claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension
expenditures, which are recorded as a fund liability when expected to be paid with expendable
available financial resources.

Property taxes are recorded in the year levied as receivables and deferred inflows. They are
recognized as revenues in the succeeding year when services financed by the levy are being
provided.

Intergovernmental aids and grants are recognized as revenues in the period the County is entitled
the resources and the amounts are available. Amounts owed to the County which are not available
are recorded as receivables and unavailable revenues. Amounts received before eligibility
requirements (excluding time requirements) are met are recorded as liabilities. Amounts received
in advance of meeting time requirements are recorded as deferred inflows.

Revenues susceptible to accrual include property taxes, miscellaneous taxes, public charges for
services and interest. Other general revenues such as fines and forfeitures, inspection fees,
recreation fees and miscellaneous revenues are recognized when received in cash or when
measurable and available under the criteria described above. 

Proprietary and Fiduciary Funds

Proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as described previously in this note. 
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The proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal
operating revenues of the Water and Sewerage System Fund are charges to customers for sales
and services. Special assessments are recorded as receivables and contribution revenue when
levied. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services,
administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

All Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net
Position or Equity 

Deposits and Investments

Illinois Statutes authorize the County to make deposits/investments in insured commercial banks,
savings and loan institutions, obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. Agencies, insured credit
union shares, money market mutual funds with portfolios of securities issued or guaranteed by the
United States or agreement to repurchase these same obligations, repurchase agreements, short-
term commercial paper rated within the three highest classifications by at least two standard rating
services and the Illinois Funds Investment Pool.

In the Water and Sewerage System Fund, the investment of funds is restricted by the revenue
bond ordinance. The ordinance restricts investment of funds to direct or fully guaranteed
obligations of the U.S. Government; interest-bearing time or demand deposits or certificates of
deposits with financial institutions that are fully insured or collateralized; or the Illinois Funds
Investment Pool.

The County has adopted an investment policy. The policy contains the following guidelines for
allowable investments. 

Interest Rate Risk

The investment policy is designed to obtain a market average rate of return, taking into
account investment risk constraints and cash flow needs.  

Credit Risk

The investment policy allows the Treasurer to invest in any type of security allowed by Illinois
Compiled Statutes. If the statutes are amended and one or more investments are no longer
permissible, the investments will be allowed to mature or can be sold immediately at the
Treasurer's discretion.  

Concentration of Credit Risk

The County's investment policy requires diversification of the investment portfolio to eliminate
the risk of loss resulting from over concentration in a specific issuer, maturity or class of
securities. Concentration in short-term corporate obligations will not exceed 90 percent of the
limit contained in Illinois law. 
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Custodial Credit Risk, Deposits

The County's investment policy  requires some form of collateral to protect public deposits in a
single financial institution if it were to default. All federally and non-federally insured institutions
must fully collateralize deposits using instruments and collateral ratios of 105 percent.

Custodial Credit Risk, Investments

The County's investment policy requires all securities to be held by a third party custodian
designated by the Treasurer and evidenced by safekeeping receipts. Investments are normally
held by financial institutions or brokers under Trust agreements arising from Bond ordinances,
subject to the custodial agreements of the ordinances. 

Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on methods and
inputs as outlined in Note 3. Adjustments necessary to record investments at fair value are
recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in investment income. Investment
income on commingled investments of municipal accounting funds is allocated based on average
balances. 

Illinois Funds is an investment pool managed by the State of Illinois, Office of the Treasurer, which
allows governments within the State to pool their funds for investment purposes. Illinois Funds is
not registered with the SEC as an investment company, but does operate in a manner consistent
with Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940. Investments in Illinois Funds are valued at
Illinois Fund’s share price, the price for which the investments could be sold.

See Note 3 for further information. 

Receivables   

Property taxes for levy year 2021 attaches as an enforceable lien on January 1, 2021, on property
values assessed as of the same date. Taxes are levied in November following the lien date (by
passage of a Tax Levy Ordinance). The 2021 tax levy, which attached as an enforceable lien on
the property as of January 1, 2021, has been recorded as a receivable and deferred inflow of
resources as of November 30, 2021, as these taxes are budgeted to be used in fiscal year 2022.

Tax bills for levy year 2021 are prepared by the County and issued on or about May 1, 2022 and
are payable in two installments, on or about June 1, 2022 and September 1, 2022.

During the course of operations, transactions occur between individual funds that may result in
amounts owed between funds. Short-term interfund loans are reported as due to and from other
funds. Long-term interfund loans (noncurrent portion) are reported as advances from and to other
funds. Interfund receivables and payables between funds within governmental activities are
eliminated in the statement of net position. Any residual balances outstanding between the
governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the governmental-wide financial
statements as internal balances.

The County has received federal and state grant funds for economic development and housing
rehabilitation loan programs to various businesses and individuals. The County records a loan
receivable when the loan has been made and funds have been disbursed. The amount recorded
as economic development and housing rehabilitation loans receivable has not been reduced by an
allowance for uncollectible accounts.
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It is the County's policy to record revenue when the initial loan is made from the federal and state
grant funds. The net amount of the loan receivable balance is included in restricted fund balance.
Interest received from loan repayments is recognized as revenue when received in cash. Any
unspent loan repayments at year end are presented as restricted fund balance in the fund financial
statements.

Inventories and Prepaid Items  

Governmental fund inventories, if material, are recorded at cost based on the FIFO method using
the consumption method of accounting. 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded
as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements. The cost of prepaid items
is recorded as expenditures/expenses when consumed rather than when purchased.

Restricted Assets  

Mandatory segregations of assets are presented as restricted assets. Such segregations are
required by bond agreements and other external parties. Current liabilities payable from these
restricted assets are so classified. The excess of restricted assets over current liabilities payable
from restricted assets will be used first for retirement of related long-term debt. The remainder, if
generated from earnings, is shown as restricted net position.

Capital Assets  

Government-Wide Statements

Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment, are reported in the government-
wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an
initial cost of more than $5,000 for capital assets (except for the Care Center and Water and
Sewerage System, which uses a $2,500 and $25,000 threshold, respectively) and an
estimated useful life in excess of one year. All capital assets are valued at historical cost or
estimated historical cost if actual amounts are unavailable. Donated capital assets are
recorded at their estimated acquisition value at the date of donation. 

Additions to and replacements of capital assets of business-type activities are recorded at
original cost, which includes material, labor, overhead and an allowance for the cost of funds
used during construction when significant. For tax-exempt debt, the amount of interest
capitalized equals the interest expense incurred during construction netted against any interest
revenue from temporary investment of borrowed fund proceeds. No interest was capitalized
during the current year. The cost of renewals and betterments relating to retirement units is
added to plant accounts. The cost of property replaced, retired or otherwise disposed of, is
deducted from plant accounts and, generally, together with removal costs less salvage, is
charged to accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the
statement of activities, with accumulated depreciation reflected in the statement of net position.
Depreciation is provided over the assets' estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
The range of estimated useful lives by type of asset is as follows:

Building and improvements 40 Years
Water and sewer systems 15 - 100 Years
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 3 - 10 Years
Infrastructure, drainage, stormwater 20 - 50 Years
Land improvements 15 Years
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Fund Financial Statements

In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are
accounted for as capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition.
Capital assets used in proprietary fund operations are accounted for the same way as in the
government-wide statements.

Deferred Outflows of Resources 

A deferred outflow of resources represents a consumption of net position/fund balance that applies
to a future period and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until
that future time.

Compensated Absences  

Under terms of employment, employees are granted sick leave, vacation and retention pay
benefits in varying amounts. Only benefits considered to be vested are disclosed in these
statements. 

All vested vacation and sick leave pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and
proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental
funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements
and are payable with expendable resources. 

Effective December 1, 2011, all sick time hours accrued, unused and banked were frozen for
purposes of eligibility for monetary compensation. This accrued sick time will continue to be eligible
for pay based on years of service at the time of separation. For employees hired prior to
November 1, 2005 who have accumulated thirty days of sick leave pay, the employee has the
option to request monetary compensation for up to five days of sick time per year at a payout
percentage based upon the level of continuous years of service. Upon separation or layoff, those
employees have the option to receive monetary compensation for accrued, unused sick time at a
payout percentage based upon the level of continuous years of service or obtain service credit to
the full extent allowed by Illinois law and IMRF policies, if any. Employees hired after November 1,
2005 who have completed eight years of service, upon separation or layoff, have the option to
receive monetary compensation for accrued, unused sick time at 50 percent of the value or obtain
service credit to the full extent allowed by Illinois law and IMRF policies, if any.

Sick time accrued subsequent to December 1, 2011 will accrue and be carried over from year to
year up to a maximum of 120 days. This sick time may be used only for the employee’s own health
condition, to care for an immediate family member who requires the employee’s care or to obtain
service credit to the full extent allowed by Illinois law and IMRF policies, if any.

Vacation pay is earned on a monthly basis based on years of service. Employees may carry over
up to 10 earned vacation days per year. Any unused vacation time above the 10-day carryover
maximum, may be forfeited at the beginning of the following calendar year. After completing five
years of continuous employment, employees may redeem up to one week of their annual accrued
vacation at full value. After completing fifteen years of continuous employment, employees may
redeem up to two weeks of their annual accrued vacation at full value.

For employees hired on or before November 30, 2002, the County offered an Employee Retention
Program, whereby eligibility begins either at age 55 and 10 years of continuous service or 20 years
of continuous service independent of age. Employees may earn up to 120 paid days with 20 years
of continuous service, payable at termination.

Payments for vacation and sick leave will be made at rates in effect when the benefits are used.
Accumulated vacation and sick leave liabilities at November 30, 2021, are determined on the basis
of current salary rates and include salary related payments.
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Long-Term Obligations/Conduit Debt/Special Assessment Debt   

All long-term obligations to be repaid from governmental and business-type resources are reported
as liabilities in the government-wide statements. The long-term obligations consist primarily of
bonds payable, loans payable, net pension liability, total OPEB liability and accrued compensated
absences.

Long-term obligations for governmental funds are not reported as liabilities in the fund financial
statements. The face value of debts (plus any premiums) are reported as other financing sources
and payments of principal and interest are reported as expenditures. The accounting in proprietary
funds is the same as it is in the government-wide statements.

For the government-wide statements and proprietary fund statements, bond premiums and
discounts are amortized over the life of the issue using the effective interest method. The balance
at year end is shown as an increase or decrease in the liability section of the statement of net
position.

On December 9, 2003, the County issued Series 2003 Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds in
the amount of $42,000,000. The Morton Arboretum (Arboretum) deposited the net bond proceeds
into its account to use to fund certain capital improvements and issued a signed promissory note
payable to the County securing all principal and interest payments due on the bonds. On May 18,
2017, the County issued County of DuPage, Illinois Revenue Bonds (The Morton Arboretum
Project), Series 2017, in the amount of $20,000,000. Bank of America Public Capital Corporation
(Purchaser) purchased the bonds and loaned the proceeds to the Arboretum (Borrower). The
purchaser wired a portion of the proceeds into the borrower’s bank account to use for project costs
and reimbursements and a portion into the Series 2003 Bonds Bond Fund to use for a partial
refunding of the bonds. On July 7, 2020, the County issued The County of DuPage, Illinois
Revenue Refunding Bonds (The Morton Arboretum Project), Series 2020 (Green Bonds) in the
amount of $50,835,000. The bonds were issued to a.) refund the outstanding amount of
$29,000,000 on the Series 2003 Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds; b.) refund the
outstanding amount of $20,000,000 on the County of DuPage, Illinois Revenue Bonds (The Morton
Arboretum Project), Series 2017; c.) pay the issuance costs on the 2020 bonds; and d.) pay the
termination costs of an interest rate swap associated with the Series 2017 bonds. Bank of America
Securities, Inc. purchased the bonds on behalf of both itself and as representative of PNC Capital
Markets LLC.  As it was the intent of all parties that the Arboretum provide the necessary funds for
all debt payments, the liability is not recorded on the County’s balance sheet.  The outstanding
balance of the debt obligation was $50,835,000 as of November 30, 2021.

On June 15, 2006, the County issued Special Service Area Number 31 Special Tax Bonds, Series
2006 (Monarch Landing Project) in the amount of $15,000,000.  Erickson Retirement
Communities, LLC deposited the bond proceeds into its account to use to fund the construction of
a continuing care retirement community, known as Monarch Landing. The bonds are payable from
taxes levied on taxable real property that belongs to one landowner within Special Service Area
Number 31.  As the County issued the bonds as a conduit on behalf of a Section 501(c)(3)
organization and as it was the intent of all parties that the landowner provides the funds for all debt
service payments, the liability is not recorded on the County’s balance sheet. The outstanding
balance of the debt obligation was $10,640,000 as of November 30, 2021.

On March 9, 2010, the County issued Revenue Refunding Bonds (Benet Academy Capital Build
Project), Series 2010 in the amount of $8,890,000. The bonds were issued to refund the Variable
Rate Demand Revenue Bonds (Benet Academy Capital Build Project), Series 2000 that had a total
outstanding amount of $8,770,000 at the time of refunding and to also pay the issuance costs on
the bonds.  MB Financial Bank N.A. purchased the bonds via a Direct Placement/Bank Qualified
purchase and loaned the proceeds to Benet Academy in Lisle, Illinois. As it was the intent of all
parties that Benet Academy provides the funds for all debt service payments, the liability is not
recorded on the County’s balance sheet. The outstanding balance of the debt obligation was
$5,470,000 as of November 30, 2021.
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On December 13, 2012, the County issued Special Service Area Number 38 (Nelson Highview)
Unlimited Ad Valorem Tax Bonds, Series 2012C in the amount of $1,500,000. The net bond
proceeds were used to provide water system improvements within the Special Service Area and to
establish a reserve fund of $117,328.  As the County merely acted as an agent for the property
owners in issuing the bonds, the County is not liable for repayment of the bonds and, therefore, the
liability is not recorded on the County’s balance sheet. The outstanding amount of the obligation
was $940,000 as of November 30, 2021.

On November 25, 2013, the County issued Special Service Area Refunding Bonds, Series 2013 in
the amount of $3,650,000 to refund the following bonds: Special Service Area Number 19 (Glen
Ellyn Woods) Special Service Area Bonds; Special Service Area Number 25 (Westlands) Special
Service Area Bonds; and Special Service Area Number 26 (Bruce Lake) Special Service Area
Bonds. The bonds, which were purchased by PNC, are equally and proportionally secured by a
pledge of the tax proceeds from the tax levy on all taxable real property within each of the Special
Service Areas. As the County merely acted as an agent for the property owners in issuing the
bonds, the County is not liable for repayment of the bonds and, therefore, the liability is not
recorded on the County’s balance sheet. The outstanding amount of the obligation was $442,033
as of November 30, 2021.

Deferred Inflows of Resources  

A deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position/fund balance that applies to
a future period and therefore will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that
future time.

Equity Classifications  

Government-Wide Statements

Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

a. Net Investment in Capital Assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted
capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding
balances (excluding unspent debt proceeds) of any bonds, mortgages, notes or other
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of
those assets.

b. Restricted Net Position - Consists of net position with constraints placed on their use
either by 1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or
regulations of other governments or, 2) law through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation.

c. Unrestricted Net Position - All other net positions that do not meet the definitions of
restricted or net investment in capital assets.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the County's policy
to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

Fund Statements

Governmental fund balances are displayed as follows:

a.  Nonspendable - Includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because
they are not in spendable form or because legal or contractual requirements require
them to be maintained intact.
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b. Restricted - Consists of fund balances with constraints placed on their use either by
1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of
other governments or 2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

c. Committed - Includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific
purposes that are internally imposed by the government through formal action of the
highest level of decision making authority. Fund balance amounts are committed
through a formal action (ordinance) of the County Board. This formal action must
occur prior to the end of the reporting period, but the amount of the commitment,
which will be subject to the constraints, may be determined in the subsequent period.
Any changes to the constraints imposed require the same formal action of the County
Board that originally created the commitment.

d. Assigned - Includes spendable fund balance amounts that are intended to be used for
specific purposes that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or
committed. The Board may take official action to assign amounts. Assignments may
take place after the end of the reporting period.

e. Unassigned - Includes residual positive fund balance within the general fund which
has not been classified within the other above mentioned categories. Unassigned fund
balance may also include negative balances for any governmental fund if expenditures
exceed amounts restricted, committed or assigned for those purposes.

Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the government-wide statements.

The County considers restricted amounts to be spent first when both restricted and
unrestricted fund balance is available unless there are legal documents / contracts that prohibit
doing this, such as in grant agreements requiring dollar for dollar spending. Additionally, the
County first uses committed, then assigned and lastly unassigned amounts of unrestricted
fund balance when expenditures are made.

See Note 3 for further information.

2. Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability

Budgetary Information

A budget has been adopted for all the governmental funds except for the Environment Related Public
Works Project Fund, U.S. Department of Homeland Security Fund, 2011 General Obligation Refunding
Bonds - Drainage Project Fund, Du-Comm Construction Project Fund, Special Service Area #35 Lakesof 
Royce Renaissance Fund and Special Service Area #38 Nelson Highview Fund. 

Excess Expenditures Over Budget 

Fund
Budgeted

Expenditures
Actual

Expenditures

Excess
Expenditures
Over Budget

Sheriff Commissary $ 1,178,396 $ 1,313,910 $ 135,514
Federal Law Enforcement Treasury 232,000 256,317 24,317

The County controls expenditures at the object level. Some individual objects experienced
expenditures which exceeded appropriations. The detail of those items can be found in the County's
year-end budget to actual report.
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Deficit Balances 

Generally accepted accounting principles require disclosure of individual funds that have deficit
balances at year end.

As of November 30, 2021, the following individual funds held a deficit balance:

Fund Amount Reason

Sheriff's Police Vehicle $ 7,644 Expenditures exceeding revenues in
prior years

U.S. Department of Energy 22,252 Expenditures exceeding revenues in
prior years

U.S. Department of Homeland Security 16,500 Expenditures exceeding revenues in
prior years

U.S. Department of Labor 22,611 Grant funds due to the County
reported as unavailable revenue

U.S. Department of Transportation 76,398 Grant funds due to the County
reported as unavailable revenue

Environmental Protection Agency 2,943 Grant funds due to the County
reported as unavailable revenue

Illinois Department of Human Services 18 Current year expenditures exceeding
revenues

Illinois Violence Prevention Authority 6,367 Grant funds due to the County
reported as unavailable revenue

Care Center Foundation 2,664 Current and prior expenditures
exceeding revenues in prior years

Miscellaneous Local Grants 1,360 Expenditures exceeding revenues in
prior years
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3. Detailed Notes on All Funds 

Deposits and Investments 

The County's deposits and investments at year end were comprised of the following:

Carrying
Value

Statement
Balances Associated Risks

Deposits with financial institutions $444,253,736 $451,045,185 Custodial credit risk

Money market mutual funds 4,388,744 4,388,744
Credit risk, interest rate

risk
U.S. agency securities, explicitly
guaranteed 1,711,770 1,711,770

Custodial credit risk,
interest rate risk

U.S. agency securities, implicitly
guaranteed 12,571,925 12,571,925

Credit risk, custodial
credit risk,
concentration of credit
risk, interest rate risk

U.S. treasury securities 9,099,694 9,099,694
Custodial credit risk,

interest rate risk

Corporate bonds 10,104,206 10,104,206

Credit risk, custodial
credit risk,
concentration of credit
risk, interest rate risk

Illinois funds 1,019,575 933,330 Credit risk
Cash on hand 6,200 - N/A

Total deposits and investments $483,155,850 $489,854,854

Reconciliation to financial statements

Per statement of net position:
Unrestricted cash and investments $431,124,453
Restricted cash and investments 4,222,044

Per statement of net position, fiduciary
funds:

Cash and investments 47,691,439
Cash and investments, restricted 117,914

Total deposits and investments $483,155,850

Deposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $250,000 for time and
savings accounts (including NOW accounts) and $250,000 for demand deposit accounts (interest-
bearing and noninterest-bearing). In addition, if deposits are held in an institution outside of the state in
which the government is located, insured amounts are further limited to a total of $250,000 for the
combined amount of all deposit accounts.

The County categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to
measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant
unobservable inputs. 
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As of November 30, 2021, the County utilized the market valuation method for all recurring fair value
measurements and investments were measured using the valuation inputs as follows:

November 30, 2021
Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Money market mutual funds $ 4,388,744 $ - $ - $ 4,388,744
U.S. agency securities, explicitly
guaranteed

- 1,711,770 - 1,711,770

U.S. agency securities, implicitly
guaranteed

- 12,571,925 - 12,571,925

U.S. treasury securities - 9,099,694 - 9,099,694
Corporate bonds - 10,104,206 - 10,104,206

Total $ 4,388,744 $ 33,487,595 $ - $ 37,876,339

Custodial Credit Risk 

Deposits

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the County's
deposits may not be returned to the County.

As of November 30, 2021, $1,085,388 of the Clerk Of The Circuit Court's total bank balances
were not collateralized.

Investments

For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the
counterparty, the County will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral
securities that are in the possession of an outside party.

The County does not have any investments exposed to custodial credit risk. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations.

As of November 30, 2021, the County's investments were rated as follows:

Investment Type
Standard
& Poors

Moody's
Investors
Services

Money market mutual funds AAAm Aaa
U.S. agency securities, implicitly

guaranteed AA+ Aaa
Corporate bonds AA+ A3 to A1
Illinois Funds AAAm N/A

Concentration of Credit Risk 

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government's
investment in a single issuer.
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Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the value of an
investment.

As of November 30, 2021, the County's investments were as follows:

Maturity (In Years)
Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1 - 5 6 - 10 More than 10

Money market mutual funds $ 4,388,744 $ 4,388,744 $ - $ - $ -
U.S. agency securities 14,283,695 434,609 2,425,315 2,999,224 8,424,547
U.S. treasury securities 9,099,694 3,456,760 5,642,934 - -
Corporate bonds 10,104,206 4,897,093 5,207,113 - -

Total $ 37,876,339 $ 13,177,206 $ 13,275,362 $ 2,999,224 $ 8,424,547

See Note 1 for further information on deposit and investment policies.

Receivables  

Receivables as of year end for the government's individual major funds and nonmajor, internal service
and fiduciary funds in the aggregate, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are
as follows:

General
Fund

Health
Department

Fund
Nonmajor

Funds Total

Taxes receivables:
Property $25,361,755 $13,137,870 $31,857,718 $ 70,357,343
County sales 31,477,049 - - 31,477,049
County motor fuel - - 8,701,724 8,701,724
Local use 951,581 - - 951,581

Total $57,790,385 $13,137,870 $40,559,442 $111,487,697

General
Fund

Nonmajor
Funds Total

State shared revenue receivables:
Income tax $ 734,170 $ - $ 734,170
Personal property replacement tax 277,392 41,625 319,017
Motor fuel tax allotments - 3,864,632 3,864,632

Total $ 1,011,562 $ 3,906,257 $ 4,917,819

All of the receivables on the balance sheet are expected to be collected within one year with the
exception of loans receivable.  The entire balance of loans receivable is expected to be collected after
one year.

Restricted Special Service Area Assessments Receivable   

As of November 30, 2021, the Water and Sewerage System has $3,163,746 due from special service
area funds in the region. The balance related to the reimbursement of costs for the York Township
water improvement project. The reimbursement will be repaid in installments through fiscal year 2033
and $2,900,431 of the reimbursement is due after one year.
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Capital Assets  

Capital asset activity for the year ended November 30, 2021, was as follows:

Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions

Ending
Balance

Governmental Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated /

amortized:
Land $ 302,734,207 $ 483,263 $ 6,225 $ 303,211,245
Construction in progress 15,983,451 20,183,511 24,176,395 11,990,567

Total capital assets not being
depreciated / amortized 318,717,658 20,666,774 24,182,620 315,201,812

Capital assets being depreciated / amortized:
Buildings 360,044,801 24,620,073 - 384,664,874
Improvements other than buildings 7,853,495 69,565 - 7,923,060
Machinery and equipment 78,349,308 8,645,826 14,388,578 72,606,556
Infrastructure 827,093,456 9,865,030 - 836,958,486

Total capital assets being depreciated /
amortized 1,273,341,060 43,200,494 14,388,578 1,302,152,976

Total capital assets 1,592,058,718 63,867,268 38,571,198 1,617,354,788

Less accumulated depreciation / amortization
for:

Buildings 194,819,840 11,849,896 - 206,669,736
Improvements other than buildings 5,015,351 201,905 - 5,217,256
Machinery and equipment 62,074,905 5,446,027 14,258,737 53,262,195
Infrastructure 553,987,316 18,795,771 - 572,783,087

Total accumulated depreciation /
amortization 815,897,412 36,293,599 14,258,737 837,932,274

Net capital assets being depreciated /
amortized 457,443,648 6,906,895 129,841 464,220,702

Total governmental activities capital
assets, net of accumulated
depreciation / amortization $ 776,161,306 $ 27,573,669 $ 24,312,461 $ 779,422,514

Depreciation / amortization expense was charged to functions as follows: 

Governmental Activities
General government $ 6,121,433
Public safety 3,227,318
Public health 2,675,621
Highways, streets and bridges 19,020,455
Public services 82,738
Judicial 3,418,389
Conservation and recreation 1,571,159
Public works 176,486

Total governmental activities depreciation / amortization
expense $ 36,293,599
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Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions

Ending
Balance

Business-Type Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated /

amortized:
Land $ 1,559,475 $ 434,000 $ - $ 1,993,475
Construction in progress 2,975,473 7,298,062 3,225,113 7,048,422

Total capital assets not being
depreciated / amortized 4,534,948 7,732,062 3,225,113 9,041,897

Capital assets being depreciated / amortized:
Water and sewerage system 203,230,204 1,829,945 470,065 204,590,084
Equipment and vehicles 5,064,068 286,998 197,960 5,153,106
Intangibles 4,452,220 - - 4,452,220

Total capital assets being depreciated /
amortized 212,746,492 2,116,943 668,025 214,195,410

Total capital assets 217,281,440 9,849,005 3,893,138 223,237,307

Less accumulated depreciation / amortization
for:

Water and sewerage system 117,659,846 3,371,987 401,081 120,630,752
Equipment and vehicles 3,200,106 253,484 194,374 3,259,216
Intangibles 3,398,286 284,685 - 3,682,971

Total accumulated depreciation /
amortization 124,258,238 (3,910,156) 595,455 127,572,939

Net capital assets being depreciated /
amortized 88,488,254 6,027,099 72,570 86,622,471

Business-type capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation /
amortization $ 93,023,202 $ 13,759,161 $ 3,297,683 $ 95,664,368
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Interfund Receivables/Payables and Transfers 

Interfund Receivables/Payables

The following is a schedule of interfund receivables and payables including any overdrafts on
pooled cash and investment accounts:

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

General Health Department $ 37,178
General Nonmajor Governmental 660,096
Health Department American Rescue Plan 6,190,785
Health Department Nonmajor Governmental 61,788
Nonmajor Governmental General 330,820
Nonmajor Governmental Health Department 13,447
Nonmajor Governmental Nonmajor Governmental 25,575
Nonmajor Governmental Water and Sewerage System 123,328
Water and Sewerage System General 39,920
Water and Sewerage System Nonmajor Governmental 139,366

Total, fund financial statements 7,622,303
Less government-wide eliminations (7,678,261)

Total internal balances, government-wide statement of net
position $ (55,958)

All amounts are due within one year.

The principal purpose of these interfunds is to support deficit commingled cash balances in various
funds by the General Fund. All remaining balances resulted from the time lag between the dates
that (1) interfund goods and services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2)
transactions are recorded in the accounting system and (3) payments between funds are made.

Transfers

The following is a schedule of interfund transfers:

Fund Transferred To Fund Transferred From Amount

General Nonmajor Governmental $ 21,410,176
Health Department American Rescue Plan 6,190,785
Health Department Nonmajor Governmental 4,462,359
Care Center General 4,713,604
Water and Sewerage System General 1,557,894
Nonmajor Governmental General 46,392,625
Health Department General 3,035,480
Nonmajor Governmental Nonmajor Governmental 1,162,493
Water and Sewerage System Nonmajor Governmental 1,346,926
Nonmajor Governmental Health Department 3,917,317

Total, fund financial statements 94,189,659
Less government-wide eliminations (91,284,839)

Total transfers, government-wide statement of activities $ 2,904,820
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Generally, transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that collects them to the fund
that the budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from the
funds collecting the receipts to the debt service fund and (3) use unrestricted revenues collected in
the general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with
budgetary authorizations.

Long-Term Obligations  

Long-term obligations activity for the year ended November 30, 2021, was as follows:

Beginning
Balance Increases Decreases

Ending
Balance

Amounts Due
Within One

Year

Governmental Activities
Bonds and notes payable:

General obligation debt $ 134,305,000 $ - $ 24,300,000 $ 110,005,000 $ 11,430,000
(Discounts)/Premiums:

Unamortized bond premium 3,588,149 - 598,978 2,989,171 -

Sub-total 137,893,149 - 24,898,978 112,994,171 11,430,000

Other liabilities:
Compensated absences 31,499,046 4,595,113 3,839,014 32,255,145 7,485,851
Claims payable 2,982,782 27,241,571 27,525,025 2,699,328 2,135,769
Total OPEB liability 13,152,266 645,760 809,540 12,988,486 -
Net pension liability, regular IMRF 74,516,611 85,336,576 144,667,568 15,185,619 -
Net pension liability, SLEP 87,108,268 50,592,706 74,774,561 62,926,413 -
Net pension liability, ECO 1,528,226 2,795,595 4,323,821 - -

Total other liabilities 210,787,199 171,207,321 255,939,529 126,054,991 9,621,620

Total governmental activities long-
term liabilities $ 348,680,348 $ 171,207,321 $ 280,838,507 $ 239,049,162 $ 21,051,620

Business-Type Activities
Bonds and notes payable:

Revenue bonds $ 5,530,000 $ - $ 1,470,000 $ 4,060,000 $ 1,510,000
Unamortized debt premium 16,953 - 15,649 1,304 -

Sub-total 5,546,953 - 1,485,649 4,061,304 1,510,000

Other liabilities:
IEPA construction loan 3,407,726 1,989,792 242,985 5,154,533 246,031
Compensated absences 1,596,613 373,732 680,086 1,290,259 270,272
Asset retirement obligation 293,650 - 81,781 211,869 -
Total OPEB liability 480,594 35,212 30,263 485,543 -
Net pension liability, regular IMRF 2,652,497 645,760 2,704,661 593,596 -

Total other liabilities 8,431,080 3,044,496 3,739,776 7,735,800 516,303

Total business-type activities long-
term liabilities $ 13,978,033 $ 3,044,496 $ 5,225,425 $ 11,797,104 $ 2,026,303

The County is subject to the Illinois Municipal Code, which limits the amount of certain indebtedness to
5.75 percent of the most recent available equalized assessed valuation of the County. As of November
30, 2021, the statutory debt limit for the County was $2,475,500,033, providing a debt margin of
$2,449,515,033.
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General Obligation Debt 

All general obligation debt payable is backed by the full faith and credit of the County. Debt in the
governmental funds will be retired by future property tax levies or tax increments accumulated by
the debt service fund. The debt certificates are paid by lease payments from DuPage Public Safety
Communications. 

Included in general obligation debt is a special assessment bond, which is an installment contract
backed by the full faith and credit of the County. The bond is also backed by a commitment of
certain net revenues derived from the operations of the County's Waterworks/Sewerage System.
The special assessment debt is paid by a special service area local property tax levied on all
property within the boundaries of the special service area.

Governmental Activities

General Obligation Debt
Date of
Issue

Final
Maturity

Interest
Rates

Original
Indebtedness

Balance
November
30, 2021

SSA #34 - 2009 G.O.
Bonds, Hobson Valley
Project 1/27/2009 1/1/2029

3.0% -
4.75% $ 1,885,000 $ 960,000

SSA #35 - 2012A
Unlimited Tax Bonds,
Lakes of Royce
Renaissance Project 12/27/2012 1/1/2032 1.8% - 4.2% 1,805,000 1,225,000

2010A Taxable G.O. Build
America Bonds 11/3/2010 1/1/2023

4.197% -
4.297% 8,115,000 8,115,000

2010B G.O. Recovery
Zone Economic
Development Bonds 11/3/2010 1/1/2035

4.297% -
5.852% 58,935,000 58,935,000

2011 G.O. Refunding
Bonds, Drainage Project 8/30/2011 7/1/2026 2.0% - 4.0% 5,340,000 2,535,000

2015B G.O. Refunding
Bonds, Drainage Project 6/5/2015 1/1/2025 1.94% 13,140,000 5,595,000

2016 G.O. Refunding
Bonds, Courthouse
Project 1/28/2016 1/1/2030 2.0% - 5.0% 36,050,000 25,025,000

2016 G.O. Refunding
Bonds, Stormwater
Project 2/3/2016 1/1/2022 1.45% 10,970,000 1,890,000

2017 G.O. Debt
Certificates 12/28/2017 1/1/2028 2.65% 7,500,000 5,725,000

Total governmental activities, general obligation debt $110,005,000
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Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:

Governmental Activities
General Obligation Debt

Years Principal Interest

2022 $ 11,430,000 $ 5,127,391
2023 9,855,000 4,763,510
2024 10,255,000 4,354,489
2025 10,695,000 3,904,524
2026 9,705,000 3,428,572
2027-2031 43,375,000 9,328,000
2032-2035 14,690,000 1,768,824

Total $ 110,005,000 $ 32,675,310

Revenue Debt 

Business-type activities revenue bonds are payable only from revenues derived from the operation
of the Water and Sewerage System.  

The Water and Sewerage System has pledged a portion of future net revenues to repay revenue
bonds issued on April 25, 2012 and January 23, 2018. The bonds are payable solely from System-
generated revenues and are payable through January 1, 2024. Annual principal and interest
payments on the bonds are expected to require 3.00 percent of gross revenues. The total principal
and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $4,202,088. Principal and interest paid for the
current year and total customer gross revenues were $1,590,932 and $6,265,583, respectively.

On March 13, 2012, the County Board adopted a revenue bond ordinance authorizing and
providing for the issuance of Water and Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2012. On
November 28, 2017, the County Board adopted a revenue bond ordinance authorizing and
providing for the issuance of Water and Sewer System Refunding Bonds, Series 2018. The 2012
and 2018 Ordinances required a Revenue Fund and various accounts within that fund to be
established. The Ordinances' account structure is as follows:

Operation and Maintenance Account – An amount sufficient to make the amount then on deposit
equal to 1/12th of the amount of current expenses budgeted for the current fiscal year.

First Lien Interest Account – An amount sufficient to cover interest becoming due on the next
succeeding interest payment date on a monthly pro rata basis.

First Lien Principal Account – An amount sufficient to cover principal becoming due on the next
succeeding principal payment date on a monthly pro rata basis.

First Lien Bond Reserve Account – An amount equal to the maximum annual debt service with
respect to the 2012 and 2018 Revenue Bonds.

Second Lien Interest Account – An amount sufficient to cover interest becoming due on the next
succeeding interest payment date on a monthly pro rata basis.

Second Lien Principal Account – An amount sufficient to cover principal becoming due on the next
succeeding principal payment date on a monthly pro rata basis.

Subordinated Indebtedness Account – An amount sufficient to cover interest becoming due on the
IEPA construction loan on the next succeeding interest payment date and an amount sufficient to
cover the principal of the loan coming due on the next succeeding principal maturity date.
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Depreciation Account – An amount equal to the percentage of the Depreciation Funding
Requirement as determined by the Superintendent of Public Works whenever the balance in said
account is less than the Depreciation Funding Requirement.

General Account – All revenues remaining in the Revenue Fund after all required transfers are
made to the respective accounts.

Deposits held in the Revenue Fund are required to be transferred, when available, to the
established accounts in the above order. At November 30, 2021, all required balances were in
accordance with the Ordinance.

Revenue debt payable at November 30, 2021, consists of the following:

Business-Type Activities Revenue Debt

Date of
Issue

Final
Maturity

Interest
Rates

Original
Indebtedness

Balance
November 30,

2021

Series 2018 Revenue Bonds 1/23/2018 1/1/2024 2.4% $ 7,320,000 $ 3,780,000
Series 2012 Revenue Bonds 4/25/2012 1/1/2022 3.0% - 4.0% 2,445,000 280,000

Total business-type activities, revenue debt $ 4,060,000

The outstanding debt related to the Series 2018 Revenue Bonds are direct placement and
contain a provision that in an event of default, the unpaid principal amount of the Bond, all
interest accrued and unpaid and all other amounts owing or payable under any other related
documents to be immediately due and payable, without presentment, demand, protest or other
notice of any kind.

Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:

Business-Type Activities
Revenue Debt

Years Principal Interest

2022 $ 280,000 $ 5,600

Total $ 280,000 $ 5,600

Business-Type Activities
Revenue Debt  from Direct

Placements
Years Principal Interest

2022 $ 1,230,000 $ 75,390
2023 1,260,000 45,734
2024 1,290,000 15,364

Total $ 3,780,000 $ 136,488
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IEPA Construction Loans 

The County borrowed funds from the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (IEPA) for the York
Township water improvement project and Nordic Park Wastewater Treatment Facility rehabilitation
project. The outstanding IEPA loans are direct borrowings and contain a provision that in an event
of default, the IEPA shall pursue the collection of the amounts past due, the outstanding loan
balance and relating costs by any other reasonable means provided by the law.

Loan agreement #L17-0328 allows the System to borrow up to $11,530,990 to complete the
project. The System anticipates borrowing an additional about of $9,541,198 in 2022 through early
2023 to fund the completion of the project. After the completion of the project the final loan amount
and repayment schedule will be determined with the loan to be repaid over a twenty year term at a
1.35 percent simple annual interest rate.

IEPA Construction Loans at November 30, 2021 consist of the following:

Business-Type Activities

IEPA Construction Loans
Date of
Issue

Final
Maturity

Interest
Rates

Original
Indebtedness

Balance
November
30, 2021

IEPA Loan #L17-4161 2/21/2012 9/29/2033 1.25% $ 4,915,421 $ 3,164,741
IEPA Loan #L17-0328 1,989,792 1,989,792

Total business-type activities IEPA construction loans $ 5,154,533

Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:

Business-Type Activities
IEPA Construction Loans

Years Principal Interest

2022 $ 246,031 $ 38,793
2023 249,116 35,708
2024 252,240 32,584
2025 255,403 29,421
2026 258,605 26,219
2027-2031 1,342,488 81,633
2032-2033 560,858 8,791

Total $ 3,164,741 $ 253,149

Other Debt Information   

Compensated absences and the implicit total OPEB liability are paid by the fund/department in
which an employee works. Net pension liabilities of employees whose salaries/benefits are
charged to the General Fund and Health Department Fund are paid from the Illinois Municipal
Retirement Fund (IMRF) and Health Department IMRF Fund, respectively. Net pension liabilities
for other employees are paid from the fund/department in which an employee works.
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Net Position/Fund Balances 

Net position reported on the government-wide statement of net position at November 30, 2021,
includes the following:

Governmental Activities

Net investment in capital assets:
Land $ 303,211,245
Construction in progress 11,990,567
Net capital assets being depreciated 464,220,702
Less long-term debt outstanding (excluding unspent capital related debt

proceeds) (109,264,230)
Less unamortized debt premium (2,989,171)
Less retainage payable (217,838)

Total net investment in capital assets $ 666,951,275

Governmental Funds

Governmental fund balances reported on the fund financial statements at November 30, 2021,
include the following:

General
Fund

Health
Department

Fund
Care Center

Fund

American
Rescue

Plan Fund

U.S.
Treasury

Fund
Nonmajor

Funds Total

Fund Balances

Nonspendable:
Prepaid items $ 1,678,801 $ 17,100 $ 41,940 $ - $ - $ 356,144 $ 2,093,985
Inventory - 60,854 472,524 - - 799,768 1,333,146

Subtotal 1,678,801 77,954 514,464 - - 1,155,912 3,427,131

Restricted for:
Grant programs - 662,130 - 24,386 1,867 1,235,945 1,924,328
Grant funded loan

programs - - - - - 9,923,699 9,923,699
Employee benefits - - - - - 24,073,648 24,073,648
Public health - - 1,596,663 - - 23,786 1,620,449
Public safety 189,617 - - - - 3,208,560 3,398,177
Highways, streets

and bridges - - - - - 44,905,858 44,905,858
Wetland mitigation - - - - - 7,838,690 7,838,690
Conservation and

recreation - - - - - 1,726 1,726
Judicial - - - - - 14,357,787 14,357,787
Public services - - - - - 6,416,365 6,416,365
Capital projects - - - - - 6,074,632 6,074,632
Debt service - - - - - 13,579,450 13,579,450
Other purposes - - - - - 12,118,244 12,118,244

Subtotal 189,617 662,130 1,596,663 24,386 1,867 143,758,390 146,233,053

Committed to:
Public health - 32,841,652 11,929,222 - - - 44,770,874
Conservation and

recreation - - - - - 18,624,626 18,624,626
Capital projects - - - - - 29,293,641 29,293,641

Subtotal - 32,841,652 11,929,222 - - 47,918,267 92,689,141

Unassigned (deficit): 97,077,746 - - - - (158,757) 96,918,989

Total fund
balances
(deficit) $ 98,946,164 $ 33,581,736 $ 14,040,349 $ 24,386 $ 1,867 $ 192,673,812 $ 339,268,314
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Business-Type Activities
Net investment in capital assets:

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation $ 95,664,368
Less capital related debt

(246,031)
(1,510,000)
(4,908,502)
(2,550,000)

Current portion of capital related IEPA construction loans
Current portion of capital related revenue bonds
Long-term portion of capital related IEPA construction loan
Long-term portion of capital related revenue bonds 
Unamortized debt premium (1,304)

Add unspent debt proceeds, water and sewer bond account 2,323

Total net investment in capital assets $ 86,450,854

Restricted:
Total restricted assets 5,077,253
Unspent debt proceeds, water and sewer bond account (2,323)
Liabilities payable from restricted assets,  accrued interest payable (53,246)

Total net position restricted for debt service $ 5,021,684

Restatement of Fund Balance/Net Position 

Fund balance and net position have been restated due to the implementation of GASB Statement No.
84, Fiduciary Activities.  The details of the restatement are as follows:

Governmental
Activities

Custodial
Funds

Net position, November 30, 2020 (as reported) $ 775,757,285 $ -
Add  beginning net position upon applying the

implementation of GASB No. 84 3,235,017 28,333,924

Net position, November 30, 2020 (as restated) $ 778,992,302 $ 28,333,924

General Fund
Care Center

Fund

Nonmajor
Governmental

Funds
Fund balance, November 30, 2020 (as reported) $ 98,225,150 $ 7,635,414 $ 148,328,720

Add  beginning net position upon applying the
implementation of GASB No. 84 130,794 94,668 3,009,555

Fund balance, November 30, 2020 (as restated) $ 98,355,944 $ 7,730,082 $ 151,338,275
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Component Units 

DuPage Airport Authority

This report contains the DuPage Airport Authority (Authority), which is included as a discretely
presented component unit.

In addition to the basic financial statements and the preceding notes to financial statements which
apply, the following additional disclosures are considered necessary for a fair presentation.

Basis of Accounting/Measurement Focus

The Authority follows the full accrual basis of accounting and the flow of economic
resources measurement focus.

Deposits and Investments

The Authority is authorized by State Statutes to make deposits with financial institutions
and invest in securities similar to the County. See Note 1.

At year end, the carrying amount of the Authority's deposits and investments were
$71,405,946 consisting of deposits with financial institutions. 

Custodial Credit Risk

Deposits

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the
Authority's deposits may not be returned to the Authority. The Authority's investment policy
requires pledging of collateral for all bank balances in excess of federal depository 
insurance at an amount not less than 110 percent of the fair market value of the funds 
secured, with the collateral held by the Authority and independent third party or the Federal
Reserve Bank. As of December 31, 2021, no deposits were exposed to custodial credit risk.
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Capital Assets

Capital assets are defined by the Authority as assets with an initial, individual cost of more
than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Depreciation is calculated
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives. Capital asset activity for the
year ended December 31, 2020, was as follows:

 Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions

Ending
Balance

Useful Lives
(Years)

Land $ 65,813,639 $ - $ 11,514,399 $ 54,299,240
Construction in

progress 4,448,641 5,743,913 3,456,039 6,736,515
Land improvements 103,638,596 1,743,908 - 105,382,504 10 - 20
Building and

improvements 95,693,646 629,313 - 96,322,959 10 - 35
Infrastructure 74,767,530 24,758 - 74,792,288 20
Software 242,190 - - 242,190 3 - 8
Equipment and vehicles 15,349,348 462,708 (20,913) 15,832,969 3 - 10

Less accumulated
depreciation (211,298,609) (6,696,468) 20,913 (218,015,990)

Total $ 148,654,981 $ 1,908,132 $ 14,970,438 $ 135,592,675

Long-Term Obligations

Beginning
Balance Increases Decreases

Ending
Balance

Amounts
Due Within
One Year

Compensated
absences payable $ 390,797 $ 57,517 $ 78,158 $ 370,156 $ 74,032

Total $ 390,797 $ 57,517 $ 78,158 $ 370,156 $ 74,032

Employee Retirement System

The Authority contributes to the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF), an agent multi-
employer public employee retirement system. See Note 4 for plan description, benefits
provided and actuarial assumptions.

Plan Membership

At December 31, 2020, the measurement date, membership in the plan was as follows:

Retirees and beneficiaries 33
Inactive, nonretired members 60
Active members 61

Total 154
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Contributions

As set by statute, Authority employees participating in IMRF are required to contribute 4.50
percent of their annual covered salary. The statute requires the Authority to contribute the
amount necessary, in addition to member contributions, to finance the retirement coverage of
its own employees. The Authority’s actuarially determined contribution rate for fiscal year 2021
was 7.93 percent of annual covered payroll. The Authority also contributes for disability
benefits, death benefits and supplemental retirement benefits, all of which are pooled at the
IMRF level. Contribution rates for disability and death benefits are set by the IMRF Board of
Trustees, while the supplemental retirement benefits rate is set by statute.

Net Pension Liability/(Asset)

The net pension liability/(asset) was measured as of December 31, 2020 and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of
the date.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for IMRF was 7.25 percent, same 
as the prior valuation. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate 
assumed that member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that
Authority contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially
determined contribution rate and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the fiduciary
net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on investments was
applied to all periods of projected benefits to determine the total pension liability.

Discount Rate Sensitivity

The following is a sensitivity analysis of the net pension liability/(asset) to changes in the
discount rate. The table below presents the net pension liability/(asset) of the Authority
calculated using the discount rate of 7.25 percent as well as what the net pension
liability/(asset) would be if it were to be calculated using a discount rate that was 1 percentage
point lower (6.25 percent) or 1 percentage point higher (8.25 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease
  Current

Discount Rate 1% Increase

Total pension liability $ 24,483,970 $ 21,747,034 $ 19,607,273
Plan fiduciary net position 23,309,906 23,309,906 23,309,906

Net pension liability/(asset) $ 1,174,064 $ (1,562,872) $ (3,702,633)
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Changes in Net Pension Liability/(Asset)

The changes in net pension liability/(asset) for the calendar year ended December 31, 2020
was as follows:

Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension

Liability 
(a)

Plan Fiduciary
Net Position 

(b)

Net Pension
Liability/(Asset)

(a) - (b)

Balances at December 31, 2019 $ 20,265,064 $ 20,478,966 $ (213,902)
Service cost 412,431 - 412,431
Interest on total pension liability 1,459,215 - 1,459,215
Differences between expected and actual

experience of the total pension liability 466,663 - 466,663
Change of assumptions (167,999) - (167,999)
Benefit payments, including refunds of

employee contributions (688,340) (688,340) -
Contributions, employer - 327,418 (327,418)
Contributions, employee - 183,714 (183,714)
Net investment income - 2,776,507 (2,776,507)
Other (net transfer) - 231,641 (231,641)

Balances at December 31, 2020 $ 21,747,034 $ 23,309,906 $ (1,562,872)

Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to Pensions

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Authority recognized pension expense of ($559,821).
The Authority reports deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pension from the
following sources:

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 354,422 $ 120,769
Changes in assumptions 198,420 201,217
Net differences between projected and actual earnings on

pension plan investments - 1,547,150
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 325,616 -

Total $ 878,458 $ 1,869,136
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The amount reported as deferred outflows resulting from contributions subsequent to the
measurement date in the above table will be recognized as reductions in the net pension liability
(asset) for the year ending December 31, 2022. The remaining amounts reported as deferred
outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as
follows: 

Year Ending December 31, Amount

2022 $ (468,656)
2023 (60,555)
2024 (540,450)
2025 (246,633)

Total $ (1,316,294)

DuPage County Emergency Telephone System Board

This report contains the DuPage County Emergency Telephone System Board (ETSB), which is
included as a component unit.

In addition to the basic financial statements and the preceding notes to financial statements which
apply, the following additional disclosures are considered necessary for a fair presentation.

Basis of Accounting/Measurement Focus

The ETSB follows the full accrual basis of accounting and the flow of economic resources
measurement focus.

Deposits and Investments

Deposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $250,000
for time and savings accounts (including NOW accounts) and $250,000 for demand
deposit accounts (interest-bearing and noninterest bearing). In addition, if deposits are
held in an institution outside of the state in which the government is located, insured
amounts are further limited to a total of $250,000 for the combined amount of all deposits.

The FDIC and collateral coverage applies to all County accounts and therefore, the
amount of insured funds is not determinable for the Board alone.

Carrying
Value

Statement
Balances Associated Risks

Deposits $ 24,584,548 $ 25,146,422 Custodial credit risk
Money market mutual funds 390,853 390,853 Credit risk, interest rate risk
U.S. agency securities, implicitly
guaranteed 4,616,608 4,616,608

Credit risk, custodial credit
risk, interest rate risk

U.S. treasury securities 2,080,666 2,080,666
Custodial credit risk, interest
rate risk

Corporate bonds 3,627,524 3,627,524

Credit risk, custodial credit
risk, concentration of credit
risk, interest rate risk

U.S. agency securities, explicitly
guaranteed 282,408 282,408

Total deposits and
investments $ 35,582,607 $ 36,144,481
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The ETSB categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy
established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the
valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable
inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.

ETSB utilized the market valuation method for all recurring fair value measurements and
investments were measured using the valuation inputs as follows:

November 30, 2021
Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Money market mutual funds $ 390,853 $ - $ - $ 390,853
U.S. agency securities, implicitly

guaranteed
- 4,616,608 - 4,616,608

U.S. treasury securities - 2,080,666 - 2,080,666
Corporate bonds - 3,627,524 - 3,627,524

Total $ 390,853 $ 10,324,798 $ - $ 10,715,651

Custodial Credit Risk

Deposits 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the ETSB's
deposits may not be returned to the ETSB.

The ETSB does not have any deposits exposed to custodial credit risk.

Investments

For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the
counterparty, the ETSB will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral
securities that are in the possession of an outside party.

The ETSB does not have any investments exposed to custodial credit risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations.

As of November 30, 2021, the ETSB's investments were rated as follows:

Investment Type
Standard &

Poors

Moody's
Investors
Services

Corporate bonds A- to A+ A3 toA1
Money market mutual funds AAAm Aaa-mf
U.S. agency securities, implicitly

guaranteed AGY AGY
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Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government's
investment in a single issuer.

At November 30, 2021 the investment portfolio was concentrated as follows:

Issuer Investment Type
Percentage
of Portfolio

Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation

U.S. agency securities, implicitly
guaranteed %18.3

Federal National Mortgage Association
U.S. agency securities, implicitly

guaranteed 23.7

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the value of an
investment.

As of November 30, 2021, the ETSB's investments were as follows:

Maturity (In Years)
Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1 - 5 6 - 10 More Than 10

Money market mutual funds $ 390,853 $ 390,853 $ - $ - $ -
U.S. agency securities, implicitly
guaranteed 4,616,608 415,124 709,593 1,358,532 2,133,359
U.S. treasury securities 2,080,666 1,675,589 405,077 - -
U.S. agency securities, explicitly
guaranteed 282,408 - - - 282,408
Corporate bonds 3,627,524 1,330,902 2,296,622 - -

Total $ 10,998,059 $ 3,812,468 $ 3,411,292 $ 1,358,532 $ 2,415,767

See Note 1 for further information on deposit and investment policies.

Capital Assets

 Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions

Ending
Balance

Construction in progress $ 131,283 $ 59,341 $ 131,283 $ 59,341
Equipment 42,366,888 254,782 - 42,621,670
Less accumulated depreciation /

amortization (27,696,257) (4,705,373) - (32,401,630)

Total $ 14,801,914 $ (4,391,250) $ 131,283 $ 10,279,381

Employee Retirement System 

All eligible ETSB employees participate in the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF), a
multi-employer public pension fund. ETSB employees are pooled with the employees of
DuPage County for purposes of actuarial valuation. See Note 4 for disclosures related to
ETSB's participation in IMRF.
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4. Other Information 

Employees' Retirement System

The County's defined benefit pension plans, administered by the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund
(IMRF), for Regular, Sheriff's Law Enforcement Personnel (SLEP) and Elected County Officials
(ECO),  provide retirement and disability benefits, post-retirement increases and death benefits to plan
members and beneficiaries. IMRF acts as a common investment and administrative agent for local
governments and school districts in Illinois. The Illinois Pension Code establishes the provisions of the
plan that can only be amended by the Illinois General Assembly. IMRF issues a publicly available
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report that includes financial statements, detailed information about
the pension plan's fiduciary net position and required supplementary information. That report can be
obtained from IMRF, 2211 York Road, Suite 500, Oak Brook, Illinois 60523. This report is also
available for download at www.imrf.org.

The County participates in three benefit plans under IMRF. The vast majority of members participate
in the Regular Plan. The Sheriff's Law Enforcement Personnel (SLEP) plan is for sheriffs, deputy
sheriffs and selected police chiefs. Counties could adopt the Elected County Official (ECO) plan for
officials elected prior to August 8, 2011 (the ECO plan was closed to new participants after that date).

For the year ended November 30, 2021, the County recognized the following balances in the
government-wide financial statements:

Total Pension
Liability

Net Pension
Liability
(Asset)

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

Pension
Expense

IMRF - Regular, County $ 990,040,520 $ 15,779,215 $ 26,458,686 $ 80,742,822 $ 296,490
IMRF - Regular, ETSB 2,217,957 39,138 65,626 200,269 711
IMRF - SLEP 492,143,202 62,926,413 35,645,524 37,362,767 6,891,042
IMRF - ECO 27,664,108 (104,078) 219,429 2,471,197 58,511

Total $ 1,512,065,787 $ 78,640,688 $ 62,389,265 $120,777,055 $ 7,246,754

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund

Plan Description

All three IMRF benefit plans have two tiers. Members who first participated in IMRF or an
Illinois Reciprocal System prior to January 1, 2011 participate in Tier 1. All other members
participate in Tier 2. For Tier 1 participants, pension benefits vest after 8 years of service.
Participating members who retire at age 55 (at reduced benefits) or after age 60 (at full
benefits) with 8 years of service are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly
for life in an amount equal to 1-2/3 percent of their final rate of earnings (average of the
highest 48 consecutive months' earnings during the last 10 years) for credited service up to
15 years and 3 percent for each year thereafter.
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Employees hired on or after January 1, 2011, are eligible for Tier 2 benefits. For Tier 2
participants, pension benefits vest after 10 years of service. Participating members who retire
at age 62 (at reduced benefits) or after age 67 (at full benefits) with 10 years of service are
entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life in an amount equal to 1-2/3
percent of their final rate of earnings for the first 15 years of service credit, plus 2 percent for
each year of service after 15 years to a maximum of 75 percent of their final rate of earnings.
Final rate of earnings is the highest total earnings during any 96 consecutive months within
the last 10 years of service, divided by 96. Under Tier 2, the pension is increased ever year
after retirement, upon reaching age 67, by the lesser of 3 percent of the original pension
amount or 1/2 of the increase in the Consumer Price Index of the original pension amount.

Under the employer number within IMRF, both the County and ETSB contribute to the plan.
As a result, IMRF is considered to be an agent multiple-employer plan through which cost-
sharing occurs between the County and ETSB.

Plan Membership

At December 31, 2020, the measurement date, membership in the plan was as follows:

Regular Plan SLEP ECO

Retirees and beneficiaries 2,931 433 31
Inactive, nonretired members 2,386 62 14
Active members 2,294 385 6

Total 7,611 880 51

Contributions

As set by statute, County and ETSB employees participating in the Regular, SLEP and ECO
plans are required to contribute 4.50 percent, 7.50 percent and 7.50 percent, respectively, of
their annual covered salary. The statute requires the County and ETSB to contribute the
amount necessary, in addition to member contributions, to finance the retirement coverage of
its own employees. The County and ETSB’s actuarially determined contribution rates for
calendar year 2020 were 12.07 percent, 33.68 percent and 51.34 percent, respectively, of
annual covered payroll for the Regular, SLEP and ECO plans. The County and ETSB also
contribute for disability benefits, death benefits and supplemental retirement benefits, all of
which are pooled at the IMRF level. Contribution rates for disability and death benefits are set
by the IMRF Board of Trustees, while the supplemental retirement benefits rate is set by
statute.

Net Pension Liability/(Asset)

The net pension liabilities/(assets) were measured as of December 31, 2020 and the total
pension liabilities used to calculate the net pension liabilities/(assets) were determined by an
actuarial valuation as of that date.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

For purposes of measuring the net pension liabilities/(assets), deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and pension expense, information
about the fiduciary net position of the Regular, SLEP and ECO plans and additions
to/deductions from the Regular, SLEP and ECO plans fiduciary net position have been
determined on the same basis as they are reported by IMRF. For this purpose, benefit
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.
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Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liabilities for the Regular, SLEP and ECO plans were determined by
actuarial valuations performed as of December 31, 2020 using the following actuarial
methods and assumptions:

Regular Plan SLEP ECO

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal Entry Age Normal Entry Age Normal
Asset valuation method Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value
Actuarial assumptions

Investment Rate of Return 7.25% 7.25% 7.25%
Salary increases 2.85% to 13.75%,

including inflation
2.85% to 13.75%,
including inflation

2.85% to 13.75%,
including inflation

Price inflation 2.25% 2.25% 2.25%

Mortality

For non-disabled retirees, the Pub-2010, Amount-Weighted, below-median income, General,
Retiree, Male (adjusted for 106%) and Female (adjusted 105%) tables, and future mortality
improvements projected using scale MP-2020. For disabled retirees, the Pub-2010, Amount-
Weighted, below-median income, General, Disabled Retiree, Male and Female (both
unadjusted) tables, and future mortality improvements projected using scale MP-2020. For
active members, the Pub-2010, Amount-Weighted, below-median income, General,
Employee, Male and Female (both unadjusted) tables, and future mortality improvements
projected using scale MP-2020.

Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using an
asset allocation study in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) were developed for each major asset
class. These ranges were combined to produce long-term expected rate of return by the
target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and
best estimates of arithmetic and geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:

Projected Returns/Risks

Asset Class
Target

Allocation
One Year
Arithmetic

Ten Year
Geometric

Equities %37.00 %6.35 %5.00
International equities 18.00 7.65 6.00
Fixed income 28.00 1.40 1.30
Real estate 9.00 7.10 6.20
Alternatives 7.00

Private equity 10.35 6.95
Commodities 3.90 2.85

Cash equivalents 1.00 0.70 0.70
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Discount Rate

The discount rates used to measure the total pension liabilities for the Regular, SLEP and
ECO plans were 7.25 percent, 7.25 percent and 7.25 percent, respectively, same as the prior
valuations. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rates assumed that
member contributions will be made at the current contribution rates and that County and ETSB
contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined
contribution rates and the member rates. Based on those assumptions, the fiduciary net
positions were projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of
current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return was applied to all
periods of projected benefits payments to determine the total pension liabilities. 

Discount Rate Sensitivity

The following is a sensitivity analysis of the net pension liabilities/(assets) to changes in the
discount rates. The table below presents the net pension liabilities/(assets) of the County and
ETSB calculated using the discount rates of 7.25 percent, 7.25 percent and 7.25 percent,
respectively as well as what the net pension liabilities/(assets) would be if it were to be
calculated using discount rates that are 1 percentage point lower (6.25 percent for Regular,
6.25 percent for SLEP and 6.25 percent for ECO) or 1 percentage point higher (8.25 percent
for Regular, 8.25 percent for SLEP and 8.25 percent for ECO) than the current rates:

1% Decrease
  Current

Discount Rate 1% Increase

Regular Plan - County:
Total pension liability $1,102,344,220 $ 990,040,520 $ 900,638,632
Plan fiduciary net position 974,261,305 974,261,305 974,261,305

Net pension liability/(asset) $ 128,082,915 $ 15,779,215 $ (73,622,673)

Regular Plan - ETSB:
Total pension liability $ 2,469,547 $ 2,217,957 $ 2,017,673
Plan fiduciary net position 2,178,819 2,178,819 2,178,819

Net pension liability/(asset) $ 290,728 $ 39,138 $ (161,146)

Regular Plan - Total:
Total pension liability $1,104,813,767 $ 992,258,477 $ 902,656,305
Plan fiduciary net position 976,440,124 976,440,124 976,440,124

Net pension liability/(asset) $ 128,373,643 $ 15,818,353 $ (73,783,819)

SLEP:
Total pension liability $ 555,614,346 $ 492,143,202 $ 439,883,455
Plan fiduciary net position 429,216,789 429,216,789 429,216,789

Net pension liability/(asset) $ 126,397,557 $ 62,926,413 $ 10,666,666

ECO:
Total pension liability $ 30,300,957 $ 27,664,108 $ 25,411,693
Plan fiduciary net position 27,768,186 27,768,186 27,768,186

Net pension liability/(asset) $ 2,532,771 $ (104,078) $ (2,356,493)
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Changes in Net Pension Liability/(Asset)

The changes in net pension liabilities/(assets) for the Regular, SLEP and ECO plans for the
calendar year ended December 31, 2020 were as follows:

Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension

Liability 
(a)

Plan Fiduciary
Net Position 

(b)

Net Pension
Liability/(Asset)

(a) - (b)

Regular Plan - County:
Balances at December 31, 2019 $ 953,231,102 $ 876,061,994 $ 77,169,108

Service cost 12,046,496 - 12,046,496
Interest on total pension liability 67,662,390 - 67,662,390
Differences between expected and actual

experience of the total pension liability 15,814,231 - 15,814,231
Change of assumptions (7,240,639) - (7,240,639)
Benefit payments, including refunds of

employee contributions (51,473,060) (51,473,060) -
Contributions, employer - 16,978,256 (16,978,256)
Contributions, employee - 6,530,079 (6,530,079)
Net investment income - 125,305,708 (125,305,708)
Other (net transfer) - 858,328 (858,328)

Balances at December 31, 2020 $ 990,040,520 $ 974,261,305 $ 15,779,215

Regular Plan - ETSB:
Balances at December 31, 2019 $ 2,120,307 $ 1,935,250 $ 185,057

Service cost 29,878 - 29,878
Interest on total pension liability 167,829 - 167,829
Differences between expected and actual

experience of the total pension liability 39,225 - 39,225
Change of assumptions (11,611) - (11,611)
Benefit payments, including refunds of

employee contributions (127,671) (127,671) -
Contributions, employer - 42,112 (42,112)
Contributions, employee - 16,197 (16,197)
Net investment income - 310,802 (310,802)
Other (net transfer) - 2,129 (2,129)

Balances at December 31, 2020 $ 2,217,957 $ 2,178,819 $ 39,138
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Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension

Liability 
(a)

Plan Fiduciary
Net Position 

(b)

Net Pension
Liability/(Asset)

(a) - (b)

Regular Plan - Total:
Balances at December 31, 2019 $ 955,351,409 $ 877,997,244 $ 77,354,165

Service cost 12,076,374 - 12,076,374
Interest on total pension liability 67,830,219 - 67,830,219
Differences between expected and actual

experience of the total pension liability 15,853,456 - 15,853,456
Change of assumptions (7,252,250) - (7,252,250)
Benefit payments, including refunds of

employee contributions (51,600,731) (51,600,731) -
Contributions, employer - 17,020,368 (17,020,368)
Contributions, employee - 6,546,276 (6,546,276)
Net investment income - 125,616,510 (125,616,510)
Other (net transfer) - 860,457 (860,457)

Balances at December 31, 2020 $ 992,258,477 $ 976,440,124 $ 15,818,353

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of
the total pension liability %98.41

SLEP:
Balances at December 31, 2019 $ 466,034,308 $ 378,926,040 $ 87,108,268

Service cost 7,140,818 - 7,140,818
Interest on total pension liability 33,158,804 - 33,158,804
Differences between expected and actual

experience of the total pension liability 12,344,059 - 12,344,059
Change of assumptions (2,050,975) - (2,050,975)
Benefit payments, including refunds of

employee contributions (24,483,812) (24,483,812) -
Contributions, employer - 13,176,170 (13,176,170)
Contributions, employee - 3,111,395 (3,111,395)
Net investment income - 55,788,458 (55,788,458)
Other (net transfer) - 2,698,538 (2,698,538)

Balances at December 31, 2020 $ 492,143,202 $ 429,216,789 $ 62,926,413

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of
the total pension liability %87.21
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Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension

Liability 
(a)

Plan Fiduciary
Net Position 

(b)

Net Pension
Liability/(Asset)

(a) - (b)

ECO:
Balances at December 31, 2019 $ 26,587,939 $ 25,059,713 $ 1,528,226

Service cost 223,990 - 223,990
Interest on total pension liability 1,873,416 - 1,873,416
Differences between expected and actual

experience of the total pension liability
886,659 - 886,659

Change of assumptions (188,470) - (188,470)
Benefit payments, including refunds of

employee contributions
(1,719,426) (1,719,426) -

Contributions, employer - 550,586 (550,586)
Contributions, employee - 80,432 (80,432)
Net investment income - 3,777,457 (3,777,457)
Other (net transfer) - 19,424 (19,424)

Balances at December 31, 2020 $ 27,664,108 $ 27,768,186 $ (104,078)

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of
the total pension liability %100.38

Pension Expense/(Income) and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended November 30, 2021, the County and ETSB recognized pension
expense/(income) of $297,201, $6,891,042 and $58,511 for the Regular, SLEP and ECO
plans, respectively. The County and ETSB reported deferred outflows and inflows of
resources related to pension from the following sources:

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

Regular Plan - County:
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 12,029,172 $ -
Assumption changes - 4,553,544
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension

plan investments - 76,189,278
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 14,429,514 -

Total $ 26,458,686 $ 80,742,822

Regular Plan - ETSB:
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 29,836 $ -
Assumption changes - 11,294
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension

plan investments - 188,975
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 35,790 -

Total $ 65,626 $ 200,269
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Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

Regular Plan - Total:
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 12,059,008 $ -
Assumption changes - 4,564,838
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension

plan investments - 76,378,253
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 14,465,304 -

Total $ 26,524,312 $ 80,943,091

SLEP:
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 19,559,841 $ 652,848
Assumption changes 4,978,826 2,550,866
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension

plan investments - 34,159,053
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 11,106,857 -

Total $ 35,645,524 $ 37,362,767

ECO:
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 32,213 $ -
Assumption changes - 6,847
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension

plan investments - 2,464,350
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 187,216 -

Total $ 219,429 $ 2,471,197

The amount reported as deferred outflows resulting from contributions subsequent to the
measurement date in the above table will be recognized as a reduction in the net pension
liabilities/(assets) for the year ending November 30, 2022. The remaining amounts reported
as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions ($(68,884,083) for Regular,
$(12,824,100) for SLEP and $(2,438,984) for ECO) will be recognized in pension expense as
follows:

Regular Plan
Year Ending

November 30, County ETSB Total SLEP ECO

2022 $ (18,830,614) $ (46,706) $ (18,877,320) $ (921,978) $ (765,391)
2023 (7,027,853) (17,431) (7,045,284) 3,934,035 (301,712)
2024 (30,296,982) (75,147) (30,372,129) (11,488,821) (972,007)
2025 (12,558,201) (31,149) (12,589,350) (4,347,336) (399,874)

Total $ (68,713,650) $ (170,433) $ (68,884,083) $ (12,824,100) $ (2,438,984)
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Risk Management 

The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to or destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; workers compensation; and health care of its employees. The County
purchases commercial insurance to provide coverage for losses from theft of, damage to or
destruction of assets and errors and omissions. However, other risks, such as healthcare, workers
compensation and general liability are accounted for and financed by the County in the Employee
Life/Health Insurance Fund (an internal service fund) and the Tort Liability Insurance Fund (a special
revenue fund).

Self Insurance

For general liability and workers compensation claims, the County has purchased commercial
insurance for claims in excess of premium based policy limits. Workers' compensation and general
liability claims are paid out of the Tort Liability Insurance Fund. Settled claims have not exceeded
the commercial coverage in any of the past three years.

For health insurance claims, the uninsured risk of loss is $100,000 per incident for a policy year.
The County has purchased commercial insurance for claims in excess of those amounts. The
County has established the Employee Life/Health Insurance Fund to account for health insurance
claims. Settled claims have not exceeded the commercial coverage in any of the past four years.

All funds of the County participate in the risk management program. Amounts payable to the
Employee Life/Health Insurance Fund are based on actuarial estimates of the amounts necessary
to pay prior and current year claims and to establish a reserve for catastrophic losses. The Tort
Liability Insurance Fund is supported primarily through property taxes.

A liability for a claim is established if information indicates that it is probable that a liability has been
incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimable.
Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported. The County does 
not allocate overhead costs or other non-incremental costs to the claims liability.

For all insured programs, there have been no significant reductions in coverage. 

Claims Liability  

Healthcare

General
Liability and

Workers
Compensation Total

Unpaid Claims - November 30, 2019 $ 879,650 $ 2,132,544 $ 3,012,194

Current year claims and changes in estimates 22,442,132 2,342,852 24,784,984
Claim payments (22,286,276) (2,528,120) (24,814,396)

Unpaid claims - November 30, 2020 1,035,506 1,947,276 2,982,782

Current year claims and changes in estimates 25,597,211 1,644,360 27,241,571
Claim payments (25,441,867) (2,083,158) (27,525,025)

Unpaid claims - November 30, 2021 $ 1,190,850 $ 1,508,478 $ 2,699,328
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Commitments and Contingencies  

Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments are
only reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are recorded in the
government-wide statements and proprietary funds as expenses when the related liabilities are
incurred.

From time to time, the County is party to various pending claims and legal proceedings. Although the
outcome of such matters cannot be forecasted with certainty, it is the opinion of management and the
County attorney that the likelihood is remote that any such claims or proceedings will have a material
adverse effect on the County's financial position or results of operations. 

The County has received federal and state grants for specific purposes that are subject to review and
audit by the grantor agencies. Such audits could lead to requests for reimbursements to the grantor
agency for expenditures disallowed under terms of the grants. Management believes such
disallowances, if any, would be immaterial.

At November 30, 2021, the County had entered into various contracts for road construction and repair,
facilities management, stormwater related construction and a long-term leasing agreement in the total
amount of $78,529,131. Total costs incurred to date on these contracts were $61,850,577, leaving a
remaining contractual commitment of $16,678,553. The road construction and repair contracts are
accounted for in various special revenue and capital projects funds. The facilities management
construction and lease contracts are accounted for in the General Fund. The stormwater related
construction contracts are accounted for in the Stormwater Drainage Fund.  Work that has been
completed on these projects but not yet paid for (including contract retainages) is reflected as accounts
payable and expenditures.

Other Postemployment Benefits  

General Information about the OPEB Plan 

Plan Description

The County and ETSB's cost-sharing defined benefit OPEB plan, the Retiree Health Insurance
Plan, provides insurance coverage for eligible retirees and their spouses through the County's
group health insurance plan, which covers both active employees and retired members (or
other qualified terminated employees) participating in the plan at blended rates. The plan is
funded on a pay-as-you-go basis and no assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the
criteria in paragraph 4 of Statement 75.

Contributions and Benefits Provided

DuPage County provides continuing healthcare and life insurance benefits for retirees and
their dependents. Benefit provisions and contribution requirements are governed and may be
amended through the County's personnel manual and union contracts. The plan provides
coverage to active employees and retirees at blended premium rates, resulting in an other
postemployment benefit for retirees, commonly referred to as an implicit rate subsidy. Retired
employees are required to pay 100 percent of the premiums for such coverage. Additionally,
the plan provides an explicit premium subsidy to certain employees who meet eligibility
conditions and other coverage to certain employees as a function of their early retirement
agreements. 
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Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

At November 30, 2021, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 

Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefit
payments 132

Active plan members 2,128

Total 2,260

Total OPEB Liability

The County and ETSB reported liabilities for the proportionate share of the total OPEB liability
measured as of November 30, 2021 and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
December 1, 2020. The proportions of the total OPEB liability were based on the share of OPEB
costs between the County and ETSB for the measurement year. At November 30, 2021, the
County and ETSB's proportions were 99.66 percent and 0.34 percent, respectively.

Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs 

The total OPEB liability in the December 1, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the
following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the
measurement, unless otherwise specified:

Inflation 2.25%

Healthcare cost trend rates

Initial rate of 0.00% and 5.00% thereafter for
HMO and initial rate of 3.50% and 6.00%
thereafter for PPO

Healthcare participation rate 30%

Retirees' share of benefit-related costs 100%

The discount rate was based on the Bond Buyer 20-Bond G.O. Index.

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Study, with rates improved generationally using MP-
2017 Improvement Rates.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 1, 2020 valuation were based on the results of
an actuarial experience study conducted by IMRF dated November 8, 2017.

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 

County ETSB Total

Balances at November 30, 2020 $ 13,632,860 $ 46,274 $ 13,679,134

Changes for the year:
Service cost 518,931 1,794 520,725
Interest 292,518 1,011 293,529
Changes in assumptions or other inputs (130,478) 393 (130,085)
Benefit payments (839,802) (2,903) (842,705)

Net changes (158,831) 295 (158,536)

Balances at November 30, 2021 $ 13,474,029 $ 46,569 $ 13,520,598
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Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 2.13 Percent
to 2.23 percent.

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the County and ETSB, as well as what the
County's and ETSB's total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is
1-percentage-point lower (1.23 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (3.23 percent) than the
current discount rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase 

Total OPEB liability, County $ 14,455,387 $ 13,474,029 $ 12,550,151
Total OPEB liability, ETSB 49,961 46,569 43,376

Total OPEB liability, Total $ 14,505,348 $ 13,520,598 $ 12,593,527

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the County, as well as what the County's total
OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-
percentage-point lower ( 4.00 percent for HMO and 5.00 percent for PPO) or 1-percentage-point
higher (6.00 percent for HMO and 7.00 percent for PPO) than the current healthcare cost trend
rates:

1% Decrease 

Healthcare
Cost Trend

Rates 1% Increase 

Total OPEB liability, County $ 12,132,856 $ 13,474,029 $ 15,016,590
Total OPEB liability, ETSB 41,934 46,569 51,900

Total OPEB liability, Total $ 12,174,790 $ 13,520,598 $ 15,068,490
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OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to OPEB

For the year ended November 30, 2021, the County and ETSB recognized OPEB expense of
$1,075,705 and $1,477, respectively. At November 30, 2021, the County and ETSB reported
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the
following sources: 

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

County:

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 1,977,817 $ -
Changes of assumptions or other inputs 749,405 478,291

      Total $ 2,727,222 $ 478,291

ETSB:

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 6,836 $ -
Changes of assumptions or other inputs 2,590 1,653

      Total $ 9,426 $ 1,653

Total:

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 1,984,653 $ -
Changes of assumptions or other inputs 751,995 479,944

      Total $ 2,736,648 $ 479,944

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Year Ended November 30: County ETSB Total

2022 $ 259,531 $ 897 $ 260,428
2023 259,531 897 260,428
2024 259,531 897 260,428
2025 259,531 897 260,428
2026 259,531 897 260,428
Thereafter 951,276 3,288 954,564

Total $ 2,248,931 $ 7,773 $ 2,256,704
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Effect of New Accounting Standards on Current-Period Financial Statements  

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has approved the following: 

 Statement No. 87, Leases

 Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction
Period

 Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations

 Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020

 Statement No. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates

 Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment
Arrangements

 Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements

 Statement No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria and Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans - an amendment of
GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 84 and a supersession of GASB Statement No. 32

 Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022

 Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections - an amendment of GASB
Statement No. 62

 Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences

When they become effective, application of these standards may restate portions of these financial
statements.
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	The County will receive value and a fresh perspective from day one. Our smooth transition will strengthen the foundation of a long-term relationship built upon trust and communication.

	Moving forward with next steps
	Welcoming DeKalb County as our client
	Leading a smooth transition

	Co-developing a timeline to meet the County’s deadlines
	Exceptions
	Appendix A: Resumes
	PARTNER
	Michael E. Malatt, CPA
	Michael Malatt, partner with Baker Tilly, has been in the accounting industry since 2007.
	Specific experience 
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	Industry involvement
	PARTNER
	Michael E. Malatt, CPA
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	Continuing professional education
	PARTNER
	Jason K. Coyle, CPA
	Jason Coyle, partner with Baker Tilly, has been in the accounting industry since 1997.
	Specific experience
	Education
	Industry involvement
	PARTNER
	Jason K. Coyle, CPA
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	Industry involvement, continued
	Relevant continuing education
	SENIOR MANAGER
	Anna M. Wiszowaty, CPA, MSA
	Anna Wiszowaty is a senior manager with Baker Tilly’s public sector practice group.
	Specific experience 
	Industry involvement
	Education
	Continuing professional education
	MANAGER
	Taryn M. Gille, CPA
	Taryn is a manager with Baker Tilly’s public sector group.
	Specific experience 
	Continuing professional education 
	Education
	SENIOR MANAGER
	Justin D. Hoagland, CPA 
	Justin Hoagland, senior manager, has been with Baker Tilly since 2012.
	Specific experience
	Industry involvement
	Education
	Continuing professional education
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